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BE | T REMEMBERED t hat the above-entitled and
nunbered matter canme on regularly to be heard before the
Arizona Power Plant and Transm ssion Line Siting
Committee at Hilton Phoeni x Resort, 7677 North 16th
Street, Phoenix, Arizona, commencing at 1:10 p.m on

Decenber 1, 2025.

BEFORE: ADAM STAFFORD, Chai r man

M CHAEL COVSTOCK, Arizona Corporation Conm ssion
LEONARD DRAGO, Departnent of Environmental Quality
DAVI D FRENCH, Ari zona Departnent of Water Resources
NI COLE HI LL, Governor's Ofice of Energy Policy

R DAVI D KRYDER, Agricultural Interests

SAL DICICCI O, Incorporated Cties and Towns

ROVAN FONTES, Counties

MARGARET "TOBY" LITTLE, PE, General Public

DOUGLAS FANT, Ceneral Public

GABRI ELA SAUCEDO MERCER, General Public

APPEARANCES:
For the Applicant:

Jason Moyes

Moyes Sellers & Hendricks LTD.
1850 North Central Avenue
Suite 1100

Phoeni x, Arizona 85004
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CHW STAFFORD:. Let's go on the record.

Now is the tinme set for the hearing in the

application of Baccara Power, LLC, for Certificate of

Envi r onnment al

Conpatibility, Docket Number

L- 21369A- 25- 0222- 00253, for line siting case 253.

Let's take attendance of the nenbers.
Menmber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Here.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Const ock.
MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Present.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant.

MEMBER FANT: Here.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Hill.

MEMBER HI LL: Present.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Little.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Present.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Drago.

MEMBER DRAGO. Present.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Di G cci o.
MEMBER DI CI CCl O Here.

CHW STAFFORD: And online | see we have

Menber French.
MEMBER FRENCH: Here.
CHW STAFFORD: Menber Fontes.
MEMBER FONTES: Present.
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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CHW STAFFORD: And Menber Mercer.

MEMBER MERCER: Here.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Al right. |
woul d adnoni sh everyone that the ex parte rule is in
effect and no one is to speak about the nerits of the
case to the nenbers off the record.

Let's start with the appearance of the
applicant, M. Moyes.

MR. MOYES: Good afternoon, M. Chairman,
menbers of the commttee. Thank you for being here
today. M nanme is Jason Moyes with the |aw firm of
Moyes, Sellers and Hendricks, representing the applicant,
Baccara Power, LLC. Wth ne is ny paralegal, M. Julie
Lar sen.

CHW STAFFORD: Now, there have been no
requests for intervention in this matter.

MR. MOYES: That's correct.

CHW STAFFORD: And no |imted appearance
statements fil ed.

MR. MOYES: Also correct.

CHW STAFFORD: All right. Now, before you
gi ve your opening, M. Myes, | believe that there was a
representative of the Arizona Technol ogy Council that
w shed to nake brief public comment, and you woul d be
unavail able to attend the normally schedul ed public
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comment at 5:30 this evening due to a prior engagenent?

MR. MOYES: That's correct, and we would
appreci ate your indulgence in letting himspeak now if
possi bl e, so he can attend another very inportant
meet i ng.

CHW STAFFORD: Al right. M. Cepand
Ali zadeh -- |'m probably m spronouncing that -- please
cone to the podi um

MR. ALI ZADEH: Sorry for bendi ng over.

Good afternoon. M nane is Cepand Alizadeh
and | am a governnent rel ations specialist with the
Arizona Technol ogy Council, 2800 North Central Avenue,
Suite 1530.

| am here today to submt comments in
support of the certificate of environnmental conpatibility
for Project Baccara, a truly transformative project that
wi |l usher in the next generation of econom c devel opnent
in Maricopa County's west vall ey.

Nearly two million of the valley's roughly
five mllion residents live in the west valley, and a new
report says the area's population is expected to grow at
twice the national rate over the next five years. This
popul ati on boom hasn't been incidental. |It's been
I ntentional .

The Western Maricopa Coalition, also known

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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as WESTMARC, has done a magnificent job of positioning
the west valley as the state's next hub for technol ogical
i nnovati on.

We are seeking investnents by tech giant --
we seeing investnments by tech giants such as Anazon
Ancor, Mcrosoft, and TSMC truly take hold. All eyes are
on the west vall ey.

Project Baccara's CEC wi Il enabl e Takanock
to build a power plant running on natural gas to generate
energy for an on-site data center. This is their
devel opnent nodel. The site is in an industrial area
that fits within the industrial park surroundings, prine
for a project of this size.

Data centers are key conponents of the 21st
Century econony as they bolster the growi ng use of Al by
storing and processing data, text, inages, code and other
i nformati on sources. Such facilities are key to industry
such as advanced nmanufacturing, national events;
aerospace and avi ati on and nedi cal technol ogy.

Project Baccara will enploy hundreds of
construction workers, electricians and HVAC t echni ci ans
and plunbers during its buildout. Once operational it
wi Il enploy software engi neers, server and network
mai nt enance technici ans, and other individuals who do not
need to have four-year degrees in order to get a job, yet

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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they can earn salaries upwards of $70,000 annually.

Let's educate the future work force at the
data center acadeny at G endale Community Col | ege and
Estrella Mountain Community College. Let's enploy them
at Project Baccara.

The Arizona Technol ogy Council is proud to
support this project and we stand ready to hel p enable
its future success. Thank you all. | appreciate your
tine.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

M. Myes, would you like to give an
openi ng statenent?

MR. MOYES: | would M. Chairman. Thank
you.

Chai rman Stafford, nenbers of the
commttee, on behalf of nyself and ny client, Takanock,
LLC, and its subsidiary, the applicant, Baccara Power,
LLC, | thank you for being here and for your preparation,
and for the personal sacrifices you nake to serve on this
conmmttee week after week to discharge its inportant
duti es.

That kind of sustained volunteer public
service does not go unnoticed or unappreciated. | know
your tinme is valuable, you ve had a busy schedul e
recently and are facing an even busi er one hearing other

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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pendi ng cases, plus nmany nore expected to be filed soon.

Therefore we w il nake every reasonabl e
effort to nake this hearing as efficient and as brief as
possi ble. W' ve worked hard to avoid duplicative
testinmony while presenting the basic facts necessary for
the record and for you to do your job.

We believe we can efficiently present our
direct testinony over the next few days, listen to public
comment tonight, tour the project site tonorrow norning
and have plenty of time for commttee deliberation and
voting before the end of the week.

O course we expect and wel conme your
guestions. W' ve structured our direct testinony to hit
only the highlights. Leaving anple tine for detailed
responses to questions on specific points that the
commttee wi shes to pursue in greater |ength.

You have all received a copy of the
application in a binder of exhibits that we may use in
presenting our case today with a few suppl enents that we
added | ast week. The application contains extensive
detail, as you know, which we will not repeat here, but
i f your review raised questions about details in the
application, we will gladly address them

For tinme efficiency and with the Chairman's
permssion | will try to forego asking too many

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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formalistic questions to elicit responses from our
W t nesses.

Rat her, their testinony will proceed
largely in narrative presentation format follow ng the
Wi t nesses' summaries contained in your exhibits.

W will present two main segnents of
testinony. The first segnent will be in a panel fornmat
wth wtnesses describing the applicant's background and
experi ence, the purpose and need for the project, and an
overview of its unique features and benefits.

W will also present a virtual tour of the
project site tonight, so that you have sone context when
you go to look at the site in person tonorrow.

The second segnent wll be a panel wth
addi tional wtnesses that will describe the project's
conpliance with the various environnental factors set
forth by statute for consideration of a CEC, as well as
t he robust public outreach process that this applicant
has undergone | eading up to today.

We al so have in the roomw th us additional
proj ect team personnel with technical expertise with whom
our witnesses may want to consult in order to accurately
respond to questions either on the spot or if necessary
deferred to a later point in the hearing.

You have before you an application for

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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certificate of environnental conpatibility for Project
Baccara. A proposed 700-negawatt sinple-cycle natura
gas-fired power plant on a parcel of privately owned,
heavy industrial -zoned | and in uni ncorporated Mricopa
County just north of Luke Air Force Base.

But before | say anot her word about power
pl ants, data centers, negawatts or transm ssion |ines,
want to speak directly to the residents who have taken
tinme away fromtheir famlies, their jobs, and their
afternoon to be here in person or listen online.

Many of you likely wearing the same worried
expressi ons on your faces that | would wear if sonmeone
told ne a power plant was being built near ny
nei ghborhood. | hear the anger in your voice when you
say why here? Wy us?

| want you to hear me say this as plainly
as | can. We are not indifferent to that pain. W are
not callous, we are not here to steanroll you, and we did
not pick this site to hurt you.

We are here because Arizona is in the
m ddl e of an electricity crisis that nost people won't
feel until the day the lights go out. And by then it
will be too |ate.

APS, SRP, TEP, NERC, WECC, virtually every
utility and grid operator that testifies before this

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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conmttee and the Arizona Corporation Conm ssion have
said the sanme thing for the |last 24 nonths: The west
valley will run out of dispatchable power before the end
of this decade.

Data centers al one have al ready reserved
nore capacity than the entire Gty of Tucson uses in a
year, and that's just what's publicly known at this tine.

They require firm24/7 instantly
di spat chabl e power that w nd and sol ar al one sinply
cannot provide at the scale and at the speed Arizona
needs.

Thousands of hi gh-wage jobs, billions in
tax base and the Al and cloud infrastructure that the
entire country now depends on are conmng to Arizona,
whet her any of us like it or not. |In fact, they're
al ready in our nei ghborhood.

The romantic notion that we can sinply push
all of this out into the desert nay sound good at a
public neeting. But the desert has no high-voltage
transm ssion lines, it has no high-pressure natural gas
pi pelines, it has no way to deliver power to the mllions
of people that already live right here, wthout a decade
of constructing new transm ssion corridors, wth em nent
domain fights that make hearings |ike this appear sinple.

So we're left with a very small nunber of

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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pl aces where the | aws of physics and the | aws of the
state actually allow a new generation to be built quickly
enough to keep the grid alive and accommpbdate the

expl osion of data centers that have already conme and wl |
yet cone to Arizona.

Virtually every aspect of our everyday
lives, fromour children's education, our financial
system our mlitary, our health care and energency
servi ces, and those ever grow ng social nedia platforns
and Facebook pages that |et us connect with our famly
and friends, they all rely on a digital world that
requi res storage and processing of data, and it's getting
wor se every day.

This parcel, privately owned, already zoned
heavy industrial, already surrounded by industry and
| ocated directly on one of APS' s backbone transm ssion
corridors, and already under the constant roar of F-35s
from Luke Air Force Base, is one of the only places left
in the greater Phoenix netro area that can quickly
address sone of these problens.

And, yes, that neans it's going to be near
some of you. And that is painful. W are genuinely
sorry for that. But please understand, this is also the
site that lets us keep the inpact on human beings as | ow
as it can possibly be under the circunstances that the

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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state now faces.

Qur sound engineers will show that our
sinpl e-cycle gas turbines on the site will not add a
si ngl e deci bel of perceivable noise at your bedroom
Wi ndow.

We are converting grandfathered irrigation
rights and wll punp far | ess groundwater every year than
was historically used for farmng on this site. And we
are working on agreenents with our industrial neighbors
to use recycled wastewater fromtheir facilities to
further mnimze groundwater drawdown, all while the
aqui fer beneath your nei ghborhood has actually steadily
been rising for the | ast decade.

We are installing sone of the cl eanest
conmbustion turbines in the world that technol ogy all ows
with emssions |limts that are | ower than many plants
built just five years ago, and an air permt that w ||
cap our actual maxi mum out put to under 540 negawatts with
an annual capacity factor of only 30 percent.

And we are finalizing a mlitary
conpatibility permit with Luke Air Force Base that w |
address every one of the concerns the base has raised.

Chai rman and nenbers of the committee,
Arizona | aw does not ask you to deci de whether residents
woul d prefer no power plants or data centers at all. The

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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statute is far nore sober than that.

A. R S. 40-360 asks you to bal ance very
specific factors. The need for a reliable electric
service, the inpact on existing and planned | and uses,
the protection of environnental and public health val ues,
the inpacts on scenic, historic and natural resources and
whet her on bal ance this facility serves the broader
public interest.

We wel come that test. W enbrace it. And
when every exhibit is in and every expert has testified
and every question has been answered, the evidence w |
show that Project Baccara satisfies every single factor
deci sivel y.

To the residents, again, the applicant's
prom se to you is not a slogan or a brochure. It is
this: W will not run fromyour concerns. W wll not
hi de behind procedure. W will sit at the table. W
wll listen with open hearts and where reasonabl e
additional mtigation neasures can further protect your
famlies, we'll adopt them Because being a good
nei ghbor is not a burden to Takanock, it is a duty.

Chai rman and nenbers of the commttee, the
choi ce before you is not between a perfect world with no
power plants or data centers, and the world we have
today. The choice is whether Arizona builds the power it

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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needs in the few places physics and the law still allow,
or whether we pretend the problem goes away on its own,
which it won't.

We respectfully submt the Project Baccara
at this location with these safeguards and conmtnents is
the responsi ble, Iawful, and nost conpassi onate path
forward

Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you, M. Myes.

Wuld you like to -- let's see. You have
ei ght witnesses in total ?

MR. MOYES: Yes, M. Chairman, and our
first panel wll consist of sone wtnesses who have not
quite nmade it here yet, but we can swear in the ones who
are here to start that panel.

CHW STAFFORD: So you have, the first
panel will be M. Davies.

MR MOYES: Starting with M. Ken Davies,
Ms. Sarah Justus, M. Craig McKesson, and M. Tom G een,
who is here, M. Consie has not quite arrived yet. W're
expecting himshort -- oh, he did, he is here, | see him
now. So we actually have five that we could swear in to
start.

CHW STAFFCORD: For the first panel. Do
you want to get the last two up on the wtness stand

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ

19



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025

t here.

MR. MOYES: Dan and Tom do you want to
come sit up here where your nane tags are?

CHW STAFFORD: Make sure the court
reporter can hear their answers.

MR. MOYES: Correct.

CHW STAFFORD: Start with you.

M. Davies, would you prefer an oath or affirmation?

MR. DAVIES: OQath is fine.

CHW STAFFORD: Do you swear the testinony
you will give in this matter will be the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth so help you God?

MR. DAVIES: | do.

CHW STAFFORD: Ms. Justus, oath or
affirmati on?

M5. JUSTUS: CQath, please.

CHW STAFFORD: Do you swear the testinony
you Wil give in this matter wll be the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth so help you God?

CHW STAFFORD: M. MKesson.

MR, MCKESSON:. CQat h, please.

CHW STAFFORD: Do you swear the testinony
you will give in this matter will be the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth so help you God?

MR MCKESSON: | do.
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CHW STAFFORD: M. G een.

MR, GREEN.  (Qat h.

CHW STAFFORD: Do you swear the testinony
you will give inthis matter will be the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth so help you God?

MR. GREEN. | do.

CHW STAFFORD: And M. Consie, am|
pronouncing that right?

MR. CONSIE: Yes.

CHW STAFFORD: Cath or affirmation.

MR, CONSIE: Qath, please.

CHW STAFFORD: Do you swear the testinony
you Wil give in this matter wll be the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth so help you God?

MR. CONSIE: Yes.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

Your witnesses are sworn. Please proceed,
M. Moyes.

MR. MOYES: Thank you, M. Chairman.
Because of the nature of our testinony today | would ask
to briefly introduce each one of the witnesses and their
background, and then we'll dig into some of the actual

materials starting with M. Davies.
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KEN DAVI ES, DAN CONSI E, TOM GREEN, CRAI G MCKESSON and
SARAH JUSTUS,
call ed as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
havi ng been previously affirnmed or sworn by the Chairman
to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were

exam ned and testified as foll ows:

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR MOYES:

Q M. Davies, would you pl ease state your nanme and
busi ness address for the record?

A (M. Davies) Nane's Kenneth Davi es, business
address, 121 Rivers Edge Drive, Suite 3100, Jarvis City,
M chi gan.

Q And by whom are you enpl oyed and i n what
capacity?

A (M. Davies) |I'ma founder and CEO of Takanock,
LLC. Like all enployees, I'mtechnically enployed by
Takanock Managenent, LLC, which is a subsidiary thereof.

Q M. Davies, can you please provide a brief
summary of your educational background and experience?

A (M. Davies) Sure. | have a bachelor's in
nmechani cal engi neering sunma cum | aude and a master's in
engi neering operations research from Cornell University,
followed by a naster's in science fromUniversity of
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Col orado at Boul der in environnmental studies, which was
at the tinme the only university nultidisciplinary
renewabl e energy programin the country.

Wor k experience, | have over 20 years in the
energy industry. 15-plus years at the intersection of
energy and data centers. Beginning in about 2009 | was
actually the first energy person as part of the Google
infrastructure team That teamis now over 150 people
strong. | was the very first person with an energy
background on that team

At that point in ny roles at Google going back
15-plus years, | was responsible for site selection and
utility negotiations. M two primary projects, one of
which was here in the desert southwest, Project Bl aze.

At that point Google did not opt to nove forward
with that project. But | was responsible for siting and
devel opi ng Google's data center in Santiago, Chile,

Proj ect Luna.

In conjunction with that, | also was the founder
of Googl e Energy, LLC, which was the first entity in the
overal |l industrial space to sign a whol esal e renewabl e
PPA. At that tine that was in 2010, that ended up on the
front page of the New York Tines.

No | onger do corporate PPAs end up on the front
pages, but that was the first of many which really kicked
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of f an i ndustry.

Follow ng that, | spent a short stint doing
corporate devel opnent and venture capital for Consol ation
Energy, one of the | arge unregul ated energy suppliers in
the United States.

And then | worked for a -- the first renewable
ener gy PPA broker responsible for structuring the first
renewabl e whol esale PPAs for the |likes of the Mcrosoft,
Amazon, General Mdtors, Procter & Ganble, Honme Depot,
et cetera.

The entities that we pioneered at that conpany
are now responsi ble for over $300 billion of capital
i nvest nent around the world, and the corporate PPAs, the
primary driver of renewabl e energy adoption in the United
St at es.

In 2016, | joined Mcrosoft where | was
responsi bl e for I eading Mcrosoft's renewabl e energy
initiatives worldwi de. The focus there was not only on
t he procurenent of renewable energy but also the
managenent of the intermttency risk cause thereof.

When you have a nultibillion dollar portfolio,
when the wi nd bl ows and when the sun shines make a very
big difference to one's bottomline.

| left Mcrosoft at the end of 2018 to found a
conpany, Birch Infrastructure. Qur thesis was there to
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be a shortage of energy capacity for data centers. Seven
years later, you know, that's cone to be the case in a
| ot of areas.

We were actually the first powered | and
devel oper. W coined the term powered | and. No one used
that before. The term powered shell was a termof art in
the industry in 2018 but not powered |land. W were the
very first to go out and there say we're going to find a
pi ece of land, enable it with power, and a new devel oper
woul d conme in and build the facility.

As the conpany refocused on working with public
power, a thenme which is carried over to Takanock and
we'll talk alittle bit |ater today, we were working with
El ectrical District 7.

Utimately the conpany evol ved into two
different entities, half of the conpany becane Rowen
Digital Infrastructure, which is today building the
gigawatt of data centers for the |ikes of Amazon and
Google in markets such as Maryl and and Texas.

And the other half of the conpany has evol ved
into Copia Power, which | understand you know and have
chatted to recently. So all those devel opnents out in
Har quahal a Vall ey we started back in about 2017, '18.

Q Thank you, M. Davies. So there's been sone
nmention of the |ack of experience of Takanock in the
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public record or |ack of awareness of this relatively new
conpany.

Is it fair to say that although the nane
Takanock, LLC, may be relatively new, the principals and
di rectors such yourself have many, many years of
devel opi ng exactly these types of projects that we're
tal ki ng about today; is that correct?

A (M. Davies) Absolutely. Not only nyself but a
| ot of team has come over fromBirch, and a | ot of folks
here have worked for |arge data center devel opers and
operators for 15, 20 years.

Q Thank you, and can you descri be your specific
role with regards to Project Baccara?

A (M. Davies) Sure. Before we get into Baccara
itself, I'll say a little bit about ny role at Mcrosoft,
because it was not only renewabl e energy, but it was also
here in Arizona.

| was part of the site selection teamthat
brought the Mcrosoft's data centers to Arizona. Wen
becane engaged, M crosoft was deci di ng between the
Phoeni x markets, Las Vegas, Salt Lake City, and eastern
Oregon where Amazon has a |lot of their facilities for the
U S. west coast.

As an energy teamthere were three of us. W
were responsible for actually guiding Mcrosoft to the

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025

west valley versus the east valley. The |and team want ed
to go to SRP, the energy team we were | ooking at both
public power down in Pinal and APS territory.

So nyself and two others, we were actually the
ones who negotiated the -- what's now the APS XHLF
tariff, with APS, which now underpins pretty nuch every
single data center in the APS service territory.

Moving on at Birch, we took a | ot of that
experience, ny tinme here on the ground here in Arizona,
and brought that to data center site sel ection.
Utimately at Birch we did not nove forward with any
projects in Arizona, though we did actually identify the
site which is now Baccara back al nost five years ago at
this point.

And | did nmention ny role with, oh, it's now
Copia, | think as you know Copia has | and control over
25,000 acres. |It's in the process of devel opi ng over
three gigawatts of solar, upwards of 10-plus gigawatts of
battery energy storage which will represent between siXx
and $7 billion of investnent just west of us in the
Har quahal a Val | ey.

As it relates to Project Baccara, this is
actually a site that we identified in the summer of 2020.
Couldn't travel at that point, so it was all GdS and
renote at that point.
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But we picked it, and we'll get into a little
bit why in a second here. But for sone of the reasons
that frustrated me when I was at Mcrosoft and ultimately
chose to | eave Mcrosoft, believing there was a better
way to do things.

For Project Baccara, | led the efforts to secure
site control in July 2024, and we officially closed on
the acquisition of the land at the end of Cctober of this
year. And today | |ead the team which has advanced the
project to where we see it today.

Q Thank you, M. Davies. In addition to the
background that you've already shared and sone additi onal
details that will conme, what other topics of testinony do
you expect to cover today?

A (M. Davies) W'Ill talk alittle bit nore about
Proj ect Baccara including the rationale, why Phoenix --
why Project Baccara, why this exact site.

Explain the benefits of collocating data center
and power infrastructure. W'II|l detail the various parts
of the project and how they work together. You have a
data center and a power plant, how do they interface, how
are we going to be working with the local utility, which
is Electrical District 7. And then we'l|l discuss the
need for and the benefits of the project.

Q Thank you. Moving on to M. Consie. Wuld you
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pl ease state for the record your nane and busi ness
addr ess?

A (M. Consie) Yeah, ny nanme is Dan Consie, and
nmy place of business is at 33832 Violet Lantern Street in
Dana Point, California.

Q And by whom are you enpl oyed and i n what
capacity?

A (M. Consie) |'menployed by Consolidated Asset
Managenment Services. And ny title is Senior Vice
President for Portfolio Managenent.

Q And coul d you pl ease provide us a brief sumrmary
of your education and experience background?

A (M. Consie) Yeah, | have a degree in
nmechani cal engineering fromthe U S. Naval Acadeny.

G aduating in 1989. Wich neans it was a long tine ago.

And in that time, | have spent the majority of
ny career in electric power generation. Primarily ny
experience is in thermal power generation with the
overwhel mng majority of that from natural gas sources.

But | do have experience also in coal generation
and in biomss generation. CAMS itself al so has assets
under managenent in the w nd generation, solar
generation, and in battery electric storage.

Q And are any of those assets that you have
experience with |ocated in the southwest United States?
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A (M. Consie) Yes, we have a couple assets that
are in the southwest. Giffith in particular is a
generating station that is relatively close to the
Phoeni x ar ea.

Q And M. Consie, what role did you provide
specifically for Project Baccara?

A (M. Consie) For Project Baccara, | was brought
into help with the operations and nai nt enance of that
facility as well as certain aspects of commercial asset
managenment for that -- for that facility.

Q And what topics of testinobny do you expect to
cover today?

A (M. Consie) Primarily it'll be power
generati on, the power generation equipnent itself and the
bal ance of plant equi pnment that is necessary to support
t hat generation.

Q Thank you, M. Consi e.

Moving on to M. Green. Wuld you pl ease state
for the record your full name and busi ness address?

A (M. Green) Good afternoon. M nane is Thomas
G een. M business address is 111 East Broadway in
Salt Lake City, U ah.

Q M. Geen, who are you enployed by and in what

capacity?
A (M. Geen) |I'menployed by Energy Strategies
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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as a director. One of the functions of Energy Strategies
as a consulting firmis to performtechnical transm ssion
studi es and anal yses to determ ne inpacts of projects on
the electrical grid.

Q M. Geen, would you pl ease provide the
conmttee with a brief summary of your educational and
experi ence background?

A (M. Geen) Sure. | have a degree in
el ectrical engineering fromthe University of Col orado.

| think my date is nore like 1983, so |I'm even ol der than

M. Consi e.
My career --
MR. CONSIE: | stopped counting, mnyself.
MR. GREEN. |'m al so a professional
engi neer registered in state of Colorado. |'ve been

doi ng transm ssion planning analysis for over 40 years,
starting with Western Area Power Adm nistration, and then
I had 24 years of experience with Public Service Conpany
of Col orado, been with Energy Strategies for a little
over three and a half years now, nostly doing
transm ssi on planning studies, |ooking at various inpacts
of the grid for reliability, for generator

i nterconnections, for public policy, looking at all the
different kinds of inpacts and planning transm ssion
projects to mtigate any inpacts due to any of those
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pur poses.
BY MR MOYES:

Q M. Geen, what was your specific role for
Proj ect Baccara?

A (M. Geen) For Project Baccara, Energy
Strategi es was contracted to performwhat we call a
shadow study, really | ooking at the inpacts of the
generation project on the surrounding grid.

The shadow study imtates the type of study that
Arizona Public Service would do. The project has entered
into the queue for Arizona Public Service to perform a
system i npact study, but the timng of that is alittle
bit del ayed, so Energy Strategies was contracted to
performthe type of study that Arizona Public Service
woul d do to | ook at the inpacts of Project Baccara.

Q And in addition to those studies, M. Geen, are
there any other areas of testinbny you expect to cover
during this hearing?

A (M. Geen) Really just |ooking at describing
the inpacts of the project to the surroundi ng system and
showi ng what kind of mtigation m ght be necessary. In
this case, there aren't any that we expect. Really just
descri bing the overall inpacts for -- that the project
woul d have on the grid.

Q Thank you, M. G een.
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Movi ng down the table, M. MKesson, would you
pl ease state your full nanme and busi ness address for the
record?

A (M. MKesson) Sure thing. M nanme is Craig
McKesson. Although | work renmotely, ny prinmary business
address is 121 Rivers Edge Drive, Suite 3100, also in
Jarvis City, Mchigan. Thank you all for being here this
af t ernoon.

Q Crai g, by whom are you enpl oyed and in what
capacity?

A (M. MKesson) | currently serve as chi ef
financial officer for Takanock.

Q Can you provide for the commttee a brief
summary of your education and experience background?

A (M. MKesson) Sure thing. | have a bachel or
of science in industrial engineering fromthe University
of Mam and master's of business admnistration fromthe
Uni versity of Chicago, Booth School of Business with
concentrations in finance, marketing, and
entrepreneurship. Follow ng school, | also served as a
captain in the United States Air Force as a systens
engi neer on the Delta |aunch vehicle and the GPS
satellite system So | have an over 30 years of pretty
deep m ssion-critical experience.

Follow ng ny career in the Ar Force, |
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transitioned into real estate with the Stabaugh Conpany
and Jones Lang LaSalle, focused primarily on site

sel ection and devel opment of m ssion-critical facilities
| i ke high-performance call centers and evol ving
eventually into data center site sel ection

After a career at JLL and Stabaugh |I was the
si Xxth enpl oyee at a data center operator and devel oper
called TS5 Data Centers. W were the industry's first
what we'll call a full life-cycle data center provider
so not just being a data center devel oper, but then al so
performng interior mssion-critical construction
services as well as ongoing |ife-cycle managenent and
operati on services.

While at T5, | held a nunber of executive-Ievel
positions and we had facilities across the U S.,
everything fromthe southeast to the Pacific Northwest
down through the southwest in Dallas and also in
Los Angeles, California.

Specific to | ocal projects | also worked as part
of the site selection teamas well as an owner's rep on
the Apple Mesa site a nunber of years back

Q Sois it fair to say with your mlitary and

pr of essi onal background, you have unique insight into the

col l ocation of both a power plant and a data center in
this particular location next to Luke Air Force Base; is
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that correct?

A (M. MKesson) Yes, that's true. This is a
very uni que project, as Jason said in his opening
statement. The size and the scale of data centers has
grown exponentially, just really over the last three to
five years conpared to where they've been

And in order to neet the continued growth and
success of this industry, we have to cone up with a
better way to find the power to generate and provide
services to these data centers.

VWhat we're doing here with Project Baccara is
very unique in that we will be not only providing
primary, initial primary power to the data center but
ongoi ng backup services, and then nost inportantly
support to the local grid, which will then offset any of
the potential shortages that could evolve given the
i ncredi bl e demand being put on the | ocal area.

Q Thank you, M. MKesson. Any other areas of
testinony you plan to cover today?

A (M. MKesson) Anything related to the general
data center industry, site selection, why Phoenix, any
guestions you may have in that regard.

Q Thank you.

And noving |last but certainly not |east to
Ms. Justus. Wuld you please state your nanme and
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busi ness address for the record?
A (Ms. Justus) Sarah Justus, and ny business
address is 280 Mel ba Road, Encinitas, California.
Q And by whom are you enpl oyed and i n what
capacity?
A (Ms. Justus) |'m enployed by KP Environnent al
as a senior project manager.
Q Ms. Justus, please provide the committee a brief
summary of your experience and educati onal background.
A (Ms. Justus) | have both a bachelor's degree
and a master's degree in public policy and public
adm nistration with the master's from University of
W sconsi n.
|"ve had 21 years in utilities after a few years
in state governnment. Alnost all of that utility
experience was on the utility owner side working for
Anmeri can Transm ssi on Conpany, one of the few
transm ssion-only conpanies in the country.
| initially worked at American Transm ssi on
Conpany for about 12 years | eading public outreach and
| ocal governnment outreach for transm ssion projects, so
extensive work with public process, with regul atory
approval s working on routing and siting.
And then progressed into other areas within
Ameri can Transm ssion conpany | eading the real estate
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team Then working in custonmer relations where |I work
extensively in generation interconnection to the
transm ssion system bringing sinple-cycle natural gas
turbines online and connecting themto transm ssion.

And then finally director roles with the
conpany, first as director of construction where |
over saw engi neering and project nmanagenent for
approximately at that tine a $3 billion portfolio, and
then director of mmjor project devel opnment, which at the
tinme was very early into the space of |ooking at
integrating data centers into the transm ssion service
and inmpacts to the transm ssi on networK.

So in that time wwth American Transm ssion
Conpany | was involved in over a hundred high-voltage
transm ssion |ine projects, everything fromrouting and
siting regul atory approval, public involvenent.

And then in the |last couple of years | nade a
transition to the consulting side of the business,
working with KP Environnmental providing a |lot of the sane
services but as a consultant.

Q Ms. Justus. Have you testified previously
before this conmttee?

A (Ms. Justus) | have not before this committee.

Q Have you been involved in projects involving
CECs in Arizona previously?
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A (Ms. Justus) So |I've been involved in a nunber
of projects that have been received CECs, but | have not
been in the seat before the conmttee.

Q And Ms. Justus, what role specifically have you
pl ayed for Project Baccara and what areas of your
testinony will you cover in your --

A (Ms. Justus) So |I've been working with the
Takanock team extensively on public process and public
outreach, conmuni cations, things |like the website, public
mai | i ngs, open houses and neeti ngs.

Al so wor ki ng on stakehol der outreach with | ocal
units of governnent and other key entities. And then we
are al so providing a nunber of environnental consulting
services, and those two conprise the areas which | w |
testify, so |l will be providing testinmony on | and use,
bi ol ogi cal wealth and natural resources, visual
resources, cultural resources, recreation, and public
process. And | wll also be guiding the route tour.

Q Thank you, Ms. Justus.

Now we'd li ke to turn the tinme over to
M. Davies to give us a little nore background on the
conmpany itself. | know you highlighted a |ot of these in
your introduction but can you speak in nore detail about
t he organi zational structure of the applicant?

CHW STAFFORD: One m nute before you get
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started, M. Davies.

Sol'dlike to -- you've got a nunber of
exhibits listed here, | believe your rundown that covered
what was in their sumaries and resunes when you
i ntroduced this current panel.

MR. MOYES: Correct. And there's a few
additional that will be comng |ater on, M. Chairnman.

CHW STAFFORD: So we've covered hearing
Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, and 9, and then 10 is the w tness
presentation you have on the screen right now. Correct?

MR. MOYES: Correct.

CHW STAFFORD: And then 1 is the
application itself.

MR, MOYES: Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right.

Pl ease proceed, M. Davi es.

MR. DAVI ES: Thank you. So the applicant
I s Takanock Baccara. Takanock Baccara is a subsidiary of
Takanock, LLC, which is a Delaware LLC. It's mgjority
owned by an investnent vehicle, jointly managed by
ArcLight and Digital Bridge.

Today, Takanock is focused on the
devel opnent of data center sites and associ ated power
pl ants, and we are in the process, you know, wth our
private equity sponsors of adding the capacities to
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build, own, and operate these as well. ArcLight
specifically has a deep expertise in this area.
BY MR MOYES

Q Can you describe the financial backing and
structure of the conpany?

A (M. Davies) Absolutely. The conpany was
founded in early 2023, and between 2023 and 2024, the
conpany raised a $9.5 mllion friends, famly, and small
strategi c investors including Energy Strategies, the
conpany for whom M. G een worKks.

The original investors are still mnority owners
of Takanock, LLC, but in April of this year a conpany
rai sed the $500 nmillion capital comm tnment from ArcLi ght
Capital Partners and Digital Bridge, who today are the
maj ority owners of Takanock, LLC.

ArcLight is a private equity firmfocused on
energy infrastructure assets with approxi mately
$10 billion assets under managenent.

ArcLi ght has owned over 65 gigawatts of power
generati on assets, 47,000 mles of electric and gas
transm ssion, representing over $80 billion in enterprise
val ue.

Qur other sponsor is DigitalBridge, which is a
publicly traded asset manager focused excl usively on
digital infrastructure. Approxinately $100 billion
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assets under managenent. They own four data center
platfornms in the United States al one, including Vantage,
whi ch has facilities here in the Phoenix area, Switch
Yonder and Dat aBank. Digital Bridge al so owns Zayo, which
is the | argest independently owned fiber network in the
United States with over 18 mllion fiber mles globally.
The capital commtnent which we received at

Takanock, $500 million, that is to fund and capitalize
t he devel opnent side of the business, as we'll tal k about
later, $500 million does not go very far when buil ding
the power plant, so our capital providers are raising a
separate fund to fund what will be the generation or the
GenCo side of the business.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Fontes, you have a
guesti on.

MEMBER FONTES: Thank you, Chair.

This is the first tine |I've been in a
hearing where we don't have this presentation put on a
solid presentation. | appreciate all the resunes. Very
I Npr essi ve.

But we're trying to fund a project that's
going to be tied to a special purpose conmpany under a
private equity entity. W're going to have to | ook at
envi ronnental factors, mtigation for the life cycle.

| would like to see sonme governing
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structure, how that debt and equity is |ooking at and how
that's going to cone in, and who's going to hold the
insurance liabilities on this in alittle nore granular
detail. And it seens |ike we keep going back to

hi gh-1 evel ArcLi ght and ot her references.

What | think we need to start this hearing
Is details on the ProjectCo and the HoldCo and how that's
going to go forth for devel opnent, how that will hold the
CEC and then how that will go forward for construction
and operations.

To ne, this is insufficient and | need a
little nore granular detail to set the stage so that we
can have those assurances on who's going to mtigate
ri sks and hold liabilities going forward as we | ook at
the statutory issues on this. So I'd appreciate a little
nore thought and a little nore precision on that,

M. Davies.

MR. DAVIES: Sure. So the entity itself is
Takanock Baccara, that is the applicant. Takanock
Baccara currently is in a joint venture which owns the
land with -- it's in a joint venture with a third-party
data center provider who's not been naned publicly. So
we are 50/ 50 owners of the land with this other data
center conpany.

What we will be doing is we'll be splitting
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the land, the data center will take part of the |and as
we'll seein alittle bit, and then Takanock Baccara
generation will be separately financed, and that will be
the owners of the power plant.

The final financial structure including the
debt has not been lined up. W are in the process of
setting that up shortly. But it wll be, the equity
owners wll be our parent conpany, which is a venture
cal | ed Nexus.

Nexus is a jointly managed vehicl e between
ArcLight and Digital Bridge. On the insurance, we are
engaged wth insurance provider, |ocked in, but have not

proceeded, you know, to the point where we have secured

I nsur ance.

That wi Il be happening over the next couple
of years. But | will point out |I understand it is high
| evel . ArcLight has owned and operated over 65 gigawatts

of power plants in the United States including tw ce
being the owners of the Giffith power plant here in
Ari zona.

MEMBER FONTES: No, | get all that. \What
I"'mlooking for is so that we have for the record, for
the public. And perhaps we can have an additiona
exhibit so that we know what the current ownership
structure of the site is, howthat's going to relate
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bet ween the power plant and the data center, so that we
can map back to the liabilities the ownership structure.

So as we go forward with the devel opnent,
buil d, operate, and own, we have that captured
adequately. | just don't see that in the slides. | see
a |lot of resunes, very inpressive, as | said, but | don't
see the detail in the ProjectCo and the Hol dCo that we
need to opine on this and nake a deci sion.

MR. DAVIES: Understood. | think the
ownership of the land and how it will be divided between
the data center and the power plant and ultimtely APS
wi || becone clearer as we discuss that. But --

MEMBER FONTES: So sone sort of governnent
structure organi zational chart, transactional structure
as we know it today. | know it may change and we want to
respect your confidential relationships in there as
acceptable. Wuld be appreciated just for the public.

MR. MOYES: Thank you, Menber Fontes. W
appreci ate the question. W would be happy to prepare an
additional exhibit that |ays out those structures for you
to see to put into the record.

As M. Davies stated, we wll obviously get
into nore details of how this works, both related to the
conpany and the site itself as we proceed in our
present ati on.
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CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you. | believe
Menmber Little has a question.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Thank you, Chairman.

My question/observation is logistical. Do
we have these slides on our iPad?

CHW STAFFORD:  Yes.

MEMBER LI TTLE: \Were are they?

MR. MOYES: That slides should be
Exhi bit PD 10, Menber Little.

CHW STAFFORD: | think bigger than that,
it says "Hearing Exhibits." It says "Project Baccara
Hearing Binder." That's the folder you want to go into

to get the exhibits.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Al right. That's the one
I"mtrying to get to | oad.

MEMBER HI LL: That's the one | haven't been
abl e to open.

MEMBER LI TTLE: | haven't either.

CHW STAFFORD: It takes a mnute. |It's
quite a large file.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Ckay. Thank you. Because
"' m having trouble reading sone of the data that's on the
big screen there, so it's nice to have here. So | wll
be patient. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, | typically have the
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slide presentation on the tablet in front of me so | can
see nore detail. | can zoomin on it and get nore detai
than | can pick up fromthe large screen in front of us.

MEMBER LI TTLE: That's very helpful. And I
don't know, does -- do the -- Menber Fontes, do you have
that, the hearing exhibits, were they e-mailed to you so
you can see then?

CHW STAFFORD: They shoul d have been.
They were filed in the docket, both the initial round of
23 exhibits and the additional three they filed | think
shortly before or after the pre-hearing conference.

VMR MOYES: That's correct.

MEMBER LI TTLE: | do recall that. Thank
you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Do you have those, Menber
Fontes? And | see your hand is still raised. D d you

have anot her question?
MEMBER FONTES: No, M. Chairman, | do not.
CHW STAFFORD: All right. Thank you.
Al right, M. Myes, please proceed.
MR, MOYES: Thank you.
BY MR MOYES
Q M. Davies, in furtherance of Menber Fontes
guestions, can you drill down a little further on the
foundi ng of Takanock and its busi ness nodel ?
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A (M. Davies) Sure. So | nentioned before that
this is not our first data center devel opnment conpany.
The first was Birch infrastructure. But Takanock is the
evolution and the intell ectual successor to Birch.

Birch |ike many others aspire to pair data
centers with gas, but as we |earned then and others are
| earning today it's one thing to aspire to sonething,
it's another thing to have another plan.

So based on that, | founded Takanock in the
begi nni ng of 2023 and set about to develop a design for a
backup generation systemfor data centers that will allow
it to work both as a power plant, as a grid resource
whil e sinultaneously neeting the requirenents, you know,
for the resiliency for the nost denmandi ng data center
cust omers.

Takanock' s origi nal business nodel was to
license the design, but then we realized that wasn't
sust ai nabl e, and instead we had to integrate downstream
in order to actually build and operate these power
pl ants, these facilities ourselves. Hence the
partnership and the capital infusion fromthe conbination
of ArcLight and Digital Bridge.

Q So of all the technol ogi es out there,

M. Davies, and gi ven your background in renewabl es, why
did you transition to natural gas?
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A (M. Davies) So | nmentioned early in ny
testinony that | was responsible for Mcrosoft's
renewabl es worl dwi de. And one of issues we were dealing
with is what Germans call "dunkelflaute,” which is when
the sun sets and the wind stops, it's dark and it's very
cal m

And what happens to the renewabl e energy there,
it doesn't show up. And ultimately, you know, when we
started Google and then Mcrosoft and all these others,
they use renewabl e energy as a hedge.

So it's nmeant to offset the volatility of power
prices. So when we were |ooking at this, this Mcrosoft
treasury, we had a probl em because every tine the w nd
stops bl owi ng and sun stops shining, our hedge doesn't
show up but the power prices spike.

And this is an industry, you know, it's called a
negati ve ganma or negative covariance. Your vol une goes
down and your price goes up and your hedge doesn't work.

So what we were | ooking for as Mcrosoft is how
do we nmanage this risk. And ultimately in order to
manage this risk and in order to enable nore renewabl es
to come on the grid, what you need is you need a very
fast start resource.

And this goes back, | didn't nmention it, |
wor ked at National Renewabl e Energy Lab al nost 20 years
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ago, we identified the cost and the risk of intermttency
of renewabl e energy, and today we're seeing this cone to
fruition.

A l ot of people are tal king about batteries, and
batteries work sonme of the tinme but not all of the tine.
" msure you've seen many battery projects cone through
here and they're generally four hours of storage.

What happens in the fifth, sixth, seventh, tenth
hour, you get days or even weeks of this dunkel flaute.
You need a backup generation resources, and didn't cone
at this problem saying, hey, | want to devel op a power
plant. | spent nost of nmy career in renewables and |'ve
been there | ong enough |I've seen the problens of it.

So this cane about as a way to hel p solve the
problems. |If nuclear was even thing, it's not yet, it
doesn't ranp fast, it doesn't pair with renewabl es.

So at Mcrosoft we started |ooking at this
problem So on one side we said we need a fast-start
ranpi ng resource to bal ance our portfolio of renewables.
And the other side, Mcrosoft was buil di ng many hundreds
of nmegawatts, now gi gawatts of fast-start diese
generators. And that just didn't nmake sense.

So why build a fast-start ranping gas plant
across town and then build another fast-start ranping
diesel facility on site? This was unequivocally nore
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expensive and less environnentally friendly. Wy build
two power plants when you can build one?

And M crosoft brought these things together for
the first time in a project in Cheyenne, Womng, in
about 2016, 2017 that | was part of. And the inpetus for
this was we went to the utility and said we want to
expand our data center in Cheyenne, Wom ng, from
20 nmegawatts to 200 negawatts.

Now, the utility, Cheyenne, Black Hills power
was only about a 200-negawatt system | oad. So at
20 negawatts it was great. This was a 10 percent |oad
growth for them W cane back and said we want to doubl e
your system |l oad and they nearly fell out of their chair.
This is the problemnow in another scale that we're
| ooking at with APS, SRP, and other utilities around the
country.

So what Mcrosoft did there was said what we're
going to do is we propose to build on-site gas
generators. They will serve as backup for the data
center, but then we wll nmake them available to the
utility when the utility needs to provide capacity for
networ k purposes. And that today is still the only data
center in the United States that is backed up with gas.

That was what we saw when | was at M crosoft,
and we said okay we're going to go and try to do this as
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Birch. Utimtely as Birch we didn't have a design of
record. That's what we created here at Takanock, which
is a design that can actually serve those two purposes.
Mcrosoft's facility in Cheyenne was natural gas recips,
it was a Jenbacher 620s fast start.

Utimately as things have scaled we've noved
fromthree-nmegawatt nmachi nes to approximately 30-negawatt
tur bi nes here.

But that was how we came to the need for natural
gas. We did not cone to Arizona saying we want to
devel op a natural gas power plant. W said how can
Arizona support the data centers here, and we believe
this is the best way.

MEMBER DICICCIO M. Chair.
CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you. Menber Fontes
has hi s hand up, and then Menber Di Ci ccio, you had a

qguestion?

MEMBER DI CICCI O Right.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Fontes.

MEMBER FONTES: Thank you, M. Chair. For
t he purpose of the CEC proceedings, what -- | read
t hrough the application. | work in the industry and I

got what you're trying to do here. But you got a
30 percent capacity factor that's going to likely be
determ ned by an operational permt on the air em ssions.
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Can you descri be how that's sort of
i nfl uenci ng your design, your business decisions and then
how you're going to work with APS in terns of | oad
requi renents as well as your data center custoner?

| want to just sort of get that out in a
busi ness operati onal sense so we set the stage before we
get into the nore technical explications of that. | just
think that would be very useful for this proceeding if we
could get you to lay that out for us. Thank you.

MR. DAVI ES: Sure.

CHW STAFFORD: And a quick followup on
that, because ny reading of it, the 30 percent capacity
factor that you nentioned in your opening, that's across
all, was it 17 or 18 machi nes?

MR. DAVI ES: Yep.

CHW STAFFORD: All right. But that --
with the air quality permt is what sets the anount of
run tinme you can do.

MR, DAVI ES: Yep.

CHW STAFFORD: Ganted it starts and
stops, have different em ssion rates in the straight run
time, but nmy back of the envel ope calculation figure that
you coul d have 5. sonething units running 24/7 under the
air permt; correct?

MR. DAVIES. Yep. Correct.
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CHW STAFFORD: Okay. Good. So like ny
math wasn't off, then.

MR. DAVI ES: Yep.

CHW STAFFORD: Okay. So | guess from ny
perspective | ooking at that, that's going to be what
the -- that's going to be nore than what your maxi num
load is going to be for the data center, then, could be
nmet by the 5-by-5 units; correct?

MR. DAVIES: So the five or so units, it's
approxi mately 200 negawatts, the peak | oad of the data
center is going to be about 500, so you' re going to ask,
wel |, how does that actually work?

So let's break this up into two peri ods.
The first period is the interimperiod, and then once the
data center is going to becone grid connected, so in the
interimperiod the power plant will be primary.

W may be drawi ng sonme power off the 34.5kV
system But, you know, for all intents and purposes it
is -- wll be primarily served by the on-site generators.

But at that point the data center w ||
still be ranping up. So these data centers, if it's a
500- negawatt peak | oad, you don't throw the switch and
have 500 negawatts on day one. These ranp up, you know,
approximately 12 negawatts a nonth is what we're
projecting at this point.
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So for the first year, year and a half, you
can support the data center with a 200-megawatt cap
Once APS builds the transm ssion-|evel 230kV substation,
at that point the project will draw primarily fromthe
grid.

80/20 Rule, 80 percent of the tinme there's
enough energy on the grid. You know, the sun is shining
or maybe there's wind comng in from SunZia in New Mexico
or whatever the resources are. It's that 20 percent of
the tine that the grid is tight and it's really only 5,
| ess than 10 percent of the tine when it's really tight.

So when the renewabl es are avail able, the
power price is |low and the data center will be inporting
power. \When the grid gets tight, the generator w |
produce enough power not only to serve the data center
but al so export a little excess.

Wiy is there excess? Wiy would we ever
desi gn excess? The reason is of those 18 turbines, only
16 are needed to carry the |load. Wy? Because when
you're designing a resilient facility as this, you want
N plus 1, N plus 2. So as long as you don't have an
enmer gency situation where you' ve |ost two generators, we
wi || have excess power.

So when the grid is tight, we wll be
carrying not only our |oad but we wll be carrying | oad
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and supporting other data centers and ot her | oads

regi on.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

in the

VEMBER FONTES: M. Chairman, if | can

follow up. And it's just for the public because |

want

to capture things on the record here so we're bull et proof

on this.

Do you have a |l oad profile for that first

period and then the second period i
em ssions that you can prepare or i

record here for us?

n terns of the

nclude in for the

MR DAVIES: W have a load profile and

we' || put together an associ ated em ssions profile, yes.
MEMBER FONTES: Yeah. GCkay. Geat.
That's very useful. Chairman, that's all | had.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you, Menber Fontes.

Member Di G cci o.

MEMBER DICICCI O  Just to start off, | ama
big fan of on-site generation. | think it needs to
happen and it's -- I'"'mglad that you're doing it. As a

matter of fact this is the first |

| east that |'ve seen.

t hi nk we' ve seen at

But getting back into the details that

M. Fontes was tal king about, and |

respect the fact you

don't need to tal k about who your end user is.
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that usually is a confidentiality type of agreenent.

But where are you with that contract? |Is
it a contract, letter of intent, where are you? 1|'m
trying to figure out whether or not you' re nore
specul ative in the hopes of |anding an end user, or if
you have a solid agreenent which we will eventually find
out anyways?

Where you're at with that, where are you at
wi th your financing, how are you there? | nean, |'m okay
if it's speculative to sone level, but | just need to get
an i dea of where you're at as a conpany and where you're
at, where is it wwth this end user?

| mean, is it a solid, hey, we're in on
this thing? W' re nunber two in the country when it
comes to data centers. I'ma fan. | think they're
hi ghly needed for this country. They're needed for the
state of Arizona and they are huge noney producers to any
community just about, because of the electricity that
they use and the tax that we pay -- that they pay on that
goes directly to the coffers of |ocal governnents.

So | had to put sonme of that out there. So
if you could respond to that that would be great.

MR. DAVIES: Sure. And as I'll talk about
inalittle bit, in a second here, when you think about
data centers, you can really put theminto tw buckets.
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One are what's called the hyperscalers, those are the
nanes that you've heard of, you know, the Mcrosofts, the
Amazon, the Googles, the Metas of the world.

They're of f and running their own products,
you know, whether it be cat videos or whether it be
M crosoft Teans and everything in between.

And then you have the third-party
providers. You see themhere in the area, those are the
CyrusOnes, they had a little bit of problemw th the CMVE
| ast Friday if you saw that. The CVE exchange went down,
that's what happens when the data centers don't work, you
have the CyrusOnes, you have the Vantages, you have the
T5s that Craig worked for, et cetera, you can think of
those as the third-party providers.

Wt hout saying nanes, we are -- we
purchased the land in a joint venture with one of -- with
a third-party provider. So that third-party provider has
relati onships wwth the Mcrosofts, the Googles of the
world, and this is, you know, they're in discussions with
about three or four of the top five or six --

MEMBER DICICCI O Let ne interrupt just
quickly. | don't nmean to, but when you say purchased the
land, is it under contract or have you actually closed on
it?

MR. DAVIES: W have actually closed on the
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| and.

MEMBER DI CI CCI O  Ckay.

MR. DAVIES: It was a $118 nillion purchase
and the equity is 50/50 between us and our data center
part ner.

MEMBER DICICCIO COkay. Keep going. |I'm
sorry.

MR. DAVIES: So that's where -- this
project is in front of a nunber of the big hyperscalers
whi ch | nentioned and are going through the process with
their leasing teans as well as their energy teans.

MEMBER DICI CCIO Ckay. Thank you.

BY MR MOYES:

Q Needl ess to say, M. Davies, this is not a
specul ative project?

A (M. Davies) No. 1In 2020 this was a
specul ative idea. W' ve advanced it pretty far since
t hen.

MEMBER DICICCIO Well, the purchase of the
land, if | may interrupt, is extrenely significant. You
woul dn't purchase |and for $118 mllion and pay out of
pocket on that.

CHWN STAFFORD: But you al so hold a pl ace
in the interconnection queue without site control now,
SO --
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MR. DAVIES: W have site control and of
course we have the interconnection queue, but we also
have a | oad queue in with Electrical District 7, we'l
get into that.

CHWN STAFFORD:. Yeah, | have questions
about that nyself. Menber Hill

MEMBER HI LL: Thanks, M. Chair.

There are a | ot of people on this commttee
that are a ot smarter than ne, so | have just have sone
basi ¢ questions. | have not seen a project like this
here, and | have been on the commttee for two and a half
years.

Usual |y generation is done by the utilities
or by a third party and procured and nanaged by the
utilities. Wat | hear you saying and | just want to
confirmis that Baccara will be doing the generation and
selling it directly to the data center. |Is that correct?

MR. DAVIES: That is not correct.

MEMBER HI LL: Gkay. Thank you.

MR. DAVIES: W are not allowed to sell
directly to the data center. So we will be, you know,
selling the power into the whol esale market and then the
utility that we are working, the distribution if it was
Electrical District 7, they have rights to use the APS
transm ssi on system under FERC 888, and they have for the
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benefit of the data center side of this project, they
have submtted a network integrated transm ssion system
request for 500 negawatts of | oad.

So the electrons don't follow contracts, so
the electrons may actually flow fromone to the other,
but contractually the power will be sold on to the
whol esal e narket and then purchased back by El ectrica
District 7 to be delivered to the data center, and even
during the interimperiod before it is fully connected,

El ectrical District 7 will be sitting between the power
pl ant and the data center.

MEMBER HILL: | think that's what | wanted
to understand. So thank you for clarifying that, because
I know what happens when it's connected to the grid.

What | was trying to figure out is what you' re calling
the interimpart and how that's set up.

MR. DAVIES: Yep. And the distribution
system the on-site -- because you're going to have three
parts, and we'll get into this inalittle bit.

You have the data center, the power plant,
and the substation, and all three of those are connect ed.
And they will be connected by 345kV on-site distribution
systemthat will be | eased and nanaged by El ectrical
District 7.

MEMBER HILL: Got it. Okay. That's super
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hel pful. And maybe we're preenpting your entire
presentation --

MR. DAVIES: That's all right.

MEMBER HI LL: -- so | apol ogize for that,
but | just wanted clarity on that smaller piece. Thanks.

CHW STAFFORD: Right. Because Baccara is
not a public service corporation that can have retai
custonmers. And then | don't know how they'd work that
out with APS being inside their certified area. So |
guess this is -- | figure you'll get to this sooner or
| ater, but I -- that was -- | did have a line of
guestioni ng about how was the transaction worked to all ow
the owner of the power plant to be different than the
owner of the data center.

| think that's laid out the foundation for
how t hat woul d work, | guess we'll probably get into nore
detail later on that, but that was kind of a threshold
i ssue | thought would conme up eventually. Now s a good
as tinme as any. Thank you, Menber Hill.

MR, MOYES: Certainly, M. Chairman. W
appreci ate your questions and Menber Hill's questions.
This is a new structure, a new nodel that has evol ved out
of necessity, I'll say. Because --

CHW STAFFORD: There's never been an
application like this before this commttee that I'm
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awar e of .
MR. MOYES: That's correct. And | can tel
you there will be nore com ng because of that necessity.
CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Constock, you had a
guesti on.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Thank you, M. Chairnman.
Is this an appropriate tine to |ook at the placemats and
the schematic footprint that you provided?

MR, MCKESSON:  Sure.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: | want to wait till the
right time. 1t's okay now?

All right. So in your application on
page 3, you tal k about the fuel source that's going to be
provi ded for the generators.

It states that the initial service wll be
provi ded by Southwest Gas with a smaller gas line. |Is
that to provide gas to one, two, or all of the systemin
there? You're going to conpress it and then have enough
gas to go in, or how are you working that?

MR. DAVIES: So for the gas line, currently
one of the reasons we sited is it is on a 12-inch, 150
PSA di stri bution pipe.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: kay.

MR. DAVIES: And we are working with
Sout hwest Gas to figure out if we're going to draw off
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that. It's likely that we're just going to go ahead and
build a dedicated lateral. About five or seven mles to
the east there's a city gate off of El Paso, 1600 series
pi pe, so if you head directly east on dive Ave., when
you cross the pipe there's an existing city gate and
we're working with Southwest Gas, they're currently

| ooking at putting a dedicated 16-inch lateral to the
site.

VMEMBER COMSTOCK: And your netering on your
schematic is going to be inside your wall, so you're
going to all ow the Corporation Conm ssion to cone in and
I nspect that pipeline with Southwest Gas during their
annual i nspections?

MR DAVIES: | can't speak to the
Corporation Conmm ssion's rights to inspect the Sout hwest
Gas facilities. But, yes, we are |looking at putting that
meeting station on our facility and whatever rights cone
wth that, absolutely.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: And what will you
conpress the gas to, what would be the delivery pressure
to each turbine?

MR, DAVIES: So the delivery pressures on
t he turbines dependi ng on the atnospheric conditions are
goi ng to range sonewhere between 440 and about 480 PSI.

The pressure on the 1600 series pipe is
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generally 700 to 1,000. So we expect that in nost
situations that we will not need conpression. |It's one
of the reasons why we're using a 16-inch lateral to
ensure that we have a sufficient pressure.

W are expecting to have electri cal
conpression on site. In the event that we do experience
pressure drops, because one of the things that we have to
design for that a normal power plant does not have to is
we need to be able to generate in alnost all conditions
you can i magi ne, including pressure |oss or even a
conplete |l oss of all gas whatsoever, which is why we're
designing a dual -fuel facility.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: That answered ny next
guestion, so the gas conpression is going to be
el ectrical, not diesel generated or anything like that.

MR. DAVIES: Correct. Yeah. And that
obvi ously helps with the air em ssions.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Yeah, you woul d have
anot her permt to get.

MR, DAVI ES: Yep.

MEMBER COVMSTOCK: The | ast question | have
I's regardi ng your propane. That's your secondary source
of fuel. You lose the natural gas, you' re going to use
propane to survive?

MR, DAVI ES: Yes.
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MEMBER COMSTOCK: |Is the storage tank on
site inside the wall going to be aboveground?

MR. DAVIES: Right now we're | ooking at
havi ng an hour to two hours, so those would be about a
10-f oot di aneter, about 60, 70-foot-long storage tanks,
and we're | ooking at whether they woul d be aboveground or
we may bermthem and |I'Il have to ask what the |ater
design fromny teamis

MEMBER COMSTOCK: So that would be good to
know because you're going to have to have spil
contai nment inside the wall if you're going to put
propane on there; right?

MR, DAVI ES: Yep.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: And then the last in
regards to the propane, it says, |'mjust reading the
sentence, "The propane reserves wWll be stored on site or
accessed from an existing underground storage facility
near the project site." Were's that?

MR. DAVIES: So one of the reasons why we
sited this is this is imediately next to the Bunstead
Rail termnal. So if you were to |ook at your map, just
to the southwest of the site you'll see sone train |lines.

MEMBER COMBTOCK: Yes, sSir.

MR. DAVIES: And those are LPG unl oadi ng
term nals owned by Plains American out of Calgary.
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MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Ckay.

MR. DAVIES: What they do is they rail in
propane, butane and isobutane fromthe Enpress termn nal
i n Canada, which is a fractionation term nal on the
border between Al berta and Manitoba, and they rail that
in and they pull that out of the rail cars. And you may
see sone rail cars there tonorrow.

W're nore in the withdrawal than the

i njection season, so it's alittle less likely we'll see
rail cars on site. But they'll rail themin in the
sunmer, and they will unload those, and those are taken

about two and a half, three mles down across the
nort hern parkway i mredi ately east of Luke Air Force Base.
There's a Morton Salt facility.

And the way they mne the salt there is
what's called a solution mning. They basically drill a
hole into the salt fornmation and they put down hot water
and they pull out salt water, and then they dry it in the
ponds. What that creates is it creates a very big
bal |l oon and then the old caverns, as they holl ow t hose
out, are repurposed for LPG storage.

So today Plains has three caverns, each of
which is approximately 1 mllion barrels. Today one is
pr opane, one is butane, and one is isobutane.

So we wll have a direct pipe. W are
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actually getting our own dedicated |ateral so we'll be
buil ding a propane | ateral as well, so we will have

di rect connection to up to 1 mllion barrels of LPG

pr opane.

To put that in perspective, 1 mllion
barrels is approximtely 500 negawatt nont hs of storage.
Let that sink in. This is not 500 negawatt hours. This
is 500 negawatt nont hs.

So when we tal k about resiliency, and we'll
talk a little bit about Luke Air Force Base here in a
second, if you were to have all three of those caverns
filled wth LPG you would have 1500 negawatt nont hs of
power generation, which is far beyond anything avail abl e
to any facility in the United States today.

MEMBER COVSTOCK:  Final question. Thank
you for that. You're in the caverns, huh?

MR. DAVI ES: Yep.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Wow, |'m an ol d gas guy,
so | know about them

The turbine are designed to run off propane
or gas?

MR. DAVI ES: Yes.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: By the flip of a switch
or are there nechani cal processes you have to go through
to change them over?
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MR. DAVI ES: You can change them on the
fly.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Thank you. Thank you,
M. Chai r man.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Just continuing that a bit
because of the power discrepancy between natural gas and
propane, there's not a big shift in your generation,
el ectrical generation capacity? You can -- you can get
the propane up and kick it in the butt and nake her go?

MR. DAVIES: Yeah. You're going to -- you
take a derate on the propane, it's generally about 5 to
7 percent, and it depends on your tenperature and
at nospheric conditions. It's not as nuch as 15.

When you're using reciprocating engines you
take much bigger of a hit. So it's actually one of the
reasons why we selected turbines. | tal ked before about
at Cheyenne we used recips. Wen you want a really truly
resilient facility you need sone sort of on-site fuel.

Now, in a |ot of cases, they used to m X
di esel and natural gas, so diesel would be your on-site
backup fuel. W elected not to use diesel. One, you
can't store as nmuch. It ages, you have to keep burning
it. But also when you burn it the em ssions are nuch,
much worse, especially on the NOx side. Propane burns
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much nore simlar to natural gas, which is why at hone
when you're barbecui ng your stove, you flip, you have two
different -- you change the burners out or the tips, they
have two different tips built into the turbines from
recips.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you very nuch

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. M. Moyes,
we' ve referenced the placemat a couple tines. Can you
pl ease | et us know for the record so people later on
foll ow ng the transcri pt when you refer to the placemat,
they'Il know -- they won't have a copy of it, they'll
know where to refer in the record to the pictures that
are on the pl acensat.

MR. MOYES: Yes, the placemat we're asking
to be admtted as Exhi bit PB-18.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay.

MR. MOYES: And was al so included in the
heari ng bi nder.

CHW STAFFORD: So these are -- these
are -- but they're simlar to other nmaps that appeared in
the application, aren't they?

MR. MOYES: That's correct. Just for ease
of reference for folks to be able to ook at if we're not
on a particular slide on the presentation sonmeone can
point to the placemat quickly.
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CHW STAFFORD: All right. Thank you.
Typically these things don't get admtted as separate
exhibits, they just -- they reference other pictures that
are sonewhere in the record, and so --

MR DAVIES: And the -- what's on the

pl acemats will also be in slides | believe 26 and 27, if
the nunbering is the sane as will be admtted on the
record.

CHWN STAFFORD: Excellent. Well, we've
been goi ng about an hour and a half, | think the court
reporter is due for a break. Let's take an approximtely
15-m nut e recess.

MR. MOYES: Thank you.

(Recess from2:30 p.m to 2:48 p.m)

CHW STAFFORD: Let's go back on the
record, M. Moyes.

MR. MOYES: Thank you, Chairnan.

BY MR MOYES:

Q M. Davies, we dug down into a |lot of details
about the project, which, of course, we expect you and
ot her witnesses to elaborate on further. However, I'd
like to draw you back to sonme of the foundati onal
testi nony on Takanock and what nmakes its busi ness nodel
unique in this case. Can you share nore about that?

A (M. Davies) Sure. So ultimately our goal here
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Is to create sone of the nost resilient data centers out
there. You know, we serve -- strive to serve m ssion
essential functions. And to help explain, you know, what
that is and, you know, why that's required in the data
center space, let's think about a continuum

From you know, one end of the continuum you
have things like Bitcoin. It doesn't matter if it's
interruptible. You know, Bitcoin, even Al training is
interruptible. And then you have things |ike Ti kTok and
cat videos, which, you know, maybe we hope aren't
i nterrupted, you know, dependi ng on your Vviewpoint.

But then you start, you know, kind of marching
across kitchen roomand then you get to like the Netflix.
Peopl e get kind of cranky when their Netflix goes down.
Then you get to live streans |like this where it's a
problemif it goes down.

But then as you keep going across you get into
t hi ngs, our banking system Just | ook what happened when
the CVE went down | ast Friday. That was a cooling issue
at a CyrusOne data center.

Then you start getting into things |Iike national
guard, you know, and then you start getting into the
Depart nent of Defense, apparently now Departnent of War
and things |ike that.

And all the way at the npbst extrene you have
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what's called an NC3, so that's nuclear conmmunicati on,
command, and control. That is our nuclear triad. So
that is going to be a bookend. And we'll put Bitcoin as
t he ot her bookend.

W are aimng towards the NC3 end of the
bookend, so we want to create the nost resilient data
centers out there. So that's why we were tal king before
about the propane backup and why we're focused on
building things with nmulti fuel.

And why are we focused on this? And the inpetus
for Takanock -- and | nentioned before we actually
started out with the design and then decided we had to
build the data centers rather than the other way around,
it actually canme froma neeting | had in early 2023 with
the Cl O of what's now called the Departnment of War in
whi ch, you know, this -- the neeting was not nore than
seven people in the room you know, in the pentagon and
tal ki ng about the resiliency requirenents for the DOD and
the intelligence community and the risk which is created
by the outsourcing of data centers to the cl oud.

Thi s goes back to what's called the cloud first
policy which was promul gated under the Obana
Adm ni stration. And, you know, the U S. governnent had
sonething li ke 8, 000 data centers because everyone's got
alittle one in everywhere and nothing was centralized.
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And as a country we said, well, we need to
centralize this. The people who know how to run data
centers should run data centers. And, you know, | think
we're probably all okay if the IRS data center goes down,
but there's other data centers we can't afford to go
down, and that is a risk. As we've pushed out, these
cl oud providers do not have the sane | evel of resiliency,
the sanme | evel of requirenent for these m ssion-essential
functi ons.

So actually the first investor in Takanock was a
gent |l eman naned Vice Admiral Janmes Syring who's the
former head of US mssile defense. And if you -- you
listen to the various news programs, you know, the CNNs,
t he CNBCs, you know, of the world he's occasionally a
tal ki ng head tal ki ng about gol den done and the new
m ssil e defense prograns, and | shouldn't say any nore
about that. But that is the end of the spectrumthat we
are aimng at.

So what we did as a conpany is we really spent
the first 18 nonths say how do you create the nost
resilient data center. And our assunption here is the
grid will go down, and the grid nmay go down hard. That
is the requirenment for these types of data centers.

So by statute, the m ssion-essential functions,
the things that are run at Luke and el sewhere nust have
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60 days, 6-0 days, of backup fuel. | can tell you
there's not a data center in the country today that has
60 days of on-site backup fuel. Generally they keep
somewher e between 48 and 96 hours of backup fuel.

And then they all assunme that the diesel trucks
are showng up. And if you want to, you know, talk about
a correlated risk when the grid goes down and every
single one of those gigawatts of data centers all call up
the diesel resupply trucks at the sane tine, the chances
of them being -- of the diesel being resupplied is
effectively zero.

So when you talk to the people responsible for
keepi ng these m ssion-essential functions on by statute,
they need 60 days. They'll say privately they want
12-plus nonths. 1'll let you figure out what happens to
civil society and, you know, a couple weeks, |et al one
12 nont hs.

But that is the end of the spectrumwe are
aimng at. And that's why we selected this site here
wth what will be a private lateral to | described up to
1500- mregawatt nonths of storage. It is a very unique
asset, and we're -- you know, | can't talk about the type
of custoners who will be here specifically, but 1'Il let
your 1magination sort of fill in who could be the type of
custoners that needs this sort of resiliency.
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So what -- we tal ked about we'll -- the need for
a backup fuel. Way? This ultinmately goes to, well, what
happens if you don't have gas?

And t he question was asked before about the
pressures. But we also have to ask even if the pressure
is there, how do you procure that? And this was a
m stake that M crosoft nmade. You know, it cost M crosoft
a couple hundred mllion dollars but, you know, it's
pocket change for M crosoft.

But when Mcrosoft put the data center in
Cheyenne, Woni ng, they went financial notice to proceed
on those Jenbacher 620s | di scussed w thout having a
holistic conversation with the Womng interstate
pi peli ne system which is owned by Ki nder Morgan, you
know, the sane owner as El Paso.

And for those of you who aren't famliar with
how t he scheduling on the pipeline works, you don't just
draw gas whenever you want. You have to schedul e the gas
a day ahead or four hours ahead in those nom nation
cycles. You can't project four hours ahead when you're
goi ng to have an unschedul ed power interruption. So in
order to have access to natural gas, you have to reserve
the capacity on that 24/7, 365, and that becones very,
very expensive.

In fact, when Mcrosoft did this in Cheyenne,
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Wom ng, they bought those generators and then called up

the natural gas pipeline and the WC, the Wom ng

Interstate System said, "lI'msorry, we don't have what's
called a no notice tariff." And Mcrosoft said, "l just
want to pull it whenever."

What Ki nder Morgan had to do was they had to go
down the pipeline about 20 mles in each direction, they
had to valve off the pipeline, up pressure that segnent
of the pipeline and basically create a 40-mle-1ong CNG
t ank.

Now, that reduced the throughput, so Kinder
Morgan had to go back to FERC and refile the tariff with
FERC to reduce the transport capacity on the Wom ng
systemin perpetuity in order to create the no notice
product needed to serve the data center.

So think about that in Arizona today, where
we' re al ready gas constrained and Transwestern is
buil ding a new pi peline, we can't be reducing the
t hroughput on the pipelines that are here today in order
to serve data centers with natural gas. This is exactly
why we picked this site.

And to take it a step further, when we were
sitting down this was 2017 with Ki nder Mdrgan, we were
tal ki ng about our site selection in Arizona. And the
story | got from Ki nder Mrgan, you know, who runs E
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Paso, still resonates with nme today, and they said, "Be
careful. There's very, very little gas capacity

avai lable in Arizona." And they told the story of what
happens when t he haboob cones over Phoeni x.

And, again, this was al nost 10 years ago. And
they said the solar dropped offline so fast and all the
gas plants in Arizona hamered their turbines and the
pressure dropped so nmuch on the interstate systemthat
they could al nbst not maintain the flanes in those
turbines. It was dropping below that 400 PSI. And
that's when the power plants are going to start shutting
off and that's when you' re going to have a real problem
So that was with the anount of solar on the system
10 years ago.

And that is when as Mcrosoft, we cane to
Arizona, we wanted to replicate what was done in Cheyenne
because we believed it was the right thing to do. Let's
build one power plant rather than two. It's better --
it's nore capital efficient, it's nore environnentally
friendly, but we couldn't do it because there was not the
gas capacity.

That is why, you know, we ended up sel ecting
this site, because it has the dual fuel capacity.

So when we're working with our natural gas
suppliers, we do not require firmno notice service.

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025 78

What we can do is we can buy interruptible gas. And if
the gas is ever interrupted because anot her power pl ant
needs it or because the residentials need it, small
commerci al, soneone el se needs it who's higher on the
priority stack, this plant could be interruptible because
we have a private lateral to the | argest LPG storage
facility in the western United States.

That's why this is nore resilient froma
pi peline point of view but also froma national security
poi nt of view.

And | shoul d say, you know, Takanock has filed a
patent. We'll see if we actually get it when the patent
of fice, you know, gets around to reading it. But we've
filed a patent for a conbination of a data center, a
turbine, and on-site fuel storage. You know, any two of
t hose have been done together before but not all three.
And we hope to secure that patent, but that's going to be
TBD.

Q M. Davies, before you drill down further on why
this site was selected and all the other benefits on top
of the ones you've al ready explained, | wanted to ask you
real quick what other active projects does Takanock have
in the queue going right now?

A (M. Davies) Sure. Today we have three active
projects. Two here in Arizona. Project Baccara which
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we're tal king about today. W have anot her

further south in Pinal County which

been docketed for 2027. And then we have one in northern

Vi rginia.

12/01/2025

think has nowit's

pr oj ect

Froma site selection point of view, we are

focused primarily on what's called tier

1 data center

markets, so that's where the data centers already are.

You're not going to find us going into Abilene or
and buil ding these big Al data centers |like you' re seeing

Oracl es, the OpenAls doi ng because those data centers are

primarily for what's called Al training.

Al training, as | nentioned,

It

may not

interruptible as Bitcoin, but you can pause an Al

training run, and you can start it again a couple hours

Kansas

be

later, and it picks up imediately w thout an issue.

That is the training, the very expensive
conmputational in order to build the nodels that you and |

interact with on kind of a realtine basis.

go to Chat GPT and you type sonething in and you're

sitting there waiting 30 seconds getting very,

frustrated, that is what is called inference.

very

That

nore |l atency sensitive. And those are sort of the

applications which, you know, are likely to cone to the

tier 1 markets, what we're serving here today,

are the ones that really, really care about that
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resiliency and uptine.

Q So why is Phoenix uniquely situated to satisfy
tier 1 markets?

A (M. Davies) So it actually goes back to the
original construction of the railroads. So if you want
to know where the data -- tier 1 data center markets
are -- you know, northern Virginia is one because of the
original Darpa net, but pretty nmuch everywhere el se you
| ook across the United States you can pick a tier 1 data
center market by |ooking at the railroads fromthe 1880s.

The railroads fromthe 1880s, you know, what
were the big livestock towns? What were -- you know,
they built the railroads and the tel egraphs follow ng the
rail roads, and then the tel ephones followed the
tel egraphs, and then the fiber followed tel ephones. So
when you | ook at where fiber is, it's those old railroad
t owns.

Now why Phoeni x? Because it was really hard to
build railroads across the Rockies. So nost of the rail
goi ng west coast to east coast travel ed through Phoeni x
down t hrough El Paso into San Antonio and the big
livestock towns in Texas. And today, still the majority
of transcontinental data runs on those sane railroad
lines that, you know, you had 150 years ago. So it's
60 percent plus of the transcontinental data fromthe
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west coast to the east coast of the runs through Phoeni x
because of those railroads.

So | nentioned before ny experience, you know,
15-plus years ago with Project Blaze. You know, Google
never ended up pulling the trigger on that, but why were
we | ooking at the Phoeni x market there? Because even
15 years ago people understood that it was inpossible to
devel op anything in California.

So what Google wanted to do is they wanted to
have data centers as close as possible to the eyeballs in
California. This was back when, you know, Yahoo was
still a thing and, you know, Google wanted to produce
those search results as quick as possi bl e because the
faster you produced the search result the nore people
clicked to the next one and the nore ads they sell. |If
it's slow, people have a very, very short attention span
and they end up doi ng sonething el se.

So the original data centers in the Phoenix
mar ket were designed to lob data into California because
you didn't want to build data centers in California. And
then it grew over tine. And if you -- if data centers
are anything, they are | emm ngs. Once one goes there,
everyone goes there.

And | tal ked before about you've got the
hyperscal ers, you' ve got the Googles, you' ve got the
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M crosofts, and then you have everyone el se serving them
The way to think about this is at the big hyperscalers,
you have a build versus | ease question. Sonetinmes you
buil d your own office building, sonetines you |ease
space. |It's the sanme thing, and this is nore of Craig's
background, but it's real estate. And, you know, the
nost inportant thing in real estate is |ocation,

| ocati on, |ocation.

So why did all the data centers that you see
here on the slide show up? It's because there was sone,
a fewto serve the California market and sonme coll ocation
for enterprise. But then Mcrosoft cane to town. And if
there's one thing that you can bet on in the data center
market is that Mcrosoft is going to screw up, and | can
say that having worked for Mcrosoft. And Craig's
| aughi ng because he knows it's true.

But inevitably, Mcrosoft and others, they wl|
go to build, but they won't have enough capacity. So the
person next door with that extra expansion capacity wl|
get the lease. So that's why | said it's nuts to an
el ephant .

So what you see there on the screen there, those
are all of these third-party providers, the Vantages, the
Al i gneds, you know, the CyrusOne. The chief technol ogy
officer at CyrusOne is a guy naned M deal Atl assi
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(phonetic). He was part of the site selection team at
M crosoft that, you know, with nyself and a few ot hers
brought the data centers here.

So that's why Phoenix is now a data center

market, and it's the fastest -- it's the |argest and
fastest growing on the west coast. Still quite a bit
different fromnorthern Virginia which is still and nay

forever be the king of data centers in North Anerica, but
Phoeni x is rapidly becom ng nunber two.

MEMBER FONTES: M. Chai rman.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Fontes.

MEMBER FONTES: | really appreciate your
testinony, M. Davies, and I know we're going to get into
the interconnection for the electrical. You' ve already
covered the gas.

Can you cover perhaps not here but at sone
point in the testinony before the public why this
particular site is sufficient or robust enough for the
fiberoptic and the avail able capacity on that? | just
think that adds to this testinony and to the project in
terms of what we're | ooking at.

So | would appreciate it if you would get
some nore detail on that at tonorrow or whatever is
appropri ate.

MR DAVIES: Well, it mght be |l think in a
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couple slides fromhere we've got sone -- some nmaps on
the fiberoptic and the infrastructure in the area, but
we'll get to that very, very shortly.

MEMBER FONTES: How many strands of fi ber,
how many are going to go to this project, redundancy, how
it inmpacts utilities and just in a little nore granul ar
detail just so we can capture it for the record. Thank
you.

MR. DAVIES: Sure. W'Ill talk about fiber
when we get to that map. Thanks for the question.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

Menber Fant.

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

So you're -- even with Nvidia chips, the
various GPU Nvidia chips, you can stop training and
resune it and not | ose your process -- progress?

MR. DAVIES: From a software point of view
yes. You've -- also have these spiking up and spi ki ng
down tens or hundreds of negawatts in a subsecond basis,
which is a totally other question. It is a very spiky
| oad, which utilities are going to be dealing wth.
We're going to be dealing with, you know, being sited
i medi ately next to one of these.

You' ve al ready seen, you know, discussions
in Texas and northern Virginia about sone of these data
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centers they're kicking off transients onto the grid and
that's causing issues el sewhere.

So our partner on this is one of the
| eaders in actually managi ng that. You know, w thout
saying their name because it's not in the public record
yet, their CTOis on the Nvidia advisory board because
we're very cogni zant of this issue. And believe ne, we
don't want that data center to i nmediately drop 100 or
200 negawatts in a subsecond because those turbines can
spin up and you'll throw a blade, and then Dan over there
gets very nad at ne.
BY MR MOYES:

Q M. Davies, before we talk nore about the fiber
detail questions that Menber Fontes has asked, can you
explain a little bit nore about the natural nonmentunf
You gave the | enm ngs exanpl e and how these data centers
all foll ow one anot her.

What nore can you tell us about the expected

growth of data centers in the Phoeni x market?

A (M. Davies) |I'mactually going to turn that
over to Craig because he's the one who's actually -- you
know, | don't know if the T5 logo nmade it on there, but,

yeah, he's actually leased all of these and lived in this
worl d for 20-plus years.
Q Go ahead, M. MKesson, please.
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A (M. MKesson) Thanks, Jason. Thanks, Ken.

So as Ken pointed out, the Phoenix netro area
has really evolved into one of the true tier 1 data
center markets in the United States. Really a part of a
top 5 data center narket in the United States npst
recently followed only by northern Virginia, which is
hi storically the nunber one data center nmarket in the
country.

As you can see here on this chart, what's
happened in this market is pretty nmuch unprecedented in
terms of demand outstripping supply.

Here you can see of all of the under
construction or planned data centers before 2027,

739 negawatts of that was prel eased, and 342 of that was

pl anned and prel eased before that as well.

And so what's happening today is data centers as

soon as they get announced they're being prel eased by
ei ther the hyperscal ers thenselves or these third-party
data center operators as Ken nenti oned.

Q Thank you, M. MKesson

Goi ng back to you, Ken, what goes into a site

selection in general for a data center or a power plant
that's going to support a data center?

A (M. Davies) So it's a question of what
originally went into it or what goes into it today. And
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this was sonme of the frustration which as the energy team
| felt at, you know, Google and then |later M crosoft.

You know, originally, you know, it was al ways
| and, fiber, and then everything else. And everything
else didn't really matter because, you know, the |and
team wanted to go out and find the |land, and as | ong as
there's fiber nearby everyone el se was a service provider
effectively to those real estate site selection team

As the energy guy, you know, that bothered ne
forever because no one wanted ny opinion. You know, for
the first tinme for 15 years people wanted to talk to ne
at a cocktail party because they do not know energy.

That has conpletely flipped because as the energy
resour ces becone nore and nore scarce, people have
started to site for energy.

Now, in sone cases that, you know, pendul um has
swung all the way where you're finding people put
gigawatt-sized data centers in Abilene. You know, we try
to take kind of a mddle path here. You know, we are
| ooking for sites in tier 1 markets where there's an
establ i shed demand. But then when we | ook at what are
our criteria, it's power availability. So what does that
mean? It's both transm ssion but it's also generation.

So in the Phoeni x market, we have reasonably
anpl e transm ssion capacity, but we are woefully short
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generation capacity. If we were to flip that on its head

and we were to tal k about northern Virginia, it's the

opposite. In the greater PJM area, there is anple
generation capacity, but it's all in west Virginia, and
it just -- the transmssion is not there to get it into
t he market .

So we're |l ooking for transm ssion capacity.
We're looking for if there's -- is there generation or do
we have to bring it to the table? And then if we have to
bring it to the table, we're going to need fuel. And as
| tal ked about, it's not just enough to have a pipeline,
we want to have if avail able sone ot her source of backup
fuel to provide that very, very high I evel of resiliency.
And then fiber and then obviously |and, you're
going to need the land, and we're very cogni zant of where
we're going to put these. You know, ny life is too short
to go through long zoning battles, which is one of the
reasons why we're very excited and have been | ooki ng at
and working on this site for five-plus years.
MEMBER FONTES: M. Davies, can you spel
out the acronym PJM for the court reporter and the
record.
MR. DAVIES: Absolutely. So it's -- it
stands for Pennsylvania Jersey Maryl and, so PJM
i nterconnection is the i ndependent system operator that
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operates the grid in those and nei ghboring states.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

MEMBER LI TTLE: M. Chai rman.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Little.

MEMBER LI TTLE: M. Davies, could you
expl ain what the orange and bl ue squares are. One's
cal l ed collocation and one is hyperscale.

MR, DAVI ES: Sure.

CHW STAFFORD: On R16 --

MEMBER LI TTLE: Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: -- of Exhibit 107?

MR. DAVIES: So absolutely. So the little
bl ue squares actually on here are nostly Mcrosoft. So
those are the Mcrosofts, the Googles, Amazons now in
town. |If we were |ooking further east over in Mesa,
you' d see Meta and ot hers.

The orange squares are the ones who | ease
to those guys.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Okay. Thank you.

MR DAVIES: So it's a build versus buy
deci sion. And, you know, at M crosoft they have
10, 000-plus people in their infrastructure group, but
they still can't build fast enough to keep up with their
demand. So it's, you know, Mcrosoft is generally 50/50.
There's pendul um sw ngs back and forth between | ease and
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bui | d.

Amazons |ike the | ease nore. Google
traditionally has been done nore self-build. And, you
know, Meta has bal ance traditionally nore self-build.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Thank you.

MR, DAVI ES: Yep.

A couple other things just looking at this
slide here. | knowit's alittle bit of an eye chart,
but | think the Comm ssion here has hopefully, you know,
in their binders what you're looking at is the dotted
blue lines. That is the 550 PSI Sout hwest Gas
di stribution system

You know, we are on a | ooped part of that
line, but we actually at this point are not anticipating
having to use that. Wth any |uck Southwest Gas will be
able to build the lateral, you know, in tine for our
first firing of those turbines.

The yell ow that you see there, that is the
APS 230kV transm ssion lines. And the yellow running
imedi ately by the site, that is a 230kV |line which is
still under construction. That was under construction
for Mcrosoft. That site was selected by Mcrosoft in
2016, and al nost 10 years later they're only now getting
their 230kV power. | nentioned --

MEMBER FONTES: Can you identify the ED7
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I nterconnect there or substation that you had referred to
when Menber Hi Il was asking the questions because |
bel i eve you stated that the power was going to wheel

t hrough there for power narketing purposes.

MR. DAVIES: Yes. So we do not have a map
here that shows ED7 service territory, but ED7 is an
overl apping service territory wth APS. So anyone in
that overl apping service territory can draw from either
ED7 or APS. Most go to APS because it's what everyone
knows, and it's very easy.

ED7, it's alittle bit nore of kind of
build your own solution. But even though I was one of
those who put the APS XHLF tariff in place, it was going
to be too hard to go through APS. APS has about runored
12 to 15 gigawatts in their queue.

MEMBER FONTES: |s there a rate pancake
when you go through the APS over to the ED5 -- or ED7
systen? Because | imagi ne naybe WAPA as t he power
mar ket i ng agency executes those -- that function for ED?7.

MR. DAVI ES: So WAPA does not execute that
for ED7. You know, WAPA serves ED2 and sone of the
others, electrical districts, down in Pinal who are
connected to the WAPA system ED7 currently buys through
SPPA, which is a joint action agency, you know, a
Sout hwest Public Power Adm nistration.
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MEMBER FONTES: |Is there a pancake ri ght
there in the transmssion or is it executed through the
APS system exclusively in the transm ssion?

MR, DAVIES: It will be exclusively through
the APS system And we can talk nore about it here in a
little bit about the NITS | oad request. But right now
there's two points of receipt on a NITS | oad request.

One is the Del aney substation and one is the on-site
substation with one point of delivery, which is the
on-site substation. We'Ill get into that inalittle bit.
And | think in a couple slides you'll actually see a map
of the transm ssion system

But that yellow 230kV that's being built by
the site right now | nentioned that's 10 years in the
pl anni ng. That's what happens when you have the | and
team not the energy team sel ect your site.

CHW STAFFORD: That's -- | believe that's
CEC 198, isn't it, that 230kV line? The one that goes

ri ght by Project Baccara?

MR. DAVIES: | don't know the nunber,

but --
CHW STAFFORD: |'mpretty sure that's it.
MR, DAVIES: ~-- I'msure it canme through

this, you know, commttee, absolutely.
CHW STAFFORD: And then if you could go
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back to slide R15. | don't know if you tal ked about this
already or if |I mssed it --

MR. DAVI ES: Yeah, no --

CHW STAFFORD: But the slight -- the site
sel ection process.

MR. DAVIES: Onh, sure. Between the various
mar ket s, yeah

We gl ossed over this, so do you want to
take it, Craig?

MR. MCKESSON: Yeah, that's fine. | can
junmp in on this.

Yeah, this was a partner slide to kind of
the slide we covered about the preleasing activity and
t he supply-demand i nbal ance. This gives you an idea what
of we consider kind of the broader tier 1 markets for
data centers across the United States obviously being | ed
by northern Virginia with a total inventory that is about
five tinmes that of the cl osest conpetitor there. But
when you --

CHW STAFFORD: And that's -- total
i nventory, that neans data centers currently operating?

MR, MCKESSON:. Currently operating, yes.

Currently operating. And then you can see as you foll ow

the chart over to your right, what you'll see is
incredi bly | ow vacancy. |In every one of those tier 1
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mar ket s you' re tal king, you know, vacancies in the teens
of nmegawatts, right. And a typical data center nowis
anywhere from 100 to 200 negawatts per building. And so
we're basically at O percent vacancy across any of the
tier 1 markets in the U S.

What you're seeing then in the H2 2024 net
absorption, that's the anmount of data center capacity
that was actually | eased or went into operation during
that year. And what you can see there is, you know,
Phoeni x is starting to -- has started to -- has gained a
| ot of nonmentum over the | ast several years and has been
creeping up and becom ng a nore and nore inportant and
rel evant market within the data center space.

Cbvi ously, they're underpl anned. Northern
Virginia is showng 5 and a half gigawatts of planned
capacity there whereas Phoenix isn't that far behind at
3.7 gigawatts of planned capacity for this JLL data --
data centers report.

And so that all kind of |eads back to, you
know, the why Phoeni x, why are we here in this -- wth
this particular location. And, you know, we really do
see Phoeni x as an energi ng, you know, top tier data
center nmarketplace -- market within the United States.

There's an incredi bl e demand not just from
the hyperscal e end users but the whol e ecosystem of
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third-party collocation providers that serve them and
that capacity is just going to continue to -- or that
demand is going to continue to increase here with the
continued growh of inference Al within the nmetro area.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And so the total
vacant, what does that nean?

MR, MCKESSON: The total vacant is just the
anmount of | easable data center capacity on the narket.

Al right. So if you think about it in terns of -- think
of it anal ogous to an office building. Al right. You
have an office building that could be, you know, 100, 000
square feet and you say you have 19,000 square feet
avai l abl e. Think about it in that --

CHW STAFFORD: Well, that's | easable, not
what could be built.

MR. MCKESSON: That is -- that's total
vacant of what's actually built and built today.

CHW STAFFORD: Okay. So it's how nuch
data center capacity is available to be | eased then?

MR, MCKESSON: Correct.

So if you just take the Phoenix line item
there, right, so we currently have a total inventory of
approxi mately 804 negawatts of total inventory. You have
only 19 negawatts of that total inventory that is vacant
and avail able for | ease, so approximately 2 percent.
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There was 166 negawatts of second half of 2024 net
absorption. That's a bit of a dated nunmber there. But
then you're seeing over a gigawatt of capacity under
construction that's currently under construction
capacity. That's cranes in the air data centers that are
being built.

And that's backed up by over approxi mately
3.7 gigawatts of planned capacity. So those are
announced projects that are in different phases of
conpl eti on but have not started construction yet.

CHW STAFFORD: All right. Thank you.

MR DAVIES: So | want to just doubl e-check
on that 3.7 approxi mate gi gawatt nunber. Because |
nmenti oned before that APS has 12 to 15 gigawatts in the
queue. And SRP will tell you about the sane. So now on
one hand you see on the slide here about 3.6, and then
|'ve just added up and said, okay, well, between SRP and
APS you probably have 10X that in the queue. How do we
reconcile the difference there? WlIl, there's a couple.

One is the nunbers you're seeing here is
just what's available for -- these are the essentially
the third-party providers. These are the ones that are
building it to |l ease out. This data is fromJLL. JLL
brokers | eases. So these nunbers don't count the
hyperscal ers who are building for thenselves. So that
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nunber may doubl e.

Ckay. Now we're still maybe 4 or 5X off.
Well, you also then have a difference between what's
call ed negawatt I T and negawatt utility. So all of these
nunbers here are the what's called negawatt IT. This is
what happens if you were to basically add up the power
draw of all the IT equi pnment, every single server you go
and count themand you nultiply it by the nunber of watts
per server, that's the nunber you get there. But the
nunber that the utilities are |ooking at is generally
50 percent larger than that in a market |ike Arizona
because of the cooling | oads.

You' re cramm ng a whol e bunch of
essentially hair dryers into a room and it gets really,
really hot, and you' ve got to have a lot of air
conditioning or water. | would argue that it's better to
use the air conditioni ng because we've got nore energy
than we've got water here in Arizona, but that's what
["1l account for another kind of 50 percent difference
t here.

And then the | ast difference there is
there's a lot of speculators in the market, and this is
what APS and SRP and utilities around the country are
fighting wwth. Now, | talked about how Birch was the
first powered | and devel oper. Good |uck wal ki ng out si de
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of here and throwi ng a stick and not hitting two of them
hiding in the bushes.

Everyone is a powered | and devel oper.

Whet her they' ve devel oped either a data center or a power
plant, it doesn't matter if they have a piece of |and
that's in eyesight of a transm ssion line, | nust have a
heavy data center site.

So what the utilities are fighting agai nst
here is all of these speculators just throwing |oads into
the queue and if you were to go over and, you know, talk
to APS and this is what they're struggling with. They
have a hard tinme, you know, sorting the wheat fromthe
chaff. Now they nay be able to do that talking to the
person but how do they do that in a fair and, you know,
bal anced regul atory process?

So that is what they're fighting with.
That's why they have a 15-gigawatt queue. Is it
20 percent? |Is it 30 percent, is it 40 percent that's
real? Don't know. It's not 100 percent. So that's one
of the reasons why you see, you know, very vastly, vastly
di fferent nunbers here.

So | wanted to make sure that everyone
could kind of put that in context. W've thrown out a
| ot of different nunbers here, and | wanted to nmake sure
that you -- we could take in tinme consistently.
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MR. MCKESSON: Go back a noment because if
you woul dn't m nd going back one nore slide on this one.
W talk a little bit about, you know, data center
operators and data centers in general are kind of like
|l emmi ng. Ken used that term | think this slide and the
previous slide shows that pretty well because | think
there was a question earlier about the orange squares and
the -- and the blue squares.

We can see is all of these data centers out
there are -- basically have evolved in clusters. And
typically of them-- and typically all of those clusters
started with one or two of those blue squares, one of the
hyperscal ers that noved into a certain region, which then
evol ved into a nunber of collocation operators com ng
into that same region saying, hey, if it's good enough
for XYZ, it must be good enough ABC, and they just kind
of kept coming in and com ng in.

So that's why even within this, you know,
metro Phoeni x area you probably have five different data
centers submarkets that have evolved over tinme with the
west valley being kind of the nbst recent and becom ng
one of the nost popul ar.

MR. DAVIES: And to ne the -- you know, the
fact that west valley is now popul ar makes ne chuckl e
because when as the energy team 10 years ago M crosoft
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originally wanted to go over to SRP, and as the energy
team we said we could save nobney, let's go to APS.

| had the Mcrosoft |and team cone back to
us and say, quote, "There's no available |and in APS
service territory.” And | |ooked at them and said, "APS
service territory is 40 percent of the state of Arizona."
And what they really nmeant is we | ooked on LoopNet or
| ooked on the MLS and we couldn't find anything for sale.

This is the difference between site
sel ection 10 years ago and site selection today. So site
sel ection 10 years ago was let's just |ook at the |and
for sale and pick the best ones. Site selection today
says where's the resource? Were does it nmake the nost
sense?

G ven the power availability, given the
fuel and, you know, given the fiber, let's go there. And
if we have to go and negotiate for that piece of |and,
very nmuch |ike, you know, oil and gas woul d today, you
know, Exxon does not show up to the Perm an Basin and
drill based on what's available for | ease on LoopNet.

No, they find the resource first and then they get the
| and, not the other way around.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Thank you. To expand on
just what you're tal king about | ooking at this map, your
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project is in the crosshairs of at |east three different
cities out there for being potentially annexed into the
city. | take it that the current project paraneters neet
al |l annexation requirenents on any of those three or four
cities that are -- maybe nore. |'mnot sure who's going
to take a shot at that.

MR. DAVIES: You know, it is within the
G endale area, so we are in early discussions wth a
preannexati on devel opnent agreenment with the City of
G endal e.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: W th d endale. kay.
Thank you.

MR. DAVI ES: The nearest neighbors are in
the Gty of Surprise, but this wuld be dendale. W
have another map show ng that, you know, the area around
us that has al ready gone industrial has been annexed in,
and we will have to do that for our water and sewer
servi ce.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.
BY MR MOYES:

Q M. Davies, you were in the process of
describing the intersection of all the necessary
i nfrastructure.
Can you pl ease continue along with a description

of the area network -- or the area fiber network?
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A (M. Davies) Sure. So you can see the fiber
network here. And generally speaking, you know, the
fi ber in Phoenix comes, you know, in fromthe west and
then kind of goes out to the southeast. Just follow the
rails as we tal ked about before.

And then this area which you see around the
project it's -- it's -- it deviates fromthat. It kind
of goes up and then | oops around that area.

Now, this is not the fiber you get to the hone.
You know, just l|ike, you know, your electrical service to
the hone is not the sane as the 235kV.

CHW STAFFORD: You're | ooking at slide R17
for the fiber nmap; correct?

MR. DAVI ES: Thank you, Chairnman.

Yes. A lot of that fiber that you see
there was built up there to serve Mcrosoft. So that's
one of the reasons why once a hyperscal er puts down a
footprint, all the fiber providers want to serve that
hyperscaler. 1It's a |lot of business, a |ot of volune
goi ng across that fiber.

And then the smaller collocation or the
third-party providers, they don't want to have to pul
all that fiber and develop it thenselves, so they will go
near where the fiber providers have al ready pull ed and
put in those routes for the hyperscalers. So that's why
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you see that cluster in that EIl Mrage, d endale,
Surprise area it's because Mcrosoft went there and
eventual ly the power got built and eventually the fiber
got built, but once the infrastructure is there it nakes
sense to continue to utilize that infrastructure.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Hill.

MEMBER HI LL: Thanks, M. Chair.

This is -- this is helpful. | understand
the limting factors around electricity and transm ssion
in data center devel opnent.

Can you talk a little bit about the
limting factor with fiber?

And | guess what I"'mtrying to understand
is to your point, when a hyperscaler settles in sonewhere
it attracts nore data centers. [|'mthinking about the
ot her vacant land in this area and the potential for nore
data centers, nore generation, the decisions that we nake
today wll affect long-term|and use happening in that
ar ea.

s there a limt to the nunber of data
center or scale of projects out there where the fiber
just wouldn't support it?

MR. DAVIES: It's not going to be a fiber
limt. You know, | would say, you know, the limt of
what we're doing here is probably based on zoning as nuch
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as anything else. And we'll get into that in a second.

But just to, you know, answer the question
on fiber, how nmuch fiber do you need to serve a data
center? Well, it depends if you're tal king about a netro
network or long distance. So if you're | ooking at Sub-C
cabl es, you know, a Google or Mcrosoft may take only
eight, 16 fiber pairs on a Sub-C network because it's
very, very, very, very snall.

But in the nmetro area what they do is they
don't send the data through what's called a DWDM
mul tiplexer. | know that sounds a little bit |ike Back
to the Future, but just think of it as a nodemt hat
basically just shoves all the data on to one fiber, you
know, but it slows it down.

What they do --

CHW STAFFORD: And it feeds into the fl ux
capacitor? |Is that --

MR. DAVIES: | think there's a flux
capacitor. Did | hear a niner in there?

So what -- on the netro fiber what they'l
actually do is server to server they will hook up a
fi ber-optic cable w thout going through any additiona
switch gear. Think about if you had, you know, probably
15, 20 years ago when you had a stereo system you had
those fiber-optic cables hooking your stereo up, and it
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was just plug it into one and plug it into -- and it was
a fiber-optic cable three foot | ong.

These fiber-optic cables my be a couple
mles long or 20 or 30 kilometers long, but it's server
directly to server. So they're not dealing with eight or
16 fiber pairs. They' re dealing with hundreds of
t housands of fiber pairs.

So rather than having a fiber-optic cable
Sub-C, which is the size of your thunb, you' ve got
sonmetines big conduits two or three feet across just
j am packed with what's called netro fi ber.

So that's what -- why once you put that
nmetro fiber in place it's a lot harder to put that in
than it is a single sort of, you know, fiber-optic cable.

So it's still cheaper to build fiber optic
than it is electrical transm ssion or gas. So fiber is
probably not going to be our limting factor here. But |
just wanted to kind of provide sonme context of why once
you build a fiber network |Ii ke you see here, you've got
people piling on it.

MEMBER HI LL: That nakes sense. So you
don't need any nore fiber. But if other data centers
wanted to conme into this area, do you think that's stil
possible with the fiber that's there or do you think you
start to hit sone capacities based on what's there
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al ready?

MR. DAVIES: Cenerally when they put in the
fiber, they put in enpty conduits.

MEMBER HI LL: Ch, okay.

MR. DAVIS: So, you know, | can't speak to
exactly what -- they'|ll just -- they'll just pull new
fiber through the enpty conduits, yes.

MEMBER HI LL: Okay. That's hel pful. Okay.
Thanks.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Fant.

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

So server to server the extra cable is to
reduce | atency --

MR. DAVI ES: Yes.

MEMBER FANT: -- between the -- between the
servers?

MR. DAVIES: And that's especially
i nportant in Al.

MEMBER FANT: Ch, absolutely. Ckay.

Thanks.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chai rman.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Davies, this is
peri pheral to what you' ve given us so far, but what's the
big blow that | hear fromthe feds about we're going to
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throw mllions and gazillions of dollars toward Al and
all these data centers? How does that play into all
this?

s it all snoke?

MR. DAVIES: It's not all snpoke, and we're
ready to get, you know, pretty deep here.

But so when you think about these nodels,
you know, there's a theory out there called the singleton
whi ch says eventually you're only going to have one
wi nner. And, you know, one Al nodel will be able to
dom nate and actually trick the other Al npdels.

So |l can't tell you whether that is
actually true, but that is some of the thesis behind
this. This is why sonme people refer to Al as this is the
arms race to end all arms races, and we cannot afford to
lose it. This is why you see, you know, Meta and Mark
Zucker berg saying, you know, we wi |l spend hundreds of
billions of dollars. Same thing Musk. Sane thing froma
nati onal security point of view

If this singleton concept is true, it is
not sonething we can afford to lose. |'mnot snart
enough to tell you whether it's true or not, but there is
enough people who believe that this is true that this is
why this is sonmething they, you know, will spend
unlimted suns of noney to win because whet her you |ike
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Musk or Zuckerberg, | think we can all probably agree
we'd rather, you know, the U S. control this than the
Chi nese.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thanks for your insight.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Hill.

MEMBER HILL: 1'mjust kind of going
through imting factors here and your site selection
stuff in ny head.

| think the last Iimting factor |I'm
t hi nki ng through is water, and | assume that you're going
to cover that in a future section of your presentation?

MR. DAVIES: We will cover that. But I'l
just say generally speaking there's two ways you can, you
know, cool these, you know, mllions of hair dryers
shoved into a box. One is you can use air conditioning,
whi ch consunes | ot of energy, or you can use big swanp
cool ers, which consunes a | ot of water.

Now, 15, 20 years ago, all the
hyperscal ers, the Googles, the Mcrosofts, they were
designing a lot for their data centers for the Pacific
Nort hwest where you had lots and lots of water. So they
desi gned those, and sonetines it's, you know, hard to
turn a big ship. So when you've seen these big conpanies
cone into Arizona, Mcrosoft, Meta, Google, they have all
used water. Now they've taken their |ashes and they're
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| earning very slowy.

But nost of the third-party providers,
those | ogos you saw on the previous slide, nost all of
those will use air-cooled chillers. And the technol ogy
on air-cooled chillers over the past 15 years has
dramatically changed so it's nore efficient.

What is the key efficiency? There's -- in
those big fans in your air conditioners they use naglev
bearings, so it makes it quieter and nore energy
efficient. That is the primary technol ogi cal change over
the past 10 or 15 years why the newer, the faster, kind
of those smaller, nore ninble fol ks are using air cool ed,
and the big behenpths are still using water cool.

MR. MCKESSON: Yeah, ['ll add a little bit
nore context to that as well because it's
counterintuitive to a lot of people of why would you put
a data center that creates a whole lot of heat in a
desert area |i ke Phoenix?

So if you step back and just kind of think
about it pragmatically, it's a lot easier to cool dry air
than it is to pull noisture out of humd air; right? And
so that has been another factor that has -- that has
spread -- you know, helped facilitate the growh of data
centers within nore arid | ocations |ike -- |ike Phoeni x.

And so as part of that as well, as Ken was
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tal ki ng about historically, you know, the data center

i ndustry has been its own worst eneny for years in terns

of environnental and sustainability concerns,

specifically as it relates to water. |In the old days

everybody used what was cal |l ed evaporative cooling, and

so that's where you'd see these big chillers with all the

steam com ng out, and you'd use mllions and mllions

gal l ons of water.

Usi ng today's technol ogy, especially in a

climate |i ke Phoenix where it's hot and dry, we're now

usi ng technol ogy called cl osed-Ioop air-cooled chillers,

whi ch neans that you still use sonme water, but it's al

ina-- literally a closed loop. So you'd fill the

system up once, and it recycles around and around and

around and around, so instead using mllions of gallons

of water a day, you're just basically filling the tank

once and using that sanme water over and over.

MEMBER HILL: All right. Thank you.
MR DAVIES: And we'll have nore

informati on on specific water nunbers for both the data

center as well as the power plant because there are two

hal ves of this.

Arizona for

CHW STAFFORD: Isn't anot her appeal of

| ocating data centers here is that we have a

pretty stable electric grid. W don't have a | ot of
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outages. | think primarily outages occur in the
di stribution system not the transm ssion system And
then plus the lack of natural disasters |like --

MR. MCKESSON: Exactly.

CHWN STAFFORD: -- tornadoes or earthquakes
whi ch damage generating and transm ssion assets, we don't
typically have that here.

MR. DAVIES: Yeah, the only problemhere is
t he gi ant sucking sound com ng out of this state to the
west .

MR. MCKESSON: But, Chairman, that is true.
We need to start thinking about just in the hierarchy
where you have the fiber, you have the reliable and
resilient power infrastructure, a business-friendly
climate here, and ease of doing business as well as |ow
nat ural disasters.

So if you start thinking about it in the
typical site selection checklist, those are all the
things that we're thinking about that are really driving
the decision into an area |i ke Phoeni x.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant, you had a
guesti on.

MEMBER FANT: This is an aside, but can you
treat your buildings like oil and gas |iquid separators
and use depressurization to cool your buildings? Rapid
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depressurization is an idea that would avoid using water.
Just a thought.

MR, MCKESSON: |I'mnot famliar with that
particul ar technology, but I will say sonething al so
about the evolution of the data centers that is also
i npacting how a lot of this is done.

So in the old days we'd al so have to cool
the whole room right? So you'd have a data hall that
you' d have that would be full of racks of servers that
woul d be bl owi ng hot air into the room and you would
have to cool the whole room And at a certain point
soneone got snart and said, "Hey, let's just put sone
cont ai nnent around these servers and just cool the area
right around -- you know, pull the hot air out and not
have to cool the whole room"”

Wl l, now these chips -- you nentioned the
Nvi dia chips and the Al chips -- have gotten so powerf ul
and they run so hot that you actually have to use a
cooling kind of a liquid alnost |ike a glycol solution
that goes right to the chip.

And so you're no |longer actually using al
of this cooling technology to cool the whol e inside of
the data center, you're actually using these cooling
systens to really just anbiently cool the data center but
primarily cool the actual chip.
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I f any of these things | oses that cooling,
you have the incident that Ken nmentioned with the CMVE
where you coul d have a runaway thermal event, and it wll
cause mllions of dollars of damage within mnutes. And
so it's super, super critical to get that cooling down
right to the chip |evel

MEMBER DICICCIO M. Chair.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Di G ccio.

MEMBER DI CICCI O Kind of on point and not,
you know, these data centers do pay an insane anount of
tax, not just your personal property tax but also the tax
that like on APS and the City of Phoenix there's a
2 percent tax.

So if you're self-generating, do you pay
tax on that or not or is that a loss then to a city?

MR. DAVIES: No, because it won't be
self-generating. |It's sold back to the whol esal e market.
So everything they draw through this is not a
behi nd-t he-neter facility.

MEMBER DICICCIO.  On, really?

MR. DAVI ES: Yeah.

MEMBER DI CI CCI O  kay.

MR. DAVIES: Effectively, if we got out the

el ectrical one-lines here, you'll see there will be --
there will be neters between us, so everything is sl eeved
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t hrough El ectrical District Nunber 7, and they pay all of
the normal tax --

MEMBER DI CI CCI O | understand.

CHWN STAFFORD: | think it's safe to say
that at |east Menber Little would want to see that
one- | i ne.

MEMBER DI CI CCIO Then one last thing or
two dealing with the data centers and the Al that's out
there. Most everything being built nowis air cool ed,
isn't it? | mean, that's what ny understandi ng was.

MR. DAVIES: That's correct.

MEMBER DI CI CCI O Al nost everything now,
even the large Metas, that they're going to be all air
cooled, and they're getting away from - -

MR. MCKESSON: That's the best-in-class
t echnol ogy today, yes.

MEMBER DICICCI O Yeah. | want to make
sure that's on the record because the way it was soundi ng
it was |ike, yeah, you know, they're still on that
technol ogy, but ny understanding is that --

MR, MCKESSON: Like | said, in the old days
that's kind of how that was done, but | think as the
i ndustry has evol ved and t he technol ogi es have changed
you're starting to see that best-in-class design noving
toward air cooled -- not noving toward, is now air-cool ed
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chilling -- air-cooled chillers with cl osed-1oop
zero-wat er-| oss systens.

MEMBER DICICCIO  Right. And that's
critical for people to know, especially here in Arizona.
|'"ve gotten into so many debates on this thing. Everyone
beli eves you're just sucking up all the water, and it's
just not true.

MR. DAVIES: Yeah, and | can tell you
definitively our joint venture partner who owns the | and
with us will be using air cooled. And this is one of the
I ssues when you have power |and devel opers coming in who
don't have a custoner identified. They can't commt am|

going to use air cooled or am|l going to use water

cool ed.

This was one of the issues with Project
Bl ue down in Phoenix -- or down in the Tucson area. They
hadn't identified their customer yet. They -- you know,

It was runored to be AW5 but AWS hadn't conme in and
definitively said, "We're going to use air cooled."

So if you don't have a custoner who's going
to conmmt to air cooled and you want to keep your options
open, you have to put forth the worst water nunbers
possi bl e. But because we have a partner who's
definitively commtted to air cooled, it nakes it mnuch
easier for us to say, yes, we're doing air cool ed, and
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then we're not drawn into the question about, you know,
the use of the water resources.

MEMBER DICICCIO  But it's also good to
know and it's good for the public to know. | nean, |'ve
al ready kind of had an idea about this or actually knew
about it that al nost everything being built nowis air
cool ed, you know, just because of the technol ogy. |
didn't know about the technology of sending the cooling
down just the circuit itself or the chip itself. | think
that's just insane. |It's so cool. But it also lends to
why you're going in that direction too.

MR. DAVI ES: Yeah.

MEMBER DICICCIO. Al right. That's it.
Thanks, M. Chair.

MR. CONSIE: If you have any kids that are
ganers, they'll build and you -- and their dad' s an
engi neer, you build the conputer for them and so you see
the evolution in personal conputers where we went from
havi ng bi g heat sinks on the CPU, the central processing
unit, to then putting in punps and closed-air liquid
cooling. And then that eventually went over into the
GPUs t hensel ves, the graphics processor. So this is kind
of following along in that sanme evol ution.

MEMBER DICICCIO Well, everything we're
di scussi ng here today a good buddy of mne is one of the
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top Al designers around, and, you know, he told ne --
this was years ago he told ne what was going to happen,
and it's interesting that we're having this discussion
today. Mich of what's being covered today is sonething
he's already outlined to ne. And what's going to happen
in the future too is even nore fascinating.

MR DAVIES: So to help put it in
per spective, you know, why do you need this liquid to
chip rather than just air, you know, |iquid obviously has
a higher capacity to thermal conductivity.

Traditionally if you think about a server
rack, you know, alnost |ike they've got over there on the
IT, a traditional server rack is about two feet w de,
three or four feet deep and about six foot high. So
traditionally you' d have about 10 servers in there, and
each server woul d be about 1500 watts, so about a hair
dryer. So in the size of a server rack you' d have 10
hair dryers. Now that's |ike putting 10 hair dryers in a
smal | closet. That gets pretty hot.

What they're pushing to nowis 60 tines as
energy dense. So now take that sanme server rack and put
600 hair dryers in the size of a server rack, and that is
your heat transfer problem That's why you have to have
the liquid to chip, you know, extracting the heat on a
cl osed | oop, and then they can take it out to the
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air-cooled chillers.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chair.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Expanding on that a bit,
M. Davies, is there any current technol ogy to capture
t hat excess heat and back use it? |In other words, to
pull it off the glycol package and use it sonehow on the
front end to produce your energy?

MR. DAVIES: Not to produce it. It's a
fairly lowquality heat. | nmean, you're going to be
pulling this off at 120, 130 degrees as it conmes out sort
of thing. So it's not a very high-quality heat. You
know, in places |ike Finland and Scandi navia they'l| use
it to heat the greenhouses sort of thing, probably here
in Arizona, you know, less so. You know, up in Canada,
you know, where it gets cold and snows, you know,
potentially, but here it's a very lowquality heat
unfortunately.

MEMBER KRYDER: All right. So ground
source heating and cooling at one point in life. And,
yes, | know that it runs only in that tenperature range.
However, it can be stored and can be used | know, and |
was j ust wondering has anybody done any approachi ng on
that or is it just still way out on the edge?

MR. DAVIES: No one today commercially is
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capturing that heat, you know, in a place here |ike
Phoeni x, and even in Scandinavia it's mainly done for
carbon tax reasons. |If you capture the heat in Finland,
you don't have to pay your carbon tax.

You know, there is thermal storage used on,
you know, the cold side. Because what happens if you
have your power go off, you have to continue to power the
servers, but you al so have to continue to evacuate that
heat .

And so the question is are you putting in
UPS or uninterruptible power supplies just to carry your
IT load or are you putting it in to carry your air-cool ed
chillers?

And so when we tal ked about there's
generally a 50 percent HVAC | oad additional there, if you
don't want to put in UPS to carry that and you can
instead put in chilled water storage, that can carry you
the couple mnutes it takes to get your backup generators
back online, so they are using thermal storage, but
they're using it generally to store cool, not heat.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you.

MEMBER COVMSTOCK: M. Chair.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: | f you could at sone
poi nt address how you deal with fire suppression at the
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site and then what communi cation did you have during your
public hearings with | ocal residents about how that m ght
affect their neighborhood's prevailing winds in that case
or sonet hi ng.

How did you deal with that energency
notification criteria for residents or businesses around
t he area?

CHW STAFFORD: |Is that sonmething that's
going to be covered by a future panel, M. Mbyes?

MR. MOYES: It is, but we can ask
M. Consie to describe what fire suppression systens are
typical for the type of turbines that we're using as well
at the data center.

MR CONSIE: Right. So there's a
separation between the bal ance of equi prent and the
| arger plant and the specific gas turbines thensel ves.

So the gas turbines thenmselves will cone equipped with a
CO2 fire suppression systemthat is initiated on that
specific package itself, self-sealed. And then the rest
of the plant will be covered with a -- with a fire water
system which is generally nore what you would see in an
i ndustrial site.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: |'m | ooking at the
pl acemat again just for reference, and |I'm | ooking at the
diagram How far apart are the turbines from each other
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on the plant? 1Is it 10 feet? 1Is it 200 feet?

MR. CONSIE: Yeah, | think it's nore on
around 25 feet, but 1'd have to | ook at the exact
di mensions to see what that is.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: So if one unit does have
a problem the chances of the next one being caught up in
that is --

MR. CONSIE: Yeah, very limted. 1In
particul ar these gas turbines even though they're small,
and 1'lIl say small in, you know, 40 negawatts is
typically what you see in the 40-nmegawatt range out there
woul d be what's call ed an aeroderivative gas turbine. An
aeroderivative gas turbine neaning that it cones fromthe
aircraft industry, soit's -- in the aircraft industry
everything i s about weight.

So you want to have sonething very |ight.
You want to use very -- you know, very high-cost alloys
that have a high strength-to-weight ratio. You want to
use very thin casings on your gas turbines.

These -- these Sienens SGI-750s are
actual ly industrial gas turbines, so they have very thick
casings. The netals that are used to nake the bl ades
t hensel ves are nore commonpl ace because they don't have
to worry so nuch about wei ght because they'|l|l never get
off the ground. And that gives you this inherent ability
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to contain any problemw thin that casing, and then
outsi de of that you have the secondary encl osure itself.

MEMBER COVSTOCK: So from a private
citizen's perspective, of course, the anxious nonments are
when you see the black snoke until you see the white
snoke if that's a sinple explanation, right, because
water is going on it.

So what -- what would you say is an average
tinme frame for that fire protection to -- suppression to
kick in should that happen on a turbine?

MR. CONSIE: It happens in the blink of an
eye.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  So it's immedi ate?

MR CONSIE: And typically fromny
experience you know about it after it's already rel eased.
They give you naybe a three-second warni ng because it
dunps, so you mght be able to actually stop it from
dunping if you think it's going to -- it's a false alarm
But in ny experience, you re always finding out after the
fact.

MEMBER COVMSTOCK: So, sir, it's fair to say

that the public probably wouldn't even know that it

happened?
MR. CONSIE: They would not know that it
happened.
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MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Until later. | nean --

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Well, wuntil the
five o' clock news.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ri ght.

M5. JUSTUS: And, if | may, |I'll address
the question of sonme of the contacts with | ocal
governnents or local residents. W have done outreach
with some of the | ocal energency nanagenent departnents,
and, you know, if we're annexed into G endale or, you
know, whonever may be in the region, we do have plans to
work with the | ocal energency nanagenent providers so
t hey understand, you know, the risk profile of the
facility, what kinds of fire suppression we have, what
the standard protocols are for an enmergency and have a
conpl et e energency managenent package.

Now, that's not fully built out yet because
we're still fairly early on in the process, but we have
been having those conversations with sonme of the |oca
providers so they understand eventually when we're
tal ki ng about operations a few years down the |ine what
t he plan woul d be.

MEMBER COVSTOCK: Thank you.

MEMBER MERCER: M. Chai r man.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Mercer.
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MEMBER MERCER: | just want sone
clarification. W spent a |lot of tinme tal king about the
cooling that you're going to be using, and you tal ked
about all the different systens.

| heard soneone said that -- that you woul d
be using recycled water fromthe industrial park
nei ghbors. So is it going to be a conmbination or is it
going to be a specifically air cooling or water cooling?

MR, DAVIES: So for the data center, it is
air cooling. You know, what we're tal king about is for
the turbines it will have an evaporative boost. Wen
it's very, very hot, it wll use water and we'll talk
about the exact, you know, water consunption in another
part of the presentati on.

But that water can cone from one of three
areas. You know, one is we have water rights we're going
to be converting to industrial that will show that
it's -- you know, even if we were to use 100 percent well
water, it is, you know, significantly low | think it's
80 percent reduction approximtely fromwhat the current
agricultural use is. But nore likely we'd either be
usi ng muni ci pal water from EPCOR or ideally recycled
water. So we're in discussion with the neighbors to use
recycled water, but there's nothing been formally put in
pl ace at this tine.
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MEMBER MERCER: Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: The power plant wll also
use water for em ssions reductions, won't it?

MR. DAVI ES: Yes.

MR. CONSIE: These are -- these are
equi pped with dry | ow NOx burners thensel ves, which do
not require any water injection.

CHWN STAFFORD:  Okay.

MR. CONSIE: The gas turbines thensel ves as
Ken said, they actually have evaporative cooler on the
front end just to lower the inlet tenperatures com ng
into the front end of the conpressors.

MEMBER KRYDER: Right into your m crophone.

MR CONSIE: Sorry. But there is no water
i njection required for em ssions.

CHW STAFFORD: Okay. Thank you.
BY MR MOYES

Q M. Consie, since the question was asked about

the turbines and this particular technol ogy, you
nmenti oned the Sienens units and how they are not an
aeroderivative unit.

How does that conpare to sonme of the nore
commonly described turbines that this comrittee is
famliar with in recent projects such as Project Bella or
APS' s Redhawk Pl ant or the UNS Bl ack Mountain who are
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pl anni ng to use LM5000s?

Can you briefly -- I know we're junping ahead a
little bit.

A (M. Consie) Sure.

Q But can you descri be what makes these units
di fferent than those?

A (M. Consie) Yeah, the LM6000 engine is an
aeroderivative design. It actually is a conbination of
two smal | er gas turbines designs that cane together.
|'ve operated LM6000s. |'ve operated LMb00Os. And I've
operated LM2500s. And, again, these are nmuch lighter
variants of a gas turbine all in that, you know, 40 to
50- megawatt range, though.

O her than that, these particul ar engi nes, they
are a little bit sinpler in design than an LM5000. An
LM6000 actually has a | ow pressure conpressor and a
hi gh- pressure conpressor, and that is a little bit nore
technical as to how you go about doing that whereas these
are a bit nore sinpler in design, but yet -- and that
really lends to it being a much nore robust design than
you woul d get with an aeroderivative gas turbine.

CHW STAFFORD: And the LM6000, are those
capabl e of being dual fuel or not?

MR. CONSIE: Yes. Yeah, they could be dual
fuel on gas. They could be dual fuel between liquid
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fuel s and gas fuels.

MR. MCKESSON: But to be clear, we're not
usi ng those; right?

MR. CONSIE: No. Right. W are not using
LM6000s. These will be Sienens SGI-750s.

MR. DAVIES: So what | can speak to is one
of the reasons why we selected this kind of class of
turbine. You know, whether it be a GE LM6000, whether it
be Si enens, they have 700s, the 750s, the 800s. And then
sol ar turbines owed by caterpillar, they al so produce
i ndustrial turbines in this range.

Wiy the Sienmens? One, the new solar units
are not yet certified for dual fuel capacity. They won't
be certified on propane until at |east 2028 or 2029. And
then these 750 units, the Sienens, they are the nost
recent evolution of the Siemens line, and it has the
| onest NOx em ssions in the class.

So this is down to, you know, they wll
guarantee to us 15 ppm NOx, you know, pre-SCR.  They can
run as low as 9. They just won't guarantee that and then
t ake about 90 percent will be knocked out by the SCR  So
we're down at two and a half, you know, maybe even down
sub 2 ppm on NOx, which, you know, is industry |eading.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

Menber Fontes.
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MEMBER FONTES: Yes. Can you descri be the
sel ective catalytic reduction for ny coll eagues and how
t hat wor ks post-conbustion so that we've got that for the
record and then tal k about how the OEM Si enens does t hat
and if you're going to be -- if they're going to be doing
that work for you or if it's going to be done by another
subcontractor to them

Just | want to make sure we get that right
and use it as an education for the forum because sone of
us are famliar with it but not all of us.

MR. DAVI ES: Dan, do you want to take that?

MR. CONSIE: Sure. Once you -- you take
your exhaust, and we can kind of see it if we' re | ooking
at the right-hand screen there, you can see the air cones

in to the gas turbine through the inlet house, which is

up on --
MR. MOYES: M. Consie --
MR, CONSIE: Yes.
MR. MOYES: -- let nme pause you for just a
second. | think we have a | aser pointer that --

MR. CONSIE: Onh, hey.

CHW STAFFORD: And the slide you're at is
R30 from Exhibit 10, the presentation slides; correct?

MR. MOYES: That's correct, M. Chairman.

MR CONSIE: Now, | just need to figure out
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how to use this thing.
M5. JUSTUS: OCh, it just went across.
MR. CONSIE: There we go.
kay. So if we look at the figure we're
going to cone -- this is the inlet house on the front end

of the gas turbine. This is where all the conbustion air
and the cooling air cones into the gas turbine. And it
w |l come down through this section here through these
inlet baffles and then into the front end of the gas

t ur bi ne.

As it goes through the conpressor section
at the very end of that, it wll be conbined with fuel in
the case. In this case either natural gas or propane.
And then as that will conbust, it wll run through the
turbi ne sections which generate the power to turn the
conpressor or consequently the power turbine section
generates the power to turn the generator, and then the
exhaust gas wll turn, and it will go up through this
flue.

And in this area approximately for
illustrative purposes this will be where you'll have
your -- both your CO catal yst and your selective
reduction catalyst for NOx and CO eni ssions.

Now, the selective catalytic reduction unit
or SCRwll conbine anmonia and ammonia in a gaseous

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ

129



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025 130

form And when those -- when that exhaust, which
cont ai ns oxi des of nitrogen, conbines with the ammoni a
and goes through the catalyst, it actually converts the
NOx back to just nitrogen, N2, and water vapor and
essentially steps that process down so that what cones
out the stack is no longer NOx, but it's just el enental
nitrogen and essentially air.

MEMBER FONTES: |Is that the sane for
propane and natural gas and can you characterize the
di fferences on how that SCR treats those two fuel sources
just for my coll eagues' education?

MR. CONSIE: Yeah, so it will be alittle
bit different when you' re burning natural gas and propane
only in the amount of -- the amount of NOx that's present
in the exhaust upstream of the catalyst. Therefore the
anount of ammonia that's going to need to be conbi ned as
it goes through the catalyst to reduce that down to
el emental nitrogen on the other end.

MEMBER FONTES: And just to round that out,
so Sienens is going to do that all at one --

MR. CONSIE: Correct. Correct. That --

CHWN STAFFORD:. One at a tine, please. One

at a tine.
MR. CONSIE: Sorry.
Yes, that is correct. Sienmens wll be
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suppl ying the package that includes the -- both the CO
catal yst and the SCR cat al yst.

MEMBER FONTES: | hope that's useful,

M. Chairman. | just -- | live in this area, but | know
sone of our coll eagues do, and as we get towards the air
enm ssions discussion | wanted to make sure they had a
visual to go with this.

In a future -- when we get to it, |'mjust
| ooking then as a foll owup question on how your order
times with your equity capital injection are your other
permtting and i nterconnect, all that kind of lines up on
a master schedule to synchroni ze i nvestment decisions for
FID with order placenent and permtting so that we can
make sure that we're aligned with your needs.

So that's all | had, M. Chairman.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

So just to clarify, the selected catalytic
reduction is as effective at reducing NOx em ssions for
both propane and natural gas. |It's equally effective for
both fuel s?

MR. CONSIE: That's correct.

CHW STAFFORD: Okay. | just wanted to
make sure that was clear. Thank you.

Menmber Constock, you had a question?

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you, M. Chairnman.
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On the air intakes what are your
operational plans during a dust storm and considering the
area around where the plant is there's a lot of fall ow
farmfields out there. You' re going to get sone dust.

How are you going to deal with that?

MR. CONSIE: Well, there are both

prefilters and main filter elenments in the very front end

of that inlet house. And typically what -- what we w |
dois we will run through the storm and then on the
backsi de of that we'll go through and we'll change out

typically those front end socks as we call them because
they're very easy to get in, take off, and then rotate
out .

But, yeah, for the nost part, the equi pnent
is designed to be able to run through those periods as
long as -- and there will be extreme cases |'m sure where
we m ght have to cycle units on to be able to make
certain that we can keep the | oading on any specific
| oad unit | ower.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: So it would be like a
chess gane: You're going to nove one piece, start it up,
clean it up and clean up the one next to it or sonething
like that.

| just want to make sure everybody knows
it's going to stay on.
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MR CONSIE: Right. It wll stay on.
nmean, typically those events | don't believe are, you
know, days long. But, you know, it will be specific to
each event how rmuch, you know, dust we actually incur on
that site, which units are nost affected by it, and then,
yeah, for that we can stage that generation, go in behind
it, renove -- replace the socks and then continue to --

MEMBER COMSTOCK: It took ne two days to
cl ean the wi ndows at ny house in the |ast haboob, so just
| know you guys are famliar with it, but that dust does
stick, and it sticks around for a little while.

| just wanted to nmake sure there was a pl an
for it.

Thank you.

MR. DAVI ES: Yeah, can | ask we go back to
Slide 19 because, you know, you nentioned the fallow farm
fields, that it's a good tine to tal k about sone of the
| and use. There we go.

So what you're looking at here is this is
the land use in the area. The yellowthere that is
RU-43, which is, you know, rural agricultural wthin
Mari copa County. So we are bordered, you know, right now
to the north and the east by RU 43.

That, however, over tinme has been, you
know, peeled off, you know, increnmentally and, you know,
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generally converted to |ight industrial.

You can see immediately to the left of us
t hose are warehouses and sone beverage manufacturing
facilities for those of you who like Red Bull or Wite
Clawor, if you will, you can conbine them | wouldn't
recommend it, but that is what's to our west there.

Alittle bit to our south, let me see if |
can -- | need the right pointer. | can get it from Dan.
So that is a Nestle facility. | believe they produce
Nescafe, you know, pods there if you like your coffee.
That is Red Bull. That is Mark Anthony brew ng Wite
Claw. These are currently enpty distribution facilities
her e.

What you're seeing there in the blue, that
is the Luke Air Force accident potential zone, so as
fol ks di scovered unfortunately in Louisville a couple
weeks ago you don't want to build in that area if you can
avoid it.

Ri ght there just outside of the accident
potential zone that is Mcrosoft. That is all Mcrosoft
| and there as well.

What you see right there just south of that
is Aligned data centers. A lot of this will eventually
be built out with nore data centers for Aligned. Wy did
they only have one, not six, today? Because they don't
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have t he power.

Over here, this is Conpass. But, again,
this whole area here it's, you know, becom ng industri al
potentially including some of the Iand here. That is
owned by currently the Phoeni x Departnment of Aviation.
My understanding is that is available for sale and maybe
under contract at this point. | do not know who has
bought that.

This here is a conbination of agricultural,
sonme residential which we'll talk about, and | believe
there's a little parcel there that is owned by the
Cat holic church

That is owned by -- this one right here
that is owned by a suburban | and reserve, which is the
Mor mon chur ch

So those are our neighbors in that area,
but | think you'll see a lot of it being converted from
that, you know, agricultural. Sone of which is fallow
over tinme probably into light industrial.

Qurs is zoned heavy industrial which is
IND-3 within Maricopa County. To ny know edge this is
the only quarter section of heavy zoned industrial that |
can identify in the Phoenix netro area. So this is a
very, very unique -- it's already zoned -- heavy zoned
i ndustrial, you know, which is appropriate not only for

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025

data centers but also power plants.

That conmbined with the fact we're right
next to existing data centers and right next to a propane
storage termnal is why we've selected this site.

And then to, you know, flip through the
next few slides there's been a | ot of questions about the

appropri ateness of a data center and a power plant next

to an Air Force base. You know, we'll point out, you
know, the Air Force has actually -- has a directive out
there at -- Davis-Mnthan is one of the Air Force bases

that has put out an RFP specifically requesting data
centers and power plants, and it calls out natural gas
power plants in that Air Force RFP as a conpati bl e use
wth these Air Force bases. They see the advantage of
havi ng nearby m ssion-critical data centers as well as
the potential to draw on those power plants for base
needs if the event arises.

So we are still in discussions with the
base and, you know, going through their various
checklists to ensure that, you know, the base operations
are first and forenost. But we're having good
di scussions there and are very optim stic about that.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chai rman.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Qui ck question, M. Davies.
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What's the start date on construction if all the
approval s kick in place?

MR. DAVIES: So start date on construction
woul d |ikely be, you know, first ground, you know, being
broken probably B, end of @3, 4 of '26 is when you see
grading. And then you would get into, you know, ful
construction of the power plant and data center really
into '27 and '28. Currently we have our orders in wth
Sienens for first delivery of the turbines would be
com ng out of the factory in Sweden in Decenber 2027 with
a target online date for the first turbines of June 2028.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you very nuch

And that was one of ny questions al so was
the availability from Sienens on this. | read that there
Is a significant backl og.

MR. DAVIES: There is a significant
backl og, and there was a comment before about the timng
bet ween the custoner and the turbines orders, and |I can
assure you that has given ny private equity sponsors, you
know, no shortage of heartburn and put a | ot of gray hair
on ny head in the last six nonths, but we do have a fully
executed turbine supply agreenent with Sienens for all 18
turbines started delivery, again, the first ones com ng
off the line in Decenber 2027. And it's, if |I'm
remenbering right, it's about a two-and-a-half-year ranmp
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peri od.

We coul d have got those faster, but
ultimately we wanted to tine those turbines such that
they canme online | ockstep with the expected data center
ranpi ng.

MEMBER FONTES: M. Davies, when do you
antici pate awardi ng the EPC contractor? Because when we
get into the environnmental mtigation, you know, that's
sort of separate fromyou placing orders to Sienens.

MR. DAVIES: W have an EPC RFP on the
street right now, and it's put out to three of the
major -- 1'll say, you know, major power plant EPC. This
I's not the Bechtels of the world. [It's kind of the next
| evel down, but the sane fol ks who, for exanple, are
bui |l di ng out the expansi on at Sundance and have done a
| ot of data center work in the area.

So I'll have to check with ny counsel
whet her | can actually, you know, disclose the nanes, but
we've got that RFP hit the street about two weeks ago,
and we're expecting, you know, first responses towards
the end of the year, beginning of January.

MR, FONTES: So you woul d award next year
and have them on board, and they could start | ooking at
per project famliarity and then obviously we can factor
that into CEC final wording for the mtigations?
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MR. DAVIES: Yes. W expect to have them
you know, selected by QL. And then, you know, dependi ng
on how fast the data center gets its custoner, then we
will likely go full notice to proceed probably @B of next
year, including all --

MEMBER FONTES: Let ne finish ny thought on
that. It m ght be useful for you.

So we do mtigations in the CEC that we
i ssue, and we'll |ook for the EPC contractor because
you' re dependi ng upon them So that tim ng of that as
you may be able to disclose would be useful when we get
to that part of the deliberations here towards the end of
this proceedi ng.

MR. DAVIES: Okay. Thank you.

MEMBER FONTES: Yep.

CHW STAFFORD: Back to the turbines real
qui ck.

So you expect delivery of the first
turbines in Decenber of '27?

MR, DAVI ES: Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: How | ong ago did you pl ace
the order for those initial ones?

MR. DAVIES: The reservation -- or initial
reservation went in | think July 1 of this year

CHW STAFFORD:. So | ooking at a
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two- and-a-half-year tinme frame to get the turbines?

MR. DAVIES: Two and a half year, yeah.

CHW STAFFORD: Because |'m hearing
different lead tines on these. Depending on the source
" m hearing up to seven years. Two and a half is nuch
nore workable tine franme than seven years. | guess it
depends on the nodel and the manufacturer of the turbine,
| guess. [|I'mguessing the wait tinme on LM5000s is backed

up significantly nore than two and a hal f years.

MR. DAVIES: W' ve heard runors that in the
past two weeks soneone's, you know, cone in and placed a
multibillion order wwth GE and bought everythi ng out
t hrough 2029, everything they have. And | can't speak
to, you know, the veracity of that, but, you know, it's
certainly sonething on our mnd. And every project it's,
you know, hey, we got to call up and | ook under the rug
for the proverbial turbines where we can find them

So we feel lucky to partner with Sienens on
this.

CHW STAFFORD: It sounds |ike the turbines
have a scal pi ng problem just |ike concert tickets al nost.

MR. CONSIE: 1've got a couple LM5000s |
can place you with if you need to, Chairmn.

MR. DAVIES: | think what you're seeing
here is a ot of folks are comng into the market, and
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sone of them have, you know, the ability to place the
specul ative turbine orders, and | think not all of them
are going to see the light of day. So, you know, we have
i nternal debates weekly on are turbine prices going up or
down. | think, you know, sonme are going to come back on
t he market .

CHW STAFFORD: GOkay. Thank you.

Menmber Fant, you had a questi on.

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

A question for Ms. Justus actually.

Let nme give you a hypothetical and ask one
guestion. Let's say Jimy Joe redneck truck driver
sitting at hone not feeling well and snokes a bunch of
hi s medi cinal marijuana and then gets out and conmes over
to do a delivery over there at the natural gas liquid
storage facility, and he backs his truck up over the
wel | head and knocks it off, and you get a -- let's |eave
It at that scenario.

Wth these NG |iquids, are they |ight
enough you'll get it released to the atnosphere? That's
one questi on.

Nunmber two is have you done a bl ast
consequence anal ysis on scenarios up to a worst-case
scenario if that occurred?

M5. JUSTUS: Actually, I think | may defer
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that question down to M. Consie or we nay have to foll ow
up on that.

MR, DAVIES: | can take sonme of that. So
we have done a bl ast consequence anal ysis of the propane
and NG trains. Because if you were to |look at the --
your site maps, you can see that on the both the east and
the south side of our site is rail. And what happens
especially during the injection season, so over the
sunmers, they will bring those rail cars down from
Enpress termnal in Canada, and they will back up al
al ong the south and the east side of our site.

Needl ess to say the data centers are pretty
nervous about this, so we've gone through the studies and
done the blast analysis using the sane Bl ast X software
which is used by the DOD to anal yze, you know, bl asts,
you know, at mlitary facilities, and it cane back saying
safe, not a problem you know, fromthe train.

Now, to answer the question about the

wel | head, | can tell you that, you know, if you were to
zoominto the satellite -- they have three well heads
there. They are -- you know, have prevention from anyone
driving into them | can also tell you that we' ve had,

you know, one of our investors who also used to run the
Navy Red Cell vulnerability analysis for al
i nfrastructure and bases around the world, he has been to
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the Bunstead site. He has | ooked at that.

He'll tell you if you really knew what you
were doing -- this is the nost decorated Seal in U S.
hi story. He could tell you howto blowit up. |'mnot
going to put that on the public record right now.

Sol will not tell you that, you know, the
Bunstead facility which is already there is conpletely
i npenetrable. But, you know, we already have plans on
how to, you know, beef that up should that be needed, you
know, depending on the custoner who conmes to the data
center.

CHW STAFFORD: Okay. So it sounds |ike
there -- it's not invulnerable to attack say, but it

seens like it's been pretty idiot proof from accidents,

and - -

MR. DAVIES: Yeah, so --

CHW STAFFORD: -- with truck drivers
backing into the well it seens that they've -- they seem

to pretty nuch mtigate that risk.

MR DAVIES: And I'lIl say that is the
exi sting Bunstead facility, you know, which that's at a
hi gher pressure than in the rail cars.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay.

MEMBER FANT: My -- let's go with the rai
cars just for a second. | used to work for Mobil Gl as
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a EHS | ead attorney, so |I'maware that NGO cars,
especially in the heat, will burp NG. So if you' ve got
any vatos | ocos who are wondering through that area
snoking cigarettes, you have a potential problem

So have you thought about security around
the rail cars?

MR. DAVIES: W have. W have | ooked at
bl ast walls and berns between us and the rail cars, yes.

W' ve decided -- | think, you know, at
| east our view is that it's not needed based on the bl ast
studies. You know, propane and NG.s it's, you know, nore
flash and | ess bang.

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Fontes, you had
anot her question?

MEMBER FONTES: | did. | want to go to
proj ect need and benefits and | ook at the cost.

" mnot | ooking for precise here. |'m
| ooking to characterize for this proceedi ng how the
I ncrease in the current market demand for the turbines
units is going to drive your |levelized cost of energy for
both your data center and then if we're going to provide
some of that to the grid for sale.

Again, |I'mnot | ooking for precise because
| don't want to get into proprietary confidential, but I
want to be able to characterize that so we can capture
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and have awareness on how the current supply chain is
causi ng devel opers such as yourself to |ook at that and
it's inpacting your project need, purpose, and econom CS.

MR, DAVIES: Sure. So for a gas peak on
like a renewable facility we don't really think about the
| evel i zed cost of energy, it's nore of the what is the
cost of capacity. So if you told these facilities
whet her they be told to a third-party marketer such as,
you know, anywhere froma Tenaska to a BP, a Shell, or a
Morgan or whether it be told to an SRP or an APS, you
know, that's dollars and kilowatt nonth is really the
primary nmetric.

It's fair to say that $15 a kilowatt nonth,
you know, probably would have cut it, you know, four or
five years ago. You're going to need al nost doubl e that
in the market in all-in revenue stack in order to finance
these facilities.

We' ve seen the overall cost of gas turbines
cl ose to double and if you're believing the GE nunbers
al nost triple in the past three years.

You know, the whisper nunber on the GE
purchase that | heard was $2,000 a kw just for the
single-cycle gas turbines, whichis -- which to put in
perspective is 2x the all-in cost that you woul d have
seen five to seven years ago.
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MEMBER FONTES: So if a |oad-serving entity
were to take that, it would be a higher capacity paynent
much nore substantial now, and it's going to continue to
get worse so that nore project we can get in the ground
faster is going to alleviate that?

MR DAVIES: 1'll take a different, you
know, angle to that, which is, you know, as both ED7,
APS, and SRP t hi nk about, you know, how to structure
their rates, it's going to be very inportant to
ring-fence the cost of these new capacity and assign it
to the data centers who are causing the problem You
can't blend that sort of capacity into the overall rate
and pass it to the ratepayers because that will have very
negati ve consequences on everyone from honeowners to
commercial to agricultural.

So this is one of the big questions
obviously in front of the Corporation Conm ssion. But
one of the issues that we've been working through wth
ED7 to make sure that it is -- you know, the other
rat epayers aren't conpletely ring-fenced and if anything
there's a system benefit charge, so we expect, you know,
by the tinme we get through all these rates with
El ectrical District Nunber 7 that the data center wll
pay its fair share and then a little bit extra, which
w |l keep the cost down on the other ED7 ratepayers,
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i ncl udi ng both agricultural users and the Gty of
Sur pri se.

MEMBER FONTES: You m ght have covered that
earlier, but | had to be offline. | just wanted to nmake
sure we captured that for the purpose and need here.
That's very, very useful. Thank you.

MR. DAVI ES: Thank you.

MR MOYES: M. Chairman, | mght just as a
matter of housekeeping, | want to make sure we reserve
enough time before we close at five o' clock to be able to
present our virtual tour so that the nenbers have sone
context visually before they go out there in person
tomorrow. |'mthinking we probably need 15 m nutes,
Sarah, for that part?

MS. JUSTUS: Yes.

MR. MOYES: So maybe at 4:45 we pause and
transition to that.

CHW STAFFORD: O we could take a brief
recess now and cone back and do the virtual tour. And
then we'll recess from approximately around 5 to 5:30
when we cone back for public conment.

MR. MOYES: That works as well.

CHW STAFFORD: So let's take a 10 to
15-m nute recess now. And then when we cone back, we can
commence with the virtual tour.
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MR. MOYES: Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

We stand in recess.

(Recess from4:30 p.m to 4:47 p.m)

CHW STAFFORD: All right. Let's go back
on the record.

M. Moyes, | believe we were about to
enbark on the virtual tour.

MR. MOYES: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Sarah, are we ready to go on that.

M5. JUSTUS: Is it the right or left
poi nter?

AV TEAM MEMBER: It's the right.

M5. JUSTUS: Thank you. Yes, we're ready
to start with the virtual tour.
BY MR MOYES

Q Pl ease proceed.

A (Ms. Justus) W're going to start very large
scale wth the regional view and you can see the green
words "Project Baccara" there as we zoominto the site.

There we go.

So, again, Luke Air Force Base is down here,
this hatched area, and this shows the different
jurisdictions, Gendale in blue, Surprise yellow, E
Mrage to the east in green.
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And then we're going to continue to zoomin wth
the green outline on the project site. You can see the
railroad and this is where the transm ssion is |ocated as
wel | on the east side.

And now we're | ooking we're | ooking fromsouth
to north. The City of Surprise is up here north of the
site. dendale is to the west and you can see the
i ndustrial park, industrial area here imediately to the
west. Now we are |ooking south. It is about a mle from
the bottom of the project here toward Luke Air Force
Base.

And then to the east | know Ken poi nted out
M crosoft which is about over here, and we're | ooking
toward EIl Mrage in this direction.

Now, we've got an overlay on the site, the same
di agram that's on your placemat that shows the genera
high |l evel layout with the data center buildings on the
|l eft or the west side of the property. The turbines are
in this yard here on the east side of the property. The
APS substation in the northeast corner of the property.

On our tour tonmorrow you'll see the
KOP | ocations or key observation points. The first one
is to the north of the site. This is the nearest
residential area on the north side. You can see the
di stance to the project here. W wll go on our tour and
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stop at both of those KOPs, and this is the intersection
of Aive Avenue and 143rd Avenue on the southeast corner.
That's is our second KOP.

And our third is really an aerial overview, so
you can see the project within the context of the overal

i ndustrial area here. And then zooned out a little bit

nor e.
So, again, the turbine yards on the east side,

data center buildings on the west. W wll also stop on

the tour in the industrial area where we will be able to

get out and | ook directly at the property.

MEMBER HILL: M. Chair.

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber H I I.

MEMBER HILL: | was wondering if we could
pul | one of those maps back up and can you point to,
i ke, the nearest residential pieces? Because | am
trying to kind of understand the viewshed issues and
other things as a --

MS. JUSTUS: Yes.

MEMBER HI LL: -- function of this.

M5. JUSTUS: Yep. So this is -- the one
you were just at would be a good spot. Thank you.

MEMBER HI LL: That | ooks great.

CHW STAFFORD: kay. So again, again, the
green outline is the project location. To the north the
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nearest residential area is right here. So KOP 1 is a
spot we wll stop and | ook down in this direction.

KOP 2 is here right at the intersection and
there are a few residences here along Aive Avenue. And
then down on this part of 143rd Avenue. So we w Il be
able to stop and see both this KOP and where those
resi dences are.

And then we wll conme around -- so
basically tonorrow we are going to cone down through the
industrial park to dive. W wll be able to go right
here on Hatcher Road and stop right at this edge and get

out and be standing here to | ook at the property plot.

W will get back, go down to Aive Avenue,
you'll see the Aligned data centers which were nentioned
are under construction down here, and then we'll go al ong

O ive Avenue past the site. The first stop would be
KOP 2 -- sorry, second stop at KOP 2.

And then we're going to go down to
Litchfield Road and then back up to Peoria where we w ||
come down to KOP 1.

So these are the closest residents on the
north, but there are, you'll see nmuch nore residenti al

area on the other side of Peoria Avenue. So we w ||

drive down there as well, and then kind of cone back.
So we'll basically be boxing in the site on
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all four sides, stopping at three different spots to see
it fromdifferent viewpoints.

MR. DAVIES: Do you have the ability to
pul | up the before and after for KOP 1 on this?

M5. JUSTUS: Thank you. So here -- and we
w || have anot her opportunity when we tal k about vi sual

resources to |l ook at these, but just as an exanple of the

KOPs.

So this is KOP 1, again, this is the one to
the north. So we have -- this is the existing condition.
What you can see here are -- is the existing under

construction transm ssion |line, west valley connect that
is built here. And this |ine will be broken and tapped
down into the APS station back here.

So in the sinulated condition you can see
there's two nore transm ssion poles than are there
already. That's for breaking the line to go into and out
of the new APS substation which would be back here.

And then you can see -- | knowit's
difficult wth these -- the TV screens here, but you can
see the tops of sonme of the turbines right in here.

So we will be able to cone to this location
on the street tonorrow and stop and get out and | ook at
this area.

MEMBER LI TTLE: M. Chai rnan.

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025 153

CHW STAFFORD: Menber Fant had a question,
and then Menber Little.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Thank you.

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair. Sorry.

Can you show ne where the propane storage
facility and the NG. storage facility are |ocated,
roughl y?

M5. JUSTUS: It's actually right on the
edge, you can see the "PG' of "LPG' in that blue circle.
That's the storage facility in Bunstead there.

MR. DAVIES: To be clear, that is the rail

t erm nal

M5. JUSTUS: OCh, sorry, yes, the rai
term nal

MR. DAVIES: So that's where they unl oad,
and you'll see the unloading facility. But it's about

two and a half mles to the east and then to the south --

VMEMBER FANT: Ckay.

MR. DAVIES: -- on the other side of the
Nort hern Parkway, the facility is, the storage.

MEMBER FANT: So it's not near the site.

MR. DAVI ES: No.

MEMBER FANT: Ch, okay.

M5. JUSTUS: It's just -- yeah, it's the
rail termnal that is right near at this spot here.
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CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Little.

MEMBER LI TTLE: If you could go back to the

map that shows the whole -- not that one. That one, but
alittle bit further to the east. That one is good.

Thank you.

That area that is the right above the words

"Litchfield Road," is that a farn? |Is it residences?
VWhat is that?

M5. JUSTUS: | believe this is industrial.
I'"d have to zoomin a little nore to see exactly what it
iS.

MR. DAVIES: But what it's zoned and what
it is my be different. | think it's nore just storage.
I"mpulling it up on Google Maps as we speak.

M5. JUSTUS: But we will drive right past
t hat spot.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Ckay. Good. Thank you.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chairman.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: If you could explain on
Aive and, jeez, what is it, 143rd Street, why do you
have the little -- why doesn't it go right to the
i ntersection, the boundary of the project.

M5. JUSTUS: On, this little cutout here?

MEMBER COMSTOCK: What's preventing you
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fromdoing that?

CHW STAFFORD: Well, there's a rail line
and transmi ssion line that curves. |[Is that what you're
tal ki ng about ?

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Yes.

MR. DAVIES: On the outside of that curve
that is owned by Santa Fe Railroad. So they own that
little extra. They have -- it's a rail sort of |aydown,
you'll see sone extra track and things |ike that just
parked on kind of the outside of their curve.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Perfect. And follow ng
143rd Street up to the northeast corner, the little
extended line, why did we go down the road that far?

MR. DAVIES: That -- we don't have any
plans to go all the way down that far. That was just the
parcel boundary as it was drawn.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: As it's drawn.

MR. DAVIES: You know, it's just on the
west side of the rail.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

MEMBER HILL: M. Chair.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Hi Il .

MEMBER HILL: So |'m conparing the -- |
forget what they're called, KPO -- KOPs.

MS. JUSTUS:. Yep.
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MEMBER HILL: To the map on R19, slide R19,
where it shows the zoning.

The Iand north of the project and east of
the project is zoned residential. |s any of that
currently platted or are there entitlenents there?

M5. JUSTUS: So these areas are zoned RU 43
rural residential. However, because they are within the
mlitary high noise and acci dent potential zone,
residential is not allowed there.

So even though the zoning says it's rural
residential there are no -- the County will not issue any
nore residential permts since 2010 in that area because
the statute around the high noise and acci dent potenti al
zone has -- does not permt residential wthin the zone.

MEMBER HILL: So the high noise and --

M5. JUSTUS: Accident potential.

MEMBER HI LL: Thank you.

M5. JUSTUS: It's a nouthful.

MEMBER HI LL: Thank you for the words.

Ext ends beyond kind of the airport district. Because
| -- 1 guess | was thinking it was just part of the
airport district and not --

M5. JUSTUS: The accident potential zone
was shown earlier in blue. So that's a smaller area that
is the airport zone, that's accident potential zone. The

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025

hi gh noise, so it's all bundled together in the statute
as high noise and acci dent potential zone.

MEMBER HI LL: Ckay.

M5. JUSTUS: But the accident potenti al
zone is smaller, and then the high noi se extends beyond,
there's contours around that with different deci bel
| evel s identified to them

And so there's different all owances within
t he hi gh noi se area.

The entirety does not allow residential.

MEMBER HI LL: Ckay. But it does allow for
this type of use, the industrial use.

MS. JUSTUS: Yes.

MEMBER HI LL: Ckay.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chai rman.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: A question for M. Justus.
What current crop or what was the |ast crop that was
grown on the |land that you have?

M5. JUSTUS: | believe the [ ast one was
alfalfa. There was a potential that it was going to be
seasonally planted with alfalfa. The last tinme |I was

there a couple weeks ago it had not yet been planted.

Historically, though, it was actually roses were grown in

t hat area.
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MEMBER KRYDER: Roses.

MS. JUSTUS: Historically, but nore -- the
nost recent was alfalfa.

MEMBER KRYDER: Historical five years or
507

MR. DAVIES: Two years ago.

MEMBER KRYDER: Two years ago. Ckay.

MR. DAVIES: Yeah. So the prior | andowner
who owned this parcel and a |ot of what's being devel oped
to the west, what's being devel oped to the north,
gentl eman naned Leyton Wholf. He's a rose grower, so
these are not cut roses. These were potted roses, so if
you go to your Lowe's and Hone Depot chances are they're
grown by M. Wolf. He's -- given the |and val ue here
he's noving a lot of his operations down to Pinal just
nort heast of El oy.

MEMBER KRYDER:  Ckay.

M5. JUSTUS: And actually, when we talk
about the |l and use and the planned area devel opnent this
is actually called the Wholf Logistic Center PAD, is al
of this industrial right here.

MEMBER KRYDER: And what's the water use
per acreage on alfalfa per year?

M5. JUSTUS: That | do not know but we do
have the 2024 water use that we wll be --
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MEMBER KRYDER: Four to five acre feet.

M5. JUSTUS: Ckay.

MEMBER KRYDER: Five to six, actually.

MS. JUSTUS: Yep.

MEMBER KRYDER: And | was wondering what it
was for roses. Do you have any idea?

MR DAVIES: It's pretty close. W have --
we have the 2024 was a rose crop, so we do have that.
It's not right in front of us.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. Typically, grow ng
veget abl es and high-value itens like this, | would
classify it as vegetabl es, bedding plants typically are
simlar to alfalfa which is four to six acre feet per
year. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Are there any ot her
guestions about the virtual tour?

MEMBER MERCER: M. Chai r man.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Mercer.

MEMBER MERCER: Speaki ng of water usage, |
notice on the virtual tour there was several of those
plats that have trees. What kind of trees were they?

M5. JUSTUS: Yeah, there is a citrus grove
in here. So what you saw in KOP 1 up here as trees in
t he di stance, those are citrus.

MEMBER MERCER: Oranges, | enons?
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M5. JUSTUS: |'mnot sure what type of
citrus.

MR. DAVIES: | believe they're oranges. |
won't say it's an actively managed grow h.

MEMBER MERCER  Ckay.

MR. DAVI ES: You m ght see sonme Longhorn
cattle, you know, grazing anong the orange trees.

MEMBER MERCER: Thank you.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chairman.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Ms. Justus, do you have a
before and after picture of KOP 27

M5. JUSTUS: Yes, we do.

MR. DAVIES: And as you pull that, she was
tal ki ng about the housi ng devel opnent there, that housing
devel opnent at the end of 144th, that was originally
slotted for | believe 18 hones. Six have been built and
12 sites wll never be built on since the noratorium of
2010.

M5. JUSTUS: So this is the KOP for area 2,
So again we're --

MR. DAVIES: Sorry. Sorry. | was speaking
of the other KOP. You said 2. | heard 1

M5. JUSTUS: In this area we are here's
Aive Avenue and 143rd Avenue. So we're right by that
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rounded corner that you had asked about.

So this is the existing condition at the
intersection. So this is the area that right here as Ken
menti oned you can see, |ike, sone, for lack of a better
term sone debris fromsone of the railroad operations in
this corner.

And then this is the sinulated condition.
So you can see nore of the facilities fromthis
direction, you're closer, and there is | ess vegetation
and ot her existing screening in this area.

So this is the side that is closest to the
power generation side as opposed to the data center which
Is further west.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: So if | may, one
foll ow-up. How high is the privacy wall around the
facility?

M5. JUSTUS: So one of the things we've
| ooked at in terns of discussion for mtigation potenti al
Is looking at what type of screening or wall or other
I tens.

We've tried to talk to sone of the
nei ghbors and people at the open houses about various
types of mtigation, a wall has cone up a nunber of
tinmes.

So right now, what we have sinul ated as
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sort of a worst-case scenario, which is the -- what's
required by zoning. But we certainly anticipate that one
of the itens that may be discussed in mtigation is
putting sonething, nore of a privacy wall in there.

MEMBER COVMSTOCK: So what's required by
zoni ng?

M5. JUSTUS: What's required by zoning on
this side of the property, it depends on what the
adj acent property is zoned. So on this side is
essentially a fence that you can't see through. So
that's oftentinmes like a slatted chain link, so you have
sonet hi ng going through the chain link to prevent your
vi ew t hr ough.

On the north side we have --

VMEMBER KRYDER: How hi gh?

M5. JUSTUS: Eight feet | believe is the
requirenment.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you.

M5. JUSTUS: On the north side because we
are bordering residential zoning, RU-43, it does require
a block wall at a mninmm of six feet.

Again, I'mnot saying that we're going in
saying that's what it should be, that is the m ni num
requirenent. But we do expect to be discussing in
mtigation what options may be desired by the community
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and others for inproving that situation.

MEMBER KRYDER: What is -- what are those
white guys?

M5. JUSTUS: Those --

MEMBER KRYDER. O down here, these guys.

M5. JUSTUS: So what you see back here in
the distance is actually | ooking at sone of those
i ndustrial buildings in the backdrop.

MEMBER KRYDER  Ckay.

M5. JUSTUS: So you're looking all the way
across the property here.

In this area here, | believe that nay be
some of the -- I'd have to | ook at the schematic to see
exactly what this is.

MR. DAVIES: | believe what those are on
the schematic, those are the chilled water storage tanks
whi ch may be used by the data center to ride through for,
yeah, for cooling purposes.

So if you were to | ook at the data center,
it has a lot of large towers lined up along the side.

You know, that's the current design. And, again, that's
the thermal storage. Now, does it have to be white? No.

MEMBER KRYDER: Didn't realize that. Okay.
Thank you.

MEMBER HI LL: M. Chairman.
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CHW STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Little.

MEMBER LI TTLE: A nunber of the residents
who nade comrent said they live in the Copper -- |I'm
sorry. | can't --

MS. JUSTUS: Copper Canyon.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Thank you. Can you poi nt
out where that is on the overhead?

M5. JUSTUS: We need to see the area north
of the property on the north side, so one of the nore
zooned- out pictures.

So if you see at the top of this area is
Peoria Avenue. W'Il| be driving east to west on Peori a,
and Copper Canyon is just on this north side of Peoria
Avenue is where it begins. It's a |arge subdivision and
goes significantly nore north than, but that is begi nning
of it is the north side of Peoria Avenue.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Ckay. That's what |
t hought, but | wasn't sure. Thank you.

MEMBER HILL: And while we're here, just to
confirmon the north side, you do have to put a wall.

MS. JUSTUS: Yes.

MEMBER HI LL: Ckay.

CHW STAFFORD: A six-foot block wall |
bel i eve she said.

M5. JUSTUS: That's the zoning requirenent,
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and it's based on what the zoning of the imedi ately
adj acent parcel is. So if you're inmmedi ately adjacent to
a residential zoning which RU-43 is, then it requires
that m ni mum si x-foot bl ock wall.

MEMBER HI LL: Ckay. In terns of visual
mtigation, is there any discussion about the paint and
the color of the towers and those kinds of things going
on? And --

M5. JUSTUS: So we have been asking sone of
the community that came to the open houses about
potential mtigation.

Sone of the things | heard were tree
pl anting, a higher wall, or nore of the wall around.
Those have been the big ones. | would say paint color
hasn't necessarily come up, but | certainly woul dn't
preclude discussing it if that was sonething of interest.

We do generally try to have a fairly
neutral color palette in here. And then there are sone
ot her things.

So we are anticipating discussing
mtigation later on in this week and have both things
that the community has raised that we are open to doing
and al so sone additional ideas that we are |ooking to
pr opose.

MEMBER HI LL: Super. Look forward to that
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conversation. Thanks.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. W are -- it's
now after five o' clock. W have public coment com ng up
at 5:30. M. Myes, | believe the route tour and map is
your Exhibit 177

MR. MOYES: That's correct.

CHW STAFFORD: So | guess the plan wll be
to reconvene here at nine a.m and then you talk us
briefly through what the physical tour will |ook |ike.

MR. MOYES: Yes, we have a van that w |
acconmodat e 20 people, they will be here at 8:30, but
we'll plan on leaving the property at nine. Qbviously we
have room for the court reporter, all the commttee
nmenbers, nyself and a few of our witnesses. And we
expect that tour to last probably until lunchtine. We'l|
return here to the hotel for lunch and then continue the
hearing fromthere.

CHW STAFFORD: All right. And then for
W tnesses on the tour, who -- it be this entire panel or
a select few?

MR. MOYES: We won't have -- we will have
nmysel f, M. Davies, M. Justus and whoever el se we have
room for at that point, depending on how many nenbers are
here in person tonorrow.

CHW STAFFORD: All right. And then so |
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guess what we'll have to do is if you don't have the

appropri ate person to answer any question by a nenber,
we'll just have to -- we'll have conme back and get the
answer | ater when we cone back and resune the hearing.

MR. MOYES: Yes, we will take notes of any
guestions that weren't answered on the spot and nake sure
we address those in foll ow up.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

MEMBER HI LL: Can you estimate the drive
time to the site?

M5. JUSTUS: Traffic dependent, it could be
45 mnutes, plus or mnus 15 m nutes, depending on
traffic to get to the site.

The actual circling of the site dependi ng
how | ong we stay out, | nean, if -- |I'mthinking probably
20 mnutes to do the full circuit, but if we end up
talking nore it will be longer than that. So the |ongest
part is getting out there. And we're just going straight
up Northern Parkway.

MEMBER HI LL: Gkay. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: All right. Excellent.

Wth that, we will recess until 5:30 at which time we'l
resune with public coment.

We stand in recess.

(Recess fromb5:10 p.m to 5:30 p.m)
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CHW STAFFORD: Back on the record. Now is
the tinme set for public coment for line siting case 253.
After | call your name, please cone to the podium Each
speaker will have three m nutes.

Qur first speaker will be Charles Lowy.
And pl ease spell your |ast nane for the court reporter.

MR LOARY: M nane is Charles Lowy,
Ch-a-r-l-e-s, and then Lowy is L-0-wr-y.

Good afternoon, Chair, Conm ssioners and
menbers of the commttee. M nane is Charles Lowy, and
I"'ma real estate professional w th Berkshire Hat haway
Home Servi ces, Arizona Properties.

|'ve worked in the valley market for nearly
three decades. |In today's market buyers are extrenely
sensitive to anything that affects nei ghborhood
desirability, and that includes nearby industrial-scale
ener gy projects.

| reviewed the full application for Project
Baccara. The devel oper conpleted air quality nodeling,
noi se nodeling, cultural surveys and other technical
anal ysis. Those are inportant. But none of them
addresses the inpact on property val ues.

There is no eval uati on what soever of how a
700- megawatt natural gas industrial facility will affect
near by hone prices.
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This is a significant omssion in the
public comment record. Residents repeatedly raised
concerns about property values, yet the applicant
provi ded no nodel i ng, no appraisal nethodol ogy, no
third-party assessnent, and no market inpact analysis in
the official filing. The only reference to property
val ues appears in a single slide buried on the project's
websi te.

| reviewed it. It sinply shows general
hi storical home prices with no dates and no analysis. It
does not address risk, fire behavior, proximty inpacts
or how this specific facility may affect the hones
cl osest to it.

It is not an inpact study. |If the
appl i cant has credi ble evidence that this project would
not harm nearby honme val ues, it would appear in the CEC
application. It does not.

As a real estate professional | can tel
you that the market absolutely reacts to |arge-scale
i ndustrial infrastructure near residential nei ghborhoods.
| ndependent research on power plants, manufacturing
facilities and chronic industrial noise consistently
shows neasurabl e reductions in nearby hone val ues.
Typically 3 percent to 12 percent.

On a $400, 000 hone that's $12,000 to
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$50, 000 or nore in lost equity per household. Those are
real financial consequences for real famlies.

G ven the scale of this project and its
proximty to thousands of hones, it's not reasonable or
responsi ble to nove forward w t hout an independent
property val ue i npact analysis. The burden is not on
residents to prove they will be harnmed. The burden is on
the applicant to denonstrate that they wll not.

| respectfully urge the conmmittee to
protect the long-termfinancial security of Surprise
homeowners and deny this project at this |ocation. Thank
you for your tine.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Next up we have
April Butler.

M5. BUTLER  Good evening. | forgot the
rules. April --

CHW STAFFORD: | think the court reporter
knows how to spell Butler. So |I think you' re good.

Pl ease proceed.

M5. BUTLER:. Okay. All right. Thank you.
Good evening, Chair, Conm ssioners, and conmttee.

Mari copa County taxpayers of the west valley are counting
on the transparency and responsi bl e energy pl anni ng that
shoul d be at the forefront of all decisions nade in
respect to Project Baccara.
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Approving this certification would nost
certainly affect the water in the best valley in the
Phoeni x area, inpacting many citizens who have no voice
i n these proceedi ngs beyond nonents |ike this.

We need to do everything we can to sl ow
wat er usage. Protecting this valuable resource in
Arizona and certainly denying this application is crucial
i n our desert environnent.

Proj ect Baccara | acks transparency and
there's a big lack of faith and trust in Takanock which
is fairly new, an entity described as working in stealth
node with zero conpleted projects, two in planning, both
w t h expansi ons al ready announced.

It's inportant to point out that of the
enpl oyees of Takanock, they don't even live in Arizona.
They won't be breathing the air with the particul ates
that are released fromthe turbines while their children
play in the backyard with the sound of them running.

It's not their animals that wll be at
unease with the constant hum and vibration fromthe
data -- fromthe power plant.

| share with you an article dated 11-20-25
in the Traverse Ticker. It covers the data center that
was pulled in a town that heavily opposed the proposed
center. This town is Traverse City, Mchigan, honme of
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Takanock.

Takanock i s downplaying the i nmmense toll
and the burdens such a devel opnent woul d have on the
area's natural resources. Discounting any worries of the
health that may |ater affect residents, environnental
i ssues that would affect communities and the ecosystem

| keep asking how are you going to cool
this equipnment? We're still evaluating sources but
attenpting to utilize recycled water, I'msorry, |I'm
uncertain if the recycled water specifically could be
used in the data center's closed-l1oop circul ation system
| believe so, but not 100 percent.

Because we don't have finalized agreenent
on the water, we don't know yet. Recycled water.

Exactly how nmuch coul d be used versus other sources.
That's still to be determned. Wile that is the
groundwat er right available, we anticipate using nuch
less. We don't have faith in those statenents.

In three mnutes | can't begin to explain,
but it's not feasible to cool this sensitive equipnent
wi t hout addi ng contam nants from process to recl ai ned
wat er and costing a fortune not only in process but in
the repairs, maintenance, and repl acenents.

Any water fromlocal factories reclainmed is
not usable for this process. They wll use heavy anounts
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of our Arizona water.

| leave you with this fact: Arizona is
using triple the anount of groundwater conpared to a
decade ago. Slow these approvals, deny this application.
Protect our water supplies, protect our health. The
Commi ssi on should stand with the people that it serves
and listen to the 4500 and counting that have signed this
petition to stop Project Baccara. Thank you for your
tine.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have
Shawn Hut chi nson. Please state and spell your |ast nane
for the record.

MR. HUTCHI NSON:  Shawn Hut chi nson,
Hu-t-c-h-1-n-s-o0-n, resident of Peoria, Arizona, about
eight mles west of -- or east of this project. Just
here representing nyself, really, and partly ny day job.

| run a -- the state's |argest
apprenti ceship training programfor apprentice
el ectricians, and | could tell you that projects like
this are really needed in our community.

|"ve spent 35 years in the construction
i ndustry thus far here in Arizona. |'ve spent the lion's
share of ny tine having to commute to Chandl er and East
Valley cities to have a job that pays |iving wages or
anything close to, you know, sonething that is

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ

173



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025 174

sust ai nabl e.

The jobs that are created at a place |ike
this, Project Baccara, are sustainable jobs. There's
career-supporting jobs that are good for the comunity.
The location of this, I've spent 15 years as a planning
and zoni ng comm ssioner. |'ve never seen a devel opnent
group so open with the community and bei ng open about
what their plans are for this site, which is well suited
for the area it's in. It's an industrial area.

And it's right at the end of the runway of
Luke Air Force Base. |If anyone's going to conpl ain about
noi se, they probably should listen to those F-35s that
fly over now.

But | would really appreciate your support
for this project. Not just for nyself and the
construction industry, the future of Arizona's security
of this country, and keeping data centers first and
forenost for what we have here in Arizona.

It's -- it is -- it's been a good couple of
years for construction. | don't want to see what
happened in 2008 ever happen again where we | ose nore
than hal f of our construction workforce due to a downturn
in the economy. \When construction jobs are lost they're
|l ost for areally, really long tine.

And to keep the security and the econony of
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Arizona noving forward, we need projects like this to
keep sustai nabl e enpl oynent for our construction industry
and to keep our apprentices going and keep our journeynen
in careers that will sustain thenselves and the famlies
and econony of the state.

If we don't have a construction workforce
that can build buildings for incomng industry, we won't
have i ndustry comng into Arizona anynore. W need to be
able to be at the ready to be able to build projects |ike
this, have the expertise for this and keep Arizona a
destination for nore projects like this in the future.
We're a grown-up city now, we have to act like it.
Projects |like this absolutely help us in the econony.
They hel p our jobs, they hel p everything.

So I'mgoing to ask you pl ease support this
project. And let's keep Arizona noving forward. Thank
you for your tine.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next is Lisa
Everett. Please state your nane and | ast nanme for the
record.

M5. EVERETT: Lisa Everett, E-v-e-r-e-t-t.

| "' m speaking in favor of this project. |

feel, one, everyone has been quite open and transparent

wth this process. |'ve been to a couple of
informational neetings. |'ve exchanged e-mails. |'ve
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al ways gotten responses and |'mvery appreciative.

The west valley is growi ng as everyone in
this room knows. And power is critical. And | feel this
project is going to fill in the gaps where APS is | acking
right now And if you |look at all the charts that were
shown today and I know a | ot of you weren't here, but
they did show how Phoeni x has al ready many, nany data
centers and there are areas that are ahead of us in
havi ng data centers.

| feel it's inportant because we all use
Al, we all use Google, all of these things. And | know
it's made ny life a ot easier. And wthout data
centers, we're not going to have that.

They're just sonething that needs to exist,
and I'mgrateful that you guys have | ooked at an area of
| and that was al ready zoned heavy industrial. That is
huge.

Because that -- that nmeans if it weren't
you, It would be soneone else in that area. So |
understand there are people not in favor of this, but
there's going to be sone sort of project industrial in
this space, and why not be sonething that benefits us
al 1 ?

What could benefit us nore than having nore
power and havi ng our phones actually work? So |I'mvery
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supportive of this.

|"mgrateful for the communication. And |
feel that we need to be very cautious when we're speaking
about this and make sure that we have the facts that we
have gotten the information fromfol ks |i ke you guys.

Everything | heard today was given under
oath. And that to ne carries a |ot of weight. So folks
aren't just saying what we want to hear. They're giving
facts because they have to. And that's very inportant to
nme. | appreciate it and | strongly support the project.
Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

Next up is Karen Church.

M5. CHURCH. M nane is Karen Church
Ch-u-r-c-h. And I'mfromthe City of Surprise. Bear
with me if | shake when | talk. |'msorry.

In the shimering heat of our desert hone a
different kind of mrage is taking shape. A future
cl ouded not only by dust stornms but the possible
em ssions of Project Baccara.

Do we truly want to have the | egacy we
| eave for the west valley to be a permanent |ayer of snog
and industrial hum and depleted water table? The primary
conponent of natural gas is nethane, which is responsible
for 12 percent of all U S. global warm ng em ssions,
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trappi ng nore heat per nol ecul e than carbon di oxi de.

Met hane is 86 tines nore harnful for the first 20 years
after it is released into the atnosphere and the danage
cannot be erased.

As a west valley citizen, it's inportant to
be -- to nme that our | eaders make smart deci sions and do
all they can to protect our environnental health and
nat ural resources.

The Cean Air Act requires the EPA to set
air quality standards that limt the |evel of em ssions
com ng fromspecific sources to protect public health and
the environnment, including those fromgas-fired
conbustion turbines. The EPA has not updated their
hazardous air pollution standard for these turbines since
2004.

Qur state can and shoul d i npose stronger
standards to protect the health environnent of Arizona.

| f our | ocal |eaders decide to not
chal l enge this proposed project, they are directly
deciding to put their constituents at risk for various
heal th i ssues.

| would strongly consider these decisions
that are made during the next elections as | would think
many ot hers would as well. Agencies have been put in
pl ace to protect us and we as Arizonans shoul d encourage
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our local and state governnent to do so and hold them
account abl e.

Anyone who has spent a short tinme in our
beautiful state could tell you we don't need to add to
the climte change and the pollution concerns we already
have. Gas turbines emt hazardous toxins which are a
harnful class of 188 toxins known to cause cancer, neuro,
cardi o, kidney, lung, reproductive danmage and ot her
negati ve inpacts such as prenature death.

O those 188 toxins one of the primary
poi sons resulting fromnatural gas conbustion is the
toxi n known as NOx, which is highly dangerous and it is
known as a precursor, neaning it chemcally reacts wth
ot her substances to produce additional pollutants and
causes snoke and soot poll ution.

Pl ease, | urge you to strongly consider the
choice in front of you for the |ong-term sustai nable
health of our desert communities, our air quality and
preci ous water resources.

| ask what will our state and our water
supply ook like in 10 years? Please slow down the
approval of these projects in our Arizona desert where
the state is already struggling with its water supply.
Thank you.

| also want to state that Arizona's quite
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big and we have a | ot of desert out there and there's no
reason that if they have to do sonmething like this, it
coul d be put where harm -- where hones won't be harned,
farm ani mal s and people, and we don't have to breathe it
and we don't have to listen to the noise. So, thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Next up is

David Wrth.

MR WRTH. Hello, nmy nanme is Dave Wrth,
WIl-r-t-h. And | lived in the west valley ny entire
life. And | have six kids, a beautiful wife. 1've

t aught hi gh school physics and -- high school physics at
the college level as well for over 30 years. Enjoyed ny
j ob.

| live in the Copper Canyon nei ghbor hood.
Just next to Peoria Road. And about half mle fromthe
proposed 700- negawatt power plant and data centers. Yes,
' m concer ned.

You know, | love -- | love technol ogy. |
love my Al. | love to teach using the Al, it's a |ot of
fun. But ny research, including research using Al tells
me that the proposed project is too close to an
est abl i shed nei ghbor hood.

| have two main concerns. First, the power
plant is too close for proper air dispersion. This is
basic science. |I'msure you can recall a tinme when
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sonebody sprayed a strong deodorant or perfune in a room
and how unbearable that was. That perfunme needs space to
di ssipate. The harnful chemicals that Ms. Church just
spoke about needs space to dissipate.
The proposed project with 18 exhaust stacks
72 feet tall, the nost anmount of stacks fromany simlar
project in the entire country, regardl ess of the scrubber
systenms will emt sonme toxic gases. There's no debating
that. These gases |ike perfunme need space to dissipate.
Research shows that a half mle distance is
not enough space for that to take place. |'m concerned
about the health of ny famly and for ny conmmunity.
Secondly, 1I'm concerned about the constant
noi se this project will produce. One m ght think that
this | ocation makes sense, where it's not uncommon for
the residents to hear F-35s fly overhead just |ike the
gentl eman from Peoria nentioned. Yes, the F-35s are
| oud. But what nost people don't realize is these
flights usually conme together in clunps. And in between
the flights there's long periods of quiet. Quiet in
between. It's a very peaceful place, believe it or not.
Eveni ng and weekends are usually very quite
and it's enjoyable to open the doors and wi ndows at ni ght
during this tinme of year, and we are enjoying that right
now, opening those w ndows up and enjoying the cool air.
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It's beautiful.

But this will be destroyed by the constant
hum of the plant, data centers, not to nention the fact
that sound waves like to travel further on cool er nights.
Anot her basi c science fact.

| fear that this project will take away
fromsone of the tranquility of our community and cause
for sonme sleepless nights in the future. | don't want

that for me or for nmy famly.

In short, | support technology. | Iove
using Al. But this is not the right location for this
massive project. | ask that you deny this application

and encourage this conpany to build this project in a
nore appropriate |location. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have
Troy Mortensen.

MR. MORTENSEN: Hello. M nanme is Troy

Mortensen, Mo-r-t-e-n-s-e-n. |'ma fourth-generation
native to Arizona. |'ma resident of the -- in the
affected area. |1've lived for there for 18 years.

built nmy honme there, raised ny famly there, built a
stable and happy |life. And like thousands of others,

| ongstandi ng, |ike other -- thousands of other

| ongst andi ng residents here, | am profoundly concerned
wth the inpacts of the Takanock Project Baccara as ny
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home is only 2,000 feet away fromthe proposed site.

| am part of a community opposition group
of over 450 -- or 4,500 petition signature of residents
who believe this project will harmour quality of life,
reduce our home values, and alter the very character of
t he establ i shed nei ghborhood.

We're not opposed to progress, we are
opposed to placing an industrial -scal e 700- megawatt
facility in the mddle of an existing popul ation center.
|'ve been there for 18 years. They have not.

Especially when other suitable, |ess
popul ated | ocati ons exist, and when the applicant has not
denonstrated that the project is even necessary. Over
t he past several nonths Takanock's actions have raised
serious questions about the integrity and transparency.

| have been to open house neetings,
reviewed the posted materials and asked questions. The
answers received seened to reqgularly gloss over rel evant
facts and concerns. Facts that were just brought up
here. Sonetinmes facts are used to push a particul ar
narrative.

For exanpl e, the proposed noi se study
suggests that there will no notable increase in the noise
| evel s after the project is conpleted and fully
operational .
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The applicant's consultant conducted the
noi se study in August 2025 and cl ai ned that average
noi se -- that the average noise level to be approximately
49 deci bels for the | owest neasured hourly anbi ent noise
| evel .

The consul tant then conpared the existing
hourly average noise |level to the proposed constant power
pl ant noise level that they estimte to be near
49 deci bels. That is conparing apples and oranges.

When conparing an average sound to a
constant sound that the plant will produce,
purchased -- | purchased ny own noise testing equi pnment
and conducted experinents in nmy own nei ghborhood.
found that the existing average noi se |evel during the
daytime to be approximtely 40 to 41 deci bels and even
qui eter at night. This -- this of the Project Baccara
noi se study rai ses some serious concerns.

To add nore concerns with the integrity of
the study, residents recently |earned that the noise
study personnel were accessing testing |location site
nunber 3 in the environnental study, and the report may
have entered or approached or approached private property
wi t hout notice, without witten right of entry approvals
and wi thout providing the required insurance protections.

You can read a copy of the letter that was
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in the ACC docket. These were not snall oversights.
They reflected disregard for the community rights and
i ndustry standard practi ces.

And they mrror a broader pattern.

Takanock has repeatedly and subtly altered project
descriptions, technical term nol ogy and i npact narratives
to present the project nore favorable Iight to approving
aut horities.

These are not clarifications, these are
strategic refram ngs that underm ne trust in the
applicant's credibility. These concerns are anplified by
Takanock's response to an Cctober 8, 2025, letter from
Luke Air Force Base which confirnms that Project Baccara
site lies wwthin the ADLDN contour risk zone, a zone
governed by state statute A R S. 28-8481, which
explicitly identifies utilities, scientific instrunments
and certain comruni cati on.

I ntrusive use is not conpatible with the
| ocation, yet the project includes a 700-negawatt
utility, 18 gas-fired turbines, a major substation and a
data center containing professional and scientific
equi prment, exactly the uses prohibited by the statute.

In a presentation response back to Luke Air
Force Base's letter, Takanock did not provide a
legitimate explanation for how this project can legally
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exi st wthin the ADLDN. They have hired retired mlitary
experts to address other aspects of their concerns and
the base's letter, but never addressed the glaring fact
that Project Baccara is a utility and cannot |egally

exi st in the ADLDN.

| nstead they have --

CHW STAFFORD: M. Mortensen, you' ve gone
over your three mnutes. Are you al nost done?

MR. MORTENSEN:. Yep, al nost there.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right.

MR. MORTENSEN: One nore point. |In an ACC
docket filing, this was filed on Novenber 24th right
before this neeting, a letter fromACC Staff to the
Ari zona Corporation Conm ssion Chairman cited -- Staff
cited an i ndependent grid inpact evaluation conducted by
Energy Strategies to assess the project's grid inpacts
usi ng APS's 2028 Heavy Sunmmer 845 base case, and
perform ng both an N1 and N-O conti ngency anal ysis, the
study found that the existing queue and pl anned
transm ssion lines already neet reliability needs w thout
t he Takanock project. Any possible overloads are
mtigated by future transni ssion projects or higher
gueued generation projects. In other words, the project
Is not needed for systemreliability at this time, so why
force a population center -- why force on a popul ation
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center that doesn't want it.

Luke Air Force Base also said that their --
in their October 8 letter that this project, and this is
a quote, "will not inpact the energy resilience of Luke
Air Force Base. They don't need the project for power or
data center."

So I'"I'l just ask why -- how -- how can this
project be justified when it violates state |aw,
conflicts with Luke Air Force Base safety standards,
damages establi shed nei ghborhoods, and is not even
required for grid reliability. To be short, |'ve got
nore but --

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you, M. Mortensen.

MR. MORTENSEN. Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Up next we have Beth
Mort ensen.

M5. MORTENSEN: [|'m sure you know how to
spell ny |last nanme now, but it's Mo-r-t-e-n-s-e-n. Good
eveni ng, Conmmi ssioners and nenbers of the commttee. And
thank you for allow ng the public a chance to speak
t oni ght .

As | said, my nane is Beth Mdrtensen, and |
built my dream honme 18 years ago that as ny husband
stated is 2,000 feet away fromthe proposed Project
Baccara site. MW famly and | have |lived there, we've
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rai sed our boys there and we had planned to retire there.
| have read and inspected the 399-page
hearing bi nder that Project Baccara has submtted.
al so understand that this conpany like it has been stated
before is very new and has not conpl eted a project of
this scale and has never actually built a power facility
before. That al one raises questions, but the nore | read
the nore questions |'ve had.

|'ve attended neetings. | have |listened
carefully. | have e-mailed and received responses, and
yet every time |'ve asked a question | only get fragnents
of an answer, either the data center answer or the power
pl ant answer. But never an honest answer about the
i npacts of the full conbined project. Wiy is that?

W are told the project will use | ess water
than farmng did, which is true. And that sounds
conforting until you realize sonething very inportant.
The agricultural water here was roughly 80 percent
surface water. This project relies on 100 percent
gr oundwat er .

So | nmust ask has anyone eval uated the
I npact of converting the primarily surface water
operation into a groundwater only punping systemin a
community that depends on private wells |ike m ne?

Famlies living next to data centers only
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have al ready reported rust particulates in their water
fromtheir wells and significant drops in water pressure.

| f that happens with just a data center,
how can ny well possibly survive a 2,000-f oot -away
natural gas power plant and 2-m|lion-square-foot data
center conbi ned?

And if nmy well is danaged, who is
responsi ble? Wio will protect ny famly? Wo wll buy
my home so | can start again sonewhere else that's safe?

When | built ny hone in the mlitary flight
path, | was required to follow strict restrictions that
were in the state statute AR S. 28-8481. The | aw was
designed to prevent unsafe and i nconpati bl e devel opnent
in a high noise, high accident potential mlitary zone.

So I nust ask, if ny fellow neighbors can't
get permts because of the mlitary zone safety concerns,
how can a massi ve gas- powered power plant w th noise,
em ssions, wells and | arge volunes of natural gas storage
be consi dered conpatible? Does this not directly violate
t he purpose and the intent of the state statute?

You are being asked to approve the project
that has to date no mlitary conpatibility permt. Wy
is it being rushed ahead of the very determ nation that
establ i shes whether the project is legal or not in this
| ocation? On top of that, the conpany's em ssions and
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I npact nunbers consistently fall just under regul atory
t hreshol ds, conveniently under every tine.

CHW STAFFORD: Ms. Mortensen, you're at
your three mnutes. Can you please wap it up?

M5. MORTENSEN: Yes. How is the public
supposed to trust the nunbers, especially froma conpany
Wi th no track record?

| will say this is not just a data center,
it's not just a utility project. This is in reality the
| argest natural gas power facility ever proposed by a
br and- new conpany with no experience, and Ari zona
residents are being used as a test case.

Wul d you feel safe living this close to
sonething like this? | don't. Please consider denying

this project. Thank you for your tine.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have

Roy Dunbar .

MR. DUNBAR: Roy Dunbar, D-u-n-b-a-r. And
good eveni ng.

We have to say sonet hing about the Project
Baccara data centers. After all, half the discussion
this afternoon was about the data centers. The Takanock

pl ant col |l ocates the power plant and data centers.

Wthout the data center there will be no power plant and
w t hout the power plant there will be no data center.
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To give you an idea how | arge these data
centers are, they will consist of 2 mllion square feet
which will cover 23 acres of |and and consune what --
until this afternoon what | thought woul d be
700 negawatts of peak load, but it turns out it's
sonet hi ng over 500 negawatts at peak | oad.

And ny research |last night, using Al,
indicates that this will be probably one of the |argest
data conplexes in the U S. to date. Takanock nust know
what the noi se inpact of the data centers will be to
near by residential areas.

But they don't deal with it in their brief
or in their certificate of environnmental conpliance.
They nmust know about the unrelenting 24/7 nature of the
noi se fromthe cooling systens and servers. The
particularly intrusive even indoors noise is -- hang on
here. | got | ost.

Ckay. The 24/ 7 nature of the noise from
the cooling systemand server, the noise is typically a
| ow frequency humthat the human brain finds difficult to
filter out, making it particularly intrusive even
i ndoors. W have seen interviews of residents who have
the m sfortune of living near data centers, and they
descri be the noise as off the charts on deci bel reader
ops and they even say they feel it behind their eyes.
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Near by residents report noise |levels from
di esel generators of up to 90 dBA

The inmpacts to health and quality of life
i nclude but are not limted to sleep disruption,
inability to concentrate, increased stress, anxiety,

m grai nes and even potential cardiovascul ar effects due
to increased bl ood pressure. Al this information is
avai |l abl e on the Internet.

There will be noise from di esel generators
kicking in at 90 dBA fromchillers according to Takanock
at approximately 97.3 dBA, but we don't how many chillers
are going to be running continuously.

The noi se inpact to honmes within one half
mle will be significant. The constant humw || be
audi bl e both indoors and out, possibly violating
EPA-recommended ni ghttine of 45 dBA

The noise is likely to be heard in hones
one mle fromthe facility where | live, especially at
night. The |low frequency of the nature sound neans it
can still be detected as a pervasive underlying drone.

The Takanock noi se study |argely concerns
the noise levels of the power plant and barely touches on
the noise enm ssions fromthe data centers. Their clains
need to be substantiated nore conpletely.

Takanock states that the noi se em ssions
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w Il not neet the threshold of three dBA above anbi ent
noi se |l evels at night, yet on the sane page just two

par agraphs down, they state that the noise level will not
exceed three dBA.

CHW STAFFORD: M. Dunbar, you're over
three mnutes. Can you please wap it up.

MR. DUNBAR: |'m al nost finished. They've
had all afternoon, if we get three mnutes. Okay.

Takanock clains that in any event
utilities, conbustion turbines and startup generators are
exenpt from Mari copa County noi se ordi nance P-23.

Per haps so, but not when such |arge plants
are located with noi sy nega data centers so near to
residential areas. W are against this nmassive
i ndustrial project so close to hundreds of hones, and
some honmes are |located | ess than one-half mle from

proj ect grounds.

And one |l ast statenent. | assure you we
are not under any del usions about -- oh, shoot, what was
it? Jason said delusions about having -- what was the

word? Yeah. Romantic notions about having power plants
out in the desert. W have no romantic notions about
havi ng power plants out in the desert. W have no
romantic illusions about this project, and we request
that you deny it.
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CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have
Ki mber |y Dunbar.

M5. DUNBAR. My nane is Kinberly Dunbar
D-u-n-b-a-r. At the nmonent | feel like |I'm David facing
Goliath. But upon retirenment 13 years ago we noved to
this quiet community of Surprise. W were surrounded by
rose fields, cotton and wheat fields, we could hear the
sounds of coyotes at night and | ook at the dark skies
wi th the nunerous stars.

But it didn't last long, as the fields
turned into | arge warehouses, and the so-called |ight
i ndustry took away that once-held beauty and qui et ness of
an evening, all for the sake of progress, they said.

So we can no | onger open our w ndows at
ni ght due to the constant humof a refinery. And we can
no | onger hear the sounds of nature.

And now we're facing a bigger threat to our
wel | -being as authorities attenpt to construct a nassive
data center and power plant so close to our
nei ghbor hoods, schools, churches, soccer fields, and
parks. And for what? Because profitability seens to
supersede all respect for those who established their
honmes and raised their famlies in this area.

Al of us who stand here today opposing
this build have done the research, we know what this
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project will truly do to our hone within a five-mle
radi us and even beyond.

It is not for the benefit of people. Not
one of these plants built around the country have ever
been for the benefit of the residents. 1've watched
nunmer ous vi deos, we've done many interviews, by desperate
residents fighting against this exact build and seei ng
the disastrous results. Not one of you can honestly say
that would you raise your famlies or invest in your
honmes next door to a massive polluting and conti nuously
noi se- maki ng pl ant.

Takanock makes statenents that are all --
that all is well, knowing full well this is not the case
and never will be. Surprise gets no benefit. You
utilize our vital resources to create collective chaos
and once noney changes hands you wal k away and never | ook
back at what your conpany has caused the residents and
the community.

We're asking you to reconsider and we are
opposing this project vehenently. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have
Trever Fl eet ham

MR. FLEETHAM  Good eveni ng, Chair, nenbers
of the commttee. M nane is Trever Fl eetham
F-1-e-e-t-h-a-m
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I"'mwth the City of Surprise Community
Devel opnment Departnent. We have been nonitoring this
project due to its proximty to our city boundaries.
Cty staff and city council have had numerous neetings
and briefings and di scussions regarding the project
details, and we received significant feedback from our
residents, so I'mhere tonight to help try to convey what
we' ve heard from those residents.

So the -- the residents propose that that
projects significant environnental health and safety
concerns for the residents nearby and | egal concerns due
toits proximty to dense nei ghborhoods and Luke Air
Force Base.

Key issues include continuous air pollution
fromnatural gas generators, 24/7 industrial noise and
extrenely high water consunption that could strain | ocal
resour ces.

Resi dents al so fear reduced property
val ues, increased public safety risk, including aircraft
m shap exposure, and the hei ghtened hazard potenti al
posed by an adjacent LP gas yard, and clear
i nconmpatibility with nearby hones, schools and parks.

Additionally the project conflicts with
Luke Air Force Base operations and is not conpliant with
AR S. 28-8481, which prohibits inconpatible | and uses
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near mlitary airports to protect mlitary mssion safety
and viability.

Thi s rai ses serious operational and
statutory concerns, particularly because comruni cati ons
and utility facilities are not permtted within the ADLDN
noi se contours under state |aw.

And the proposed facility directly violates
these statutory restrictions.

So in sunmmary so what we've heard fromthe
residents is concerns related to air pollution, noise
pol l uti on, water use, property values, public safety,
conpliance with state statute, and conflicts with Luke
Air Force Base m ssion and conpatibility. Thank you for
your tinme.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have
Hol I i e Tol machof f.

M5. TOLMACHOFF: Hi, I'"'mHollie Tol nachoff,
spelling that out, T-o-l-ma-c-h-o-f-f.

My husband Jack and | live in the one-acre
community just south of Peoria between Bullard and
Litchfield. W have four young children, ages 9 to 2,
and while we've only lived in our neighborhood for a year
and a half, our roots in the west valley run generations
deep.

Most peopl e recogni ze the nanme Tol machof f
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and Tol machoff Farnms, but our famly's history extends
far beyond that. John F. Long, the devel oper of
Maryval e, nanmed the community after his wife, Mry

Tol machoff. My | ate grandfather served as a chief at
Luke Air Force Base and noved his famly to Maryval e
where our parents net.

One of ny nother's first jobs after high
school was working as an accounting specialist for John
F. Long before dedicating the last 36 years of her life
to the Maryval e School District. Qur famly of six is
built on history, service, and deep Arizona roots. W
are proud of the community that shaped us and we are
fully invested in preserving it.

We noved intentionally, |eaving a suburban
nei ghbor hood for a rural one so our children could
experience a childhood |ike the one our famlies knew.
We pull our water froma well, grow our vegetabl es,
harvest fruit fromour small orchard, and raise chickens
for eggs and neat.

Every day our children clinb trees, race
across the grass, check out our neighbors' cattle and
catch toads at sunset. This is the life we hoped for
them a chil dhood connected to | and, comunity and
sinmplicity.

Project Baccara planned just a half mle
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fromour honme is threatening all of this. Every night at
di nner our children pray for this project to be noved so
they don't have to | eave the honme they love. And it's
heart breaking to watch them worry about sonething no
child should have to worry about.

It's painful to see Arizona push our
agriculture and famlies in favor of nmassive industrial
devel opnents, prioritizing profit over the people that
have lived, worked, and built their lives here for
generati ons.

Takanock, the conpany behind this project,
has showed us exactly how little they value us. They've
trespassed on private property, using our neighborhood
road to gat her photos and sound studies only to use that
i nformati on against us in their presentations.

They refused to build a sound barrier on
the north side of the property, instead planning to rely
on the Justus Brothers orchard trees which may or may not
be there once this is built, to save thensel ves noney.

Their response to concerns about constant
noi se fromturbi ne engi nes, diesel generators and
i ndustrial coolers is that the jets from Luke Air Force
Base are already loud, as if that justifies addi ng even
nore sound to our community.

| was personally approached by Sarah
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Justus, the project manager who offered to donate to

i nprove a | ocal park where ny children can play, a clear

attenpt to soften the inpact that they know this project

will have on the health and the safety of our famly.

The conpany is not here for us. They're not here for our
nei ghbors. They're here for profit at our expense.

So today |I'm not just asking, |'m pleading
that you help us stop this project. For the sake of our
smal | nei ghbor hood, for the generations who canme before
us, and for the safety and the well-being of thousands of
Arizona residents who'll be affected by this project.
Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have
Jack Tol machoff. D d you not -- you did not wish to
speak?

MR, TOLMACHOFF: No.

CHW STAFFORD: Up next we have Natasha
Peters. You do not wsh to speak either? Ckay.

Cesar Corral

MR. CORRAL: Good afternoon, Comm ssioners.
Thank you for the opportunity to speak today. M nane is
Cesar Corral, that's G o-r-r-a-I, and I'ma proud
carpenter but nore so a proud Arizonan. Qur carpenters
have spent their career building the structures that keep
Arizona noving forward, schools, hospitals, energy
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facilities, data infrastructure.

And |I'm here today because Project Baccara
is exactly the kind of project Arizona needs right now.
Let ne be clear, for the skilled trades this isn't just
another job. This is alifeline of real, high-quality
work. Work that keeps hundreds of |ocal famlies
supported, insured and rooted in this state.

When projects |ike this nove forward our
menbers don't have to chase work across state |ines.
They can stay here, they can be present for their Kkids.
They can build a stable future and the comunities that
they help construct. But beyond the jobs, which matter
greatly, there's a larger |ogical case to nake.

We all know Arizona's econony is grow ng
faster than the infrastructure that supports it. Data
centers are now just as essential as roads and power
lines and our water lines. They're the backbone for our
hospitals, our schools, our small businesses, our public
safety systens and the entire digital econony.

Wt hout nodern infrastructure we fall
behi nd. Project Baccara hel ps ensure that we don't. And
here's what really stands out. This devel oper has
approached the project responsibly. They' ve engaged the
community, they've been transparent wth the workforce.
And they've shown respect for safety, environnental
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conpliance, and long-term planning. They're not cutting
corners. They're investing in doing this right.

As a carpenter | take pride in building

things that last. | want to put my skills to work on
projects that strength ny state and not just fill ny
cal endar .

Proj ect Baccara offers real opportunity,
not just for workers like ne, but for Arizona's
conpetitiveness, reliability and econom c stability.

| also want to touch on sonething that
of ten gets overl ooked in these conversations. For
workers |i ke nme, having projects here at honme neans
everything. It nmeans we can stay in Arizona, support our
famlies and not have to chase work across state |ines.

The truth is the luxury of worrying about a
few deci bel s of noise isn't sonmething nost construction
workers Iike ne get to have. W work where the job is,
we don't get to turn down the jobsite. Noise is a part
of our daily reality.

What we do care about is having steady,
reliable work in our own communities so we can be present
for our kids, take care of aging parents and contribute
to the |l ocal econony rather than living out of a
sui t case.

Projects |ike Baccara give us the stability
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where | can tell ny famly I'Il be honme for Thanksgi ving,
and I'Il be honme for Christnmas. They give us a chance to
build a life here, not two states away.

For the sake of our workforce, nmy famly,
our famlies, and our state's future, | respectfully ask
you to support Project Baccara.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

Up next we have Sean Lopez.

MR. LOPEZ: Sean Lopez, L-o0-p-e-z.

Thank you, Chair and nenbers of the
commttee. M nane is Sean Lopez and | proudly represent
approxi mately 2,000 | ocal union nenbers for Local 84
| aborers here in Arizona, nmany of them|local residents.

|'"'mhere in strong support of Project
Baccara because it neans real, steady work for hundreds
of skilled local workers. Wrk that keeps fanmlies
stabl e and apprentices noving forward.

Projects like this are what all ow our
nmenbers to stay in Arizona, earn good wages and build the
communities they call hone.

But it's bigger than jobs. Arizona's
econony is growing. The infrastructure that supports it,
data and energy capacity, are now as essential as roads
and water lines. |If we want to keep schools, hospitals,
busi nesses and public safety systens functioning
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reliably, we nmust invest in nodern infrastructure, and
Proj ect Baccara delivers that.

What stands out is the devel oper's approach
that communi cated with us. They've comunicated with the
community. Their safety standards are high, which align
with | aborers and skilled trades.

Lastly, on a personal level, |I live in the
west side, | bought a house there |ast year, very close
to other data centers and substations. As a |oca
resident | can say that these projects, they don't bother
me or ny famly at all.

| already see inprovenents in ny |oca
roads, ny local infrastructure, nore schools, nore parks,
nore tax revenue for the comunity. And it's actually
i ncreasing nmy property val ue.

So | bought a house last year and |I'm
al ready making noney on it due to a lot of this
infrastructure that's going in.

For the sake of our workers and Arizona's
| ong-term conpetitiveness, | urge you support Project
Baccara. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next we have
Jonat han Dai |l ey.

MR. DAILEY: Good evening. Jonathan
Dailey, D-a-1-Il-e-y.
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' malso a proud nenber of LIUNA Local 1184
| aborers union. | don't want to repeat anything that's
been said before, they've pretty nmuch nailed it. But on
a personal |evel, our apprentices and our nenbers, the
two thousand that were just stated, those represent
famlies such as m ne.

| ' m bl essed enough to have ny wife be a
stay-at-home nom W're renting on the west side right
now from just noving and now we're in the process of
buyi ng on the west side.

So it was stated before that the nost
inportant thing to us is followng the work and foll ow ng
the noney for those famlies at hone. And we have to go
where the work is. So the closer we can work to hone the
better to us.

This represents a real opportunity for
working famlies. |It's steady hours, strong benefits,
hands-on training for apprentices, these projects keep
our nmenbers working and give themstability they need to
stay rooted in this state.

This project, Project Baccara, is also a
smart, necessary investnent. Data infrastructure
supports nearly every part of nodern life, which was
stated earlier. |If Arizona wants to stay conpetitive and
prepared for growh, we nust build projects that
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strengt hen the foundation behi nd those all systens.

The devel oper has been responsible and
transparent throughout the process, which shows us they
intend to build this project safely in the right way with
a skilled, trained workforce with qualified | ocal
wor ker s.

And those workers range from anywhere from
veterans |ike nyself, foster kids, high school graduates,
husband, w ves, nothers, fathers. They're real people.
And we have to follow that work. So on behalf of LIUNA
Local 1184, | respectfully ask for your support on
Proj ect Baccara. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Up next, Noelle
Boot hby.

M5. BOOTHBY: Good evening. Noel Boot hby,
spelled B-0-0-t-h-b-y.

|"'man Arizona native and in ny 48 years
|'ve seen orange groves becone malls, |'ve seen desert
| ands becone restaurants, and |'ve see farnm ands turn
into industrial centers. | amnot against progress.
am however, against this project as a community nenber
with a hone one mle away, as a nom and as a person that
has coached soccer in this community for 10 years.

| have mmj or concerns with the project that
Is located wthin wal king di stance of hones, sports
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fields, schools, comunity parks, and Luke Air Force
Base.

My main concern is the pollution this wll
generate. They claimit will generate 288 tons per year
of a conbination of nitrogen oxide, carbon nonoxide,
vol atil e organi c conpounds, sulfur oxides, particulate
matter and hazardous air pollutants. That is 24 tons per
month within a fewmle radius of 18 children's sports
fields, over a dozen nei ghborhood pl aygrounds, and six
school s.

When | spoke to the personnel of the
project | asked if these figures were based on real life
data, and they said no, they were based on nmanufacturer's
cal cul ations of their equipnent.

These cal cul ations nost |ikely do not
account for wear and tear, loss of efficiency over tine
and real life scenarios. They spoke of installing air
scrubbers, which is proof of the pollution they know t hey
w |l cause, and with these scrubbers they still show data
of 288 tons being released into the air, less than a half
mle to honmes, parks, soccer fields that | coached at,
and many other things that the conmunity nenbers use.

The anount of tonnage of hazardous waste in
the air is unacceptable for our children, that are
al ready established, to be forced to breathe.
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The facility is also in the flight path of
Luke Air Force Base AC fighter jets. | have nmjor
concerns because Luke Air Force Base officials have
stated concerns. Luke Air Force Base personnel have
identified actual as well as potential risks including
light interference, electrical em ssions affecting radar
and communi cations, inpairnment of visibility, high
velocity of hot air plunes creating a visible turbul ence,
bird stri ke hazards due to cooling ponds and the risk of
havi ng an explosive facility within the envel ope of Luke
Air Force Base. These are all unacceptabl e, catastrophic
concerns which should stop the project.

Anot her concern which ot her people have
said is also the noise pollution on a site that will run
24/ 7 as well as our water concern. | understand that
these nega data centers are needed for the advancenent of
t echnol ogy.

| understand what the four gentlenen before
me stated regarding construction. | also own a
construction conmpany. The concern is not the jobs that
it wll create. It will definitely create jobs. The
concern is the location a half a mle away from
establ i shed conmunities.

"' masking that the officials please vote
no on this. |I'mrespectfully asking for the support of
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the Arizona Corporation Comm ssion to not allow big tech
profits to overtake and negatively inpact sports
prograns, schools, neighborhoods and children. Health
and safety should al ways win over big corporate profits
every tine.

Thank you for your consideration of
standing with our comunity and voting no.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Al right.

That concludes the list of people in the room who have
turned in slips to speak.

W'l now nove to those who are in the
waiting roomon Zoom

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairman, first we
have Horst Schm dt.

CHWN STAFFORD: M. Schm dt.

MR, SCHM DT: Good evening. Horst Schm dt,
Ho-r-s-t, S-c-h-ml-d-t. M key points | have agai nst
the finding of environnmental conpatibility of the
Takanock Project Baccara, one is the di mnishing water
resources in Arizona by the -- excuse ne for a nonent
her e.

Bot h t he net hane gas plant and the proposed
data centers will require |arge anounts of water in spite
of clains to the contrary. No -- not clear clains of
usi ng advanced technol ogy will nake the water problem
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| ess dangerous. So -- excuse ne. And their applications
of -- are they real or legally binding on water usage.

Secondl y, Maricopa County has been a
conti nuous nonattai nment area when it cones to air
quality. Wy would the County approve nore pollution
when we have 40 percent of our days annually wth high
pol | uti on war ni ngs.

And thirdly, are Takanock's all eged cl ai ns
of pollution controls on its nethane gas plant realistic
with 18 jet engines creating all of these em ssions? How
are new em ssions environnmentally conpatible in a
nonattai nment area?

Unless this is a new dictionary definition
of environnmental conpatibility approval, the nethane gas
plant will increase usage of our devastated water
resources, of our -- I'msorry -- decrease in water
resources while at the sane tine creating a new | evel of
pollution froma 700-negawatt gas pl ant.

| wll be submtting further coments in
witing. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairman, next is

Davi d Kraus.
CHW STAFFORD: M. Kraus.
MR. KRAUS: Yes. Kraus is K-r-a-u-s. Good
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evening, |I'ma honeowner in the Ranch Gabriela community
in Surprise and | along wth thousands of other residents
am concerned about the proposed Project Baccara.

There's a petition opposing this project
t hat has over 4500 signatures and counting in just three
nmont hs. No one wants this project near their honme. This
project would put two 1-mllion-square-foot data centers
and a 700- negawatt power plant within one mle of
hundreds of hones including mne and nmany ot her hones
much cl oser.

While | am supportive of new technol ogi es,
" m concerned about its |ocation adjacent to
wel | - est abl i shed and peaceful nei ghborhoods. No
devel oper woul d have built these wonderful nei ghborhoods
where they are today if this data center and power plant
exi sted on the proposed site 20 years ago. And zoni ng 20
years ago never envisioned what Takanock is proposing to
put on that site today.

Does any of the Takanock people live within
a mle of one of their projects? |'malso concerned
about the pollution comng fromthe 18 72-foot-tall snoke
stacks and the constant 24 hour added noise com ng from
the 18 gas-powered jet turbines.

Conparing it to the jet noise is not the
sane. The Air Force jet noise is not constant, 24/7, it
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iIs here and gone in seconds, and it is nothing |like the
noi se that would conme fromthis proposed facility.

Mari copa County al ready has sone of the
worst air quality in the country and burning fossil fuels
will only add to this pollution. [I'm concerned about
possi bl e future bl ackouts and brownouts that
representatives from Project Baccara spoke about at their
August 14 online public open house.

W' ve never had a bl ackout or brownout here
in the ten years that 1've lived here, and |I'm concerned
that this project will make them a regul ar occurrence.

No power for residents during hot sumers here woul d be
deadly for sone residents. And | repeat, it would be
deadly for sone residents.

In my research, everywhere these data
centers show up the residents get substantial electrical
rate increases but no benefits from paying nore. And
who's paying for the electrical substation and the
infrastructure for the gas pipeline? | hope it's not the
resi dents.

" m al so concerned about the water.

Proj ect Baccara representatives stated at their

Sept enmber 18 open house that they will use 180 acre feet
of water annually, which is nearly 59 mllion gallons, to
cool their 18 gas-fired turbines.
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And as stated earlier in the hearing, roses
and alfalfa that were grown there earlier before this
project used 4 to 6 mllion gallons of water.

Takanock has zero conpl eted projects at
this point. Everything they present about their project
I's based on sone other simlar power plant or simlar
data center. But their own up-and-running facility does
not exi st.

Much of their data is not hard data, but
estimates and m ghts and coul ds and shoulds. And their
data is constantly changing over tine. So how accurate
is it? This project would not directly benefit the
residents of this area, but yet the residents would be
subject to all the negative effects it would bring,
including but not limted to | ower property val ues,
noi se, em ssions, heat, nighttime [ighting pollution,
hi gher utility rates and possible water restrictions and
el ectric outages.

Everyone needs to understand that this is a
desert that already has water issues. This project is
unacceptable on all fronts. This project bel ongs nowhere
near any residential area, period. Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairman, next is Bil
Rui z.

CHW STAFFORD: M. Rui z.

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ

213



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025

MR. RU Z: Good evening, Chair and nenbers
of the commttee. M nane is Bill Ruiz, and I"m proud to
represent the Western States Carpenters. |'mhere in
support of Project Baccara because this project reflects
exactly what responsible growth in Arizona should | ook
i ke, nodern infrastructure built safely, built
professionally, and built by skilled and | ocal workers.

For carpenters like ne, this project neans
nore than just jobs on paper. It nmeans steady hours,
reliable wages, and the ability of our nmenbers to stay
here in Arizona, raise their famlies and continue their
careers w thout being forced to choose work outside of
our state.

It brings training opportunities for
apprentices and long-termstability to the | ocal
wor kf orce. But we al so understand the bigger picture
here. Arizona econony is expanding rapidly and the
demand for secure data and energy infrastructure is only
gr ow ng.

Proj ect Baccara provides the backbone that
supports hospitals, schools and snall busi nesses and
public safety systens across this region. This is the
kind of infrastructure devel opnent that we need, and it
keeps our state conpetitive and prepared for the future.

What gives us confidence is the devel oper's
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approach: transparent, engaged, and commtted to
building this project the right way. They' ve shown the
respect for the safety, quality, and the skilled workers
who will bring this project to life.

On behalf of the Western States Carpenters
| respectfully ask you to support Project Baccara. |It's
good for workers. |It's good for famlies. And it's good

for Arizona's long-termstrength. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairman, next is
Sandy Bahr.

CHW STAFFORD: Ms. Bahr.

M5. BAHR: Hello, good evening. M nane is
Sandy Bahr, B-a-h-r. Thank you for the opportunity to
comrent this evening, Chairman Stafford and committee
menbers. |'mthe director for Sierra Cub's Gand Canyon
chapter, which is the Arizona chapter.

Ari zona has been ny hone for nost of ny
life, and for nost of ny life I've worked for clean air,
cl ean water, and to address climate change.

Sierra Club urges the Arizona power pl ant
and transmi ssion line siting conmmttee to deny Baccara
Power's application for a certificate of environnental
conpatibility for the proposed Project Baccara for the
reasons outlined in the witten comments we've submtted
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on Novenber 21st. |'Il highlight just a few of those
here, however.

This 700-megawatt project woul d have
significant harnful environnental inpacts on the
surroundi ng area, including as you' ve heard air
pol l ution, noise, lighting and visual inpacts,

gr oundwat er consunption and ot hers.

Air pollution emtted fromthe project's 18

gas-fired generating units and four diesel backup
generators would worsen the area's poor air quality. Air

pol lution fromthe project would hurt people's health,

contributing to respiratory di seases and causing up to 16

and a half mllion dollars per year in increased health
care costs for Arizona residents.

The project would be | ocated near hundreds
of hones, as you've heard, in existing residential
nei ghbor hoods in the cities of Surprise, dendale, and
El Mrage, with over 100 homes within a mle of the
project's site, and over 600 hones within 1.5 m|es.

People living in these nei ghborhoods woul d
be harnmed by the project's environnmental inpacts. This
project is clearly environnentally inconpatible with the
proposed site. The applicant has not denonstrated the
need for this nmerchant gas-fired generating facility in
its application either.
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Cl ean, renewable alternatives to the
proj ect such as solar and w nd power are nuch | ess
envi ronnmental |y harnful and can be built at | ower cost
while neeting the need for power and battery storage can
play an inportant role in neeting capacity needs while
integrating renewables into the grid.

In order to mnimze environnental inpacts

to communities, Mricopa County's growing electricity

demands should be nmet with clean, renewabl e energy paired

with battery storage.

The applicant has al ways not denonstrated
that the project is in the public's interest. It would
agai n have significant environnmental inpacts and the
appl i cant has not denonstrated that this particular
gas-fired generating facility is needed to supply data
center demand or peaki ng power.

The project's extrenely expensive with a
projected cost of 937 mllion. That's pretty close to a
billion. It would construct gas-fired units that would
remain in operation for decades, inpeding Arizona's
transition to | ower cost of clean energy sources.

For all of these reasons and additional
ones outlined in our witten coments we urge the

conmttee to deny a CEC for the project.

If you do go forward with the CEC, then you
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have to have binding conditions that will mtigate and
limt the inpact to the surrounding community. But we
encourage you to deny it. |It's clearly not conpati bl e.
Thank you.
CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chai rman, next is Anne

El vecr og.

CHW STAFFORD: Ms. Elvecrog, can you
pl ease spell your |ast nane for the court reporter.

MS. ELVECROG  Elvecrog, it is spelled
E-1-v like Victor, e-c-r-o-g. M first nanme is Anne,

A- n- n-e.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Pl ease proceed.

M5. ELVECROG O course. Thank you. I'm
speaki ng today on behal f of nyself and ny husband,
Jeffrey Spencer. W are residents in d endale near the
Westgate area. W are both strongly opposed to this gas
pl ant .

First, this facility poses real safety
risks. Gas plants and their associated pipelines carry
the potential for fires, explosions and incidences that
have severe consequences for nearby hones, schools, and
busi nesses. Building a subject facility close to a
resi dential nei ghborhood area and Luke Air Force Base is
sinmply irresponsi bl e.

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ

218



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025

Second, the health inpacts are well
established. Em ssions fromgas plants can worsen asthma
and other respiratory conditions, especially for children
and seniors. The project is not conpatible with our
nei ghbor hood. Added noise, lighting and truck traffic
woul d erode safety and character of the area.

W are -- for these reasons ny husband
Jeffrey Spencer and | urge the board to reject this
proposal . Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairman, next is
Franklin Pacifist.

MR, PACI FI ST: Good evening. Franklin
Pacifist, P-a-c-I-f-I-s-t. | was born -- oh, ny
apol ogi es.

CHWN STAFFORD: Onh, please proceed.

MR. PACI FI ST: Thank you. | was born and
rai sed on the west of Phoenix for the |last 37 years. And
| hope to die here one day. And the fact that | have to
cone to a neeting that, for all intents and purposes, has
been proven with other data centers to be a nassive
detrinent to the surrounding residents is such a silly
i dea here.

We al ready know that these data centers
cause nothing but pollution and contam nation to the

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ

219



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025

wat er supply, and for the fact that this place holds --
Wil run primarily on, 100 percent on groundwater is
m nd- boggling, for the fact that we in the desert are
al ready dealing with such a nmassive water supply issue
that we still do not know how to actually resolve.

It's m nd-boggling that this is even being
t hought of to even go through. And the fact that these
peopl e haven't even clarified on howto deal with the
water circulation -- recirclization issue other than the
fact that they prom se that they will [ook for ways to
deal with it. For ne, it doesn't sound |like a very
proper business idea to even allow this.

And do we really want this issue to grow
into a Flint, Mchigan, problenf? Were it's an
enbarrassnment and it's part of our history that this

conpany has cone and just conpletely destroyed us and

our -- and our air quality which is already terrible with

all the cars that have conme here.

| nstead of actually getting farns that
| ocally produce, you know, good clean food and cl ean our
air, instead we get this. [|'mnot one -- you know,
agai nst, you know, progress, by all neans, we need
progress. But really, we should have had sonething |ike
sone sort of salt water filtration system or sonething of
that sort, that would better have supported, you know,
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the whole entire community.

We need fresh water. We need nore water
here in the burning sands. |It's just this data center is
primarily just a noney grab, it's just being put there so
that it can collect all of our information and be used
agai nst us.

It's not for us. And the fact that | see
all these unions cone and try to say that it will benefit
us, it won't benefit your children or grandchil dren when
they are inflicted with, you know, rare cancers or birth
abortions fromthe chemcals that will sonmehow very nuch
get leeched into the groundwater. |'mvery nuch agai nst
this proposal.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

MR. PACI FI ST: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: Chairman, next is Hillary

Vebber .
CHW STAFFORD: Ms. Webber.
M5. WEBBER: Hello. Good eveni ng,
Conm ssioners. | cane prepared to share an abundance of

facts and evidence and reliable peer-reviewed studies
about all of the negative inpacts that this project wll
have on ny conmunity, and about how Arizona is actually
one of the worst states for Al data centers due to its
extrenme heat, |ack of water, inadequate renewabl e power
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grid, and |l ow humdity.

However, | suspect that you already are
famliar with all of those facts. | suspect that you
al ready know how damaging it will be for us and perhaps

you sinply don't care. Maybe you are reasoning that it's
not really your problem because Surprise isn't your hone
or this won't affect you or anyone you care about. So
instead, | wanted to present you with information that
you m ght not al ready know.

There is a | arge body of supporting
evidence that correlates extrene wealth and nent al
i1l ness, specifically wealth and resource hoarding is on
t he spectrum of hoardi ng di sorder.

Weal th hoarding significantly reduces
conpassi on, reason, logic and brain function. Walth and
resource hoarders are egotistical, psychopathic, divorced
fromreality and living in psychosis.

The weal th hoarders behi nd Project Baccara
and every other data center/power plant that are trying
to barge through our door and greedily steal our
resources, like some kind of giant nechani cal
Di sneyl and-si zed parasites, actually don't care about us
at all. They do not live in reality.

They have nonsensical visions of |uxury
bunkers and Mars colonies while the rest of us struggle
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to survive on a progressively unlivabl e planet.

Forget the imge of starving polar bears
t housands of mles away. W will suffer the consequences
of emi ssions here in our state at our doors. The nost
i nsidious part of this delusional reality is that they
want to fool you into thinking that you are or could be
one of them That you m ght make a quick buck fromthis
project in the short-termwhen in reality, Conm ssioners,
you are one of us.

In our state, here, we live on the sane
planet. W are all at risk. W are all breathe the sane
air pollution that is trapped under our shared
at nosphere. W are all getting skin cancer fromthe sanme
sun. W drink the sanme poisoned water, we all have
famlies and children and | oved ones and we all deserve
to thrive.

W are all harmed by the carel essness and
greed of insatiable corporations. The technol ogy
proposed i s outdated, dangerous and unreliable. It won't
decar boni ze or upgrade our power grid in any way.

Progress is only true progress if it is
al so sustainable and environnental |y beneficial. W al
know that this project does not fulfill those
requi renments.

You have the power to nmake a real, tangible
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difference in protecting our God-given rights to a safe
environnent. Pl ease have the noral strength and show
conpassi on and act ethically. Please resist the
tenptation to becone cartoon villains and be known as

| eaders who actually care about and protect our wonderful
desert honme. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairman, next is
DeVona McKi nney.

CHW STAFFORD: Ms. McKinney, state your
nanme and spell your | ast name for the record, please.

M5. MCKINNEY: Sorry, | had a little issue
getting off nute. M nane is DeVona MKinney, ny nane is
spelled D-e-v-0-n-a, last nane is Mc-K-1-n-n-e-y.

And | just want to say good evening to the
board and all ny fellow neighbors that were so wonderf ul
to get up and speak on ny behalf. | wasn't able to be
there toni ght.

And | just want to stand with ny fellow
nei ghbors and 4,000 other famlies that live in Copper
Canyon. | purchased ny hone years ago and was bl essed to
pursue the American dream | actually paid it off today,
whi ch was sonething that was quite anmazing. And
sonething I know that everybody wants to do when they see
a beautiful neighborhood Iike the one | have. A lot of
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peopl e spoke about facts. 1'd just like to speak a
littl e about feelings.

| want to express kind of what | said for
people that aren't famliar with our beautiful Surprise.
When | drive down Peoria Road com ng hone, | see a
beautiful field with animals init. | see a beautiful
Christmas cel ebration going on fromny fell ow nei ghbors
that draws people fromall over the valley. The
Christmas lights, | see ny church, Christ Church of the
Vall ey, with children out there any given ni ght playing
soccer and enjoying being outside in the good weat her.

And | just want to ask you to visualize
that and what it's going to be |Iike when we have this
huge stack that's just blowing pollution, instilling our
wat er in our beautiful county of Surprise, and al so that
if you would consider for people |like ne who just want to
buy a honme, retire in a hone and chase that dream what
this is going to do to our hone val ues as who woul d want

to live next to this nonstrosity that's being proposed.

Thank you.
CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.
AV TEAM MEMBER. M. Chairman, next is Mark
Car denas.
CHW STAFFORD: M. Cardenas.
MR. CARDENAS:. Good evening, conmmttee
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menbers. Thank you for the opportunity. | should spel
my nanme first off.

CHW STAFFORD: Yes, please.

MR. CARDENAS: Ma-r-k, CGa-r-d-e-n-a-s.
Thank you for the opportunity to speak this evening. [|I'm
here in support of Project Baccara because it represents
responsi bl e, forward-|ooking infrastructure that benefits
the northwest valley and the broader region. W do know
the west valley is growing rapidly, famlies are noving
in, enployers are expanding and our energy needs continue
to rise. Project Baccara hel ps neet that demand by
pairing a state-of-the-art data center canpus wth
nodern, efficient power infrastructure built to the
standards that this commttee expects.

Also | keep hearing this over and over
again, so | want to address the concern that you've been
heari ng tonight, which is water use. The technol ogy for
data centers has actually evolved. That was one or two
years ago. These data centers are air cool ed and not
water cooled. So they only use a fraction of the water
that -- so that focus is a little bit outdated and it's
only associated with older facilities.

This project strengthens our grid and our
econony w thout putting pressure on the nobst precious
resource, which is water. And finally, it brings

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting.com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 253 VOLUME | 12/01/2025
opportunity. Many skilled tradesnmen and wonen in the
nort hwest valley drive |long distances to the east valley
for work.

Proj ect Baccara brings high-quality
construction jobs and |long-term positions right here
cl oser to hone. This project is safe, responsible and
essential for this region's continued growth. |
respectfully ask for your support. Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairman, next is
Yvonne Val enzuel a.

CHW STAFFORD: Ms. Val enzuel a.

MS. VALENZUELA: Ckay. Just trying to get
nmyself off -- off the video. Sorry. There -- oops --
okay, no doesn't want to, | guess | just get the audio.
There we go.

Good afternoon, Comm ssioners. Thank you
for giving this opportunity to talk this evening. | ama

resi dent of Surprise, long-termresident of Surprise, and
|'"ve seen the growth over here, and | feel that this
Baccara project is going to directly affect our

comruni ty, Surprise, because we are right adjacent and

right next to it.

| oppose it. | am not against technol ogy,
Al technology. | know the inportance of it, how we al
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use it every day and it's needed across the board in
order to nmake what M. Ken Davis said we need to be ahead
of the Chinese. |'mnot against any of that.

But here in the City of Surprise, right
next to it in this populated area, | totally oppose it.

Why? Because we have -- this is the
desert. And water is a very inportant commodity here.
They're going to build a well and it's going to, you know
what? Wells fall into cisterns and it's going to affect
the water, | nean, tap into our water systemand it's
just sonething I don't want to see here in Surprise
because we have great water in our water wells.

Anot her thing that |'mreally opposed is 18
turbines. 18 turbines, 16 that will be operating 24/7,
two on reserves. \Wat is that noise going to sound |ike?
| did go to the neetings and all their data studies is
dependent on consul tant and probably conputer generated.
There were no i ndependent studies on this. | couldn't
find any type of independent studies on this.

Anot her thing is the particulate, the
pol lution, I mean what does propane -- | nean,
unfortunately I didn't get to do ny full conprehensive
study because of tinme, but what is propane and natural
gas, what are the particulates of nitrogen flow ng out,
yes, we do have the catalytic converters, but, | nean,
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who's going to be nonitoring their catalytic converters,
maki ng sure that they're efficient and not the pollution
that's com ng out?

| mean -- and another thing that |I'mvery
concerned is about the welfare, health issue of our
community. At the end of the day it's going to be us,
the residents, who are going to have to deal with any

type of health issues, not to nention our property

val ues.

| nmean, howis this going to affect ny
property value here? | nean, who wants to really live so
close to a data center? | nean, | did go on YouTube to

get sone information, but fromwhat |I'mhearing, it
destroys communiti es.

It destroys the property value. So |I'm
going to once agai n ask you and plead with you, please
oppose this being so close to the Gty of Surprise. Like
| said, I'"'mnot against it, but things |like this, and
since this is the first prototype of this type of
dat abase in conparison to the other databases that are
close by, | think this needs to be sonewhere where it's
not so close to the community, somewhere further out.

|"mquite sure if M. Ken Davies | ooked
around, there would be other places to pick for his first
prototype, |like other -- other residents said, that this
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is his first time around, and I"'mjust a little concerned
about this. So once again |I'm pl eadi ng, please say no.
Thank you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. Could you spel
your last name for the court reporter, please.

M5. VALENZUELA: Sure. V-a-l-e-n-z as in
zebra, u-e-l-a.

CHW STAFFORD: W' ve been going for al nost
90 m nutes. Does the court reporter need a break? Al
right. How many nore people do we have left on Zoomto
speak?

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairnman, we have two
nore who have indicated that they wish to speak

CHW STAFFORD: kay. And we have one nore
in the room Let's take a five to 10-m nute recess and
we'll come back and finish the people online, and we have
one nore person in the roomto speak. Thank you. W
stand in recess.

(Recess from6:57 p.m to 7:03 p.m)

CHW STAFFORD: Let's go back on the
record.

AV TEAM MEMBER. M. Chairman, next we have
M chell e Marti nez- Mat hi son.

CHW STAFFORD: All right.
Ms. Martinez-Mathi son, please spell your |ast nane for
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the court reporter.

You're on nute. W can't hear you.

M5. MATHI SON:  Good eveni ng. Good eveni ng.
Let's just go ahead and go with Mathison,
Ma-t-h-1-s-o0-n.

And first of all | want to thank you,

Chai rman and Staff nenbers, for giving nme this
opportunity to speak with you.

l"'m-- I"mnot going to -- | don't have
much of a script to go with you -- to go over with you.
| do apol ogi ze, sonething's interrupting. Can you see ne
her e?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, we can see you.

M5. MATHI SON: | don't know what happened
tomy little notes, but give ne a second. At any rate,
my name is Mchelle Mathison, I'man Arizona native,
busi ness owner. | cone froma proud construction
busi ness famly, and I'malso a |ocal Realtor.

| would like to state first of all ny
support for all of the concerns regarding the health,
safety, pollutants, both air and Iight that have been
addressed, and | do definitely agree with those. And I
al so support the union nenbers who are absol utely | ooking
for stable, |ong-term enpl oynent.

Wth that being said, I'"'mnot going to
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spend a lot of tinme on those matters, but | would rather
like to give sone insight with regards to property
val ues.

17 years ago, | nade a choice to nove from
md-city Phoenix to the west valley of the beautiful area
of Surprise to raise ny famly, and |I've been fortunate
enough to be in ny hone for 17 years.

And you've heard all the stories, we get to
see the cotton fields and the rose fields. But | also
knew t hat Surprise was going to be an area that would
eventual | y see massive housing grow h, massive comrerci al
growth. And | knew that Luke Air Force Base was here. |
made that choice. | made a choice to |ive near Luke Air
Force Base and | wel cone the jet noise.

But had I known that there would be a data
center wwthin a mle of ny honme, and | live on the border
of Surprise and Waddell, | have a nice two-story hone
that can oversee all that light pollution com ng al ready
t hrough nmy wi ndow, but had I known a data center would
have been here | woul d have never nade that choi ce.

So what | did was | started polling ny

sphere, all the people |I've sold honmes to, |'ve been a
Real tor for 14 years. |'ve hel ped many peopl e buy and
sell in and out of the Surprise area. |'ve not had one

person cone back to ne and say that they would choose to
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live here next to a data center

As a matter of fact, ny phone is
constantly -- I'mconstantly getting calls, I'mgoing to
say at least two or three a week at the nonment, asking ne
what | anticipate property values to do and if we can
sell. And the other concern is do we have to now
di sclose this? There's a formthat sellers have to fil
out that says do you live within the vicinity of.

The general feedback is people don't want
to choose to live here. [If you want to choose to |ive
here, | do believe that the current homeowners, because
there's a lot of resale in the area that this project is
due to be built, a lot of these honmeowners are going to
have to definitely cut into that investnent that we
wor ked so hard.

My support is absolutely for job growt h.
But definitely not in the Surprise area. | believe that
our property values would be significantly inpacted and
not in a positive way. | urge you to reconsider and
t hank you very nmuch for your tine.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.

AV TEAM MEMBER. M. Chairman, next and
| ast so far fromonline viewers is Thonas Busby.

CHW STAFFORD: M. Busby.

MR. BUSBY: (Good evening, board. | just
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have one question with regard to if --
CHW STAFFORD: Can you pl ease spell your
| ast nane for the court reporter.
MR. BUSBY: Yes, sir. It's B-u-s-b-y.
CHW STAFFORD: Thank you.
MR, BUSBY: So what | want to posit to the
board and to all the union workers and everyone who
thinks this is a great idea: Wy are we having this

di scussion in this | ocation?

"' m not against Al, |I'mnot against
t echnol ogi cal developnent, I'mall for all of that. What
I have to question here, and I'mnot going to -- |I'm not

going to reiterate all the points and the scientific data
and stuff that's been brought up in the past, or just a
second ago, but what | do want to address if this is such
a great idea, and the union workers are so hyped about
this, and everybody's on board and it's so lucrative,
which is the issue wwth going 20 m | es outside of any
town or any residential area and building your data
center there?

It seens very obvious to ne that the only
reason you woul d choose this location is to capitalize as
a conpany on the existing infrastructure that's al ready
in place to mnimze the cost of devel opnent.

Because, again, |'m not agai nst any of
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this, but go outside of the town. You should have zero,
there's hundreds if not thousands of square mles of
desert that you could build all of this, and I'm sure the
uni on workers wouldn't mind if they had to drive an extra
15 mles, 20 mles outside of Surprise or outside of Sun
Cty or any other location to go to these extrenely
so-called lucrative jobs that this alleged data center is
goi ng to provide.

So ny question is this: Wy are we having
this discussion, if not to save a conpany noney to
put a -- to put this in a location that already
capitalizes on infrastructure that's already built?

Because if it's so lucrative you should
just build the infrastructure outside of town. And the
expense is going to be at the residential people such as
nysel f, such as ny wife, such as all the other people
t hat have spoken here today. W are going to be the ones
that pay the expense, just to save a conpany noney.

Again, |I'mnot necessarily putting a data
center in here. Go ahead and do it. But again -- but
again, go 20 mles outside of the city, there's literally
hundreds, hundreds if not thousands of square mles of
desert land. That's all you have to do.

So why are we having this di scussion? And
so for the board nenbers | would -- | would -- that's the
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guestion that | posit to you. Wy are we having this
di scussion on this location? It nakes zero sense.

So again, thank you for the tinme. Thank
you for allow ng me an audience. | appreciate it, but
pl ease vote no because this is obviously just to save a
conpany noney and for building. That's it. So thank
you.

CHW STAFFORD: Thank you. In the roomwe
have a M. Selwn Justice.

MR. JUSTICE: Good evening, and unlike
Sarah, it's Justice, J-u-s-t-l-c-e, like "liberty and,"”
that's not ny joke, that's ny dad's, but I"mhere as a
representative of Electric District 7, who will be
responsi bl e for supplying power at this interchange.

And there have been sone questions about
what is the inpact of this on the infrastructure. W
have | ooked at other use cases where data centers are
installed, and as a result of offsetting the cost of the
infrastructure for those conpanies we've seen rates
i ncrease and people who | think was nentioned before
aren't really receiving any benefit or footing the bill.

In this particular case the opposite is
true. As a result of this generation project we'll
actually be able to see our rates decrease by, you know,
1 to, you know, 2 cents, which doesn't sound |like a |ot,
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but when you factor that into the existing whol esal e cost
of power going to the City of Surprise and to the cities
of El Mrage, as our nunicipal consunmers that's 12 and a
hal f to 25 percent reduction in cost.

Now, | can't say that the city is
necessarily going to pass that savings on to the
consuner, but those are a whol esal e benefit that the
cities wll be receiving as a result of this generation.

In addition to this, because the district
has a special relationship when it conmes to power and
wheel i ng, we would be able to nove a lot nore quickly in
del i veri ng power through the existing infrastructure to a
project like this in a way that APS wouldn't be able to.

And, again, because of that and because of
the nature of this project and the fact that we're
servicing it, we'd actually be able to save noney as
opposed to having it pass through cost to other
cust oners.

And the other -- the other situation is for
us, we look at this as an opportunity to bring power in
fromother sources for the vast majority of the day and
deliver it, clean energy portfolio delivery into this
pl ant, and we're seeing generation happen there for a
coupl e hours to conpensate for peak. So in ny capacity
as a nenber of the district, that's essentially ny
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statenent on that.

However, as a person that owns the property
adj acent, well, | shouldn't say that, | own .2537 percent
of that property, but a person that is responsible for --
responsi ble party for ny famly's ownership of that
property that is directly adjacent to this plant, | have
to admt there's a |lot of bravery in com ng up here and
tal ki ng about this stuff.

These are people that | know that interact,
t hey spoke about nmy trees and ny cattle, ny dog is a
regul ar trespasser at nost of their hones, as was one of
my peahens for quite sonme tine.

| have a | ot of respect for these people,
and it took a lot of conviction, there were shaki ng hands
up over here and shaking voices while they were speaking,
and | appreciate those concerns.

However nmy famly's been where we are since
1928, we've been in Arizona since 1885. And we have a
pretty good understanding of what the cost is down the
road, not only in terns of devel opnent and progress but
just as a result of living in that area.

Everyone here lives on what was farnl and
before it gets devel oped into sonething eventually, and
at the sanme tinme that the Mortensens were building their
house, Coast Grain was noving forward with a project to
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build an ethanol plant, grain ethanol plant exactly where
Baccara is talking -- where the Baccara project is going
to be.

So that industrial corridor and that
devel opnent was em nent and has been for quite sone tine.
Coast Grain went bankrupt when the market coll apsed, but
it has taken sone tine to have sonet hing replace that,
but it's going to be this. And if we stop this project
it will be something else that can have even worse
I npacts, that won't provide any benefit.

And as a result of that | stand, you know,
on the side of the project, just do it. Just do it. But
| hope ny neighbors don't hold that against nme personally
and | have a lot of respect for themfor comng up here
and speaking their piece as well. So, thank you very
much for your tine.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you. That concl udes
all the people in the roomwho have filled out a formfor
public comment. Are there any nore online?

AV TEAM MEMBER: M. Chairnman, no one el se

has indicated that they wish to speak fromthe online

Vi ewers.
CHW STAFFORD: All right. Thank you.
Wth that, we wll recess the hearing until nine a.m
tonorrow, in which case we'll neet back here. Go on the
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record, briefly discuss the tour

before we get on the bus

and take the tour. So with that we stand in recess.

(Proceedings recessed at 7:15 p.m)
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STATE OF ARI ZONA )
)
COUNTY OF MARI COPA )

BE IT KNOMWN that the foregoi ng proceedi ngs were
taken before ne; that the foregoing pages are a full,
true, and accurate record of the proceedings, all done to
the best of ny skill and ability; that the proceedi ngs
were taken down by nme in shorthand and thereafter reduced
to print under ny direction.

| CERTIFY that | amin no way related to any of the
parties hereto nor am| in any way interested in the
out cone her eof.

| CERTIFY that | have conplied with the ethical
obligations set forth in ACIA 7-206(F)(3) and
ACJA 7-206(J)(1)(9) (1) and (2).

Dat ed at Phoeni x, Arizona, Decenber 9, 2025.

JENNI FER HONN, RPR

Arizona Certified Reporter
No. 50885

| CERTIFY that GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC, has
conplied with the ethical obligations set forth in
ACIA 7-206(J)(1)( =~ T

e s

GLENNI E REPCORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC
Ari zona Registered Firm
No. R1035
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